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ZSCALER, INC.
Dear Stockholder:

| am pleased to invite you to attend the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”)
of Zscaler, Inc. (“Zscaler” or the “Company”), to be held on Friday, January 10, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. Pacific
Time. TheAnnua Meeting will be conducted virtually vialive webcast. You will be able to vote and submit
your questions during the meeting by visiting www.virtual sharehol dermeeting.com/ZS2019 (please have your
notice or proxy card in hand when you visit the website).

The attached Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement contain details of the
business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting.

Whether or not you attend the virtual Annual Meeting, it isimportant that your shares be represented
and voted at the meeting. Therefore, | urge you to promptly vote and submit your proxy viathe Internet, by
phone or by mail.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express our appreciation for your support of and
interest in Zscaler.

Sincerely,

Jay Chaudhry
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board






ZSCALER, INC.
110 Rose Orchard Way
San Jose, California 95134
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Time and Date January 10, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time

Place The Annual Meeting will be acompletely virtual meeting of stockholders, to be
conducted via live audio webcast. You will be able to attend the virtual Annual
Meeting and submit your questions during the meeting by visiting
www.virtual sharehol dermeeting.com/ZS2019.

Items of Business » To elect three Class |1 directors from the nominees described in this Proxy
Statement to hold office until the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders or until
their successors are elected and qualified, subject to their earlier death,
resignation or removal.

» Toratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending July 31, 2020.

» To approve, on anon-hinding advisory basis, the frequency of future
stockholder advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive
officers.

Record Date November 15, 2019 (the “ Record Date”). Only stockholders of record at the close of
business on the Record Date are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the
Annual Mesting.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Whether or not you plan to attend the virtual Annual Meeting, we
urge you to submit your vote via the Internet, telephone or mail as soon as possible to ensure your
shares are represented. For additional instructions for each of these voting options, please refer to the
proxy card. Returning the proxy does not deprive you of your right to attend the virtual Annual
Meeting and to vote your shares at the virtual Annual Meeting. The Proxy Statement explains proxy
voting and the matters to be voted on in more detail.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Virtual Annual Meeting to be
Held on January 10, 2020. Our proxy materials, including the Proxy Statement and Annual Report to
Stockholders, are being made available on or about November 27, 2019 at the following website: http://
www.proxyvote.com, as well as on our website at http://ir.zscaler.com in the SEC Filings section of our
Investorswebpage. We are providing accessto our proxy materials over the Internet under the rules adopted
by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Robert Schlossman

Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
San Jose, CA

November 27, 2019

Your vote is important. To vote your shares, please follow the instructions in the Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials, which is being mailed to you on or about November 27, 20109.
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ZSCALER, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT
FOR 2019 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time on January 10, 2020

This proxy statement and form of proxy are furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by
our board of directors for use at our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”), and any
postponements, adjournments or continuations thereof. The Annua Meeting will be held on January 10, 2020
at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time, vialive audio webcast at www.virtual shareholdermeeting.com/ZS2019. The Notice
of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the “Notice”) containing instructions on how to access this proxy
statement and our annual report isfirst being mailed on or about November 27, 2019 to al stockholders entitled
to vote at the Annual Meeting. If you receive a Notice by mail, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy
materials in the mail unless you specifically request these materials.



QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Theinformation provided in the* question and answer” format bel ow addresses certain frequently asked
questions but is not intended to be a summary of all matters contained in this proxy statement. Please read the
entire proxy statement carefully before voting your shares.

Why am | receiving these materials?

Our board of directorsisproviding these proxy material stoyouin connectionwith our board of directors
solicitation of proxies for use at Zscaler’s virtual Annual Meeting, which will take place on January 10, 2020.
Stockholdersareinvitedto attend the virtual Annual M eeting and are requested to vote on the proposal s described
in this Proxy Statement.

All stockholderswill have the ability to accessthe proxy materialsviathe Internet, including this Proxy
Statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019 (the “ Annual Report”),
as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”") on September 18, 2019. The Notice
includes information on how to access the proxy materials, how to submit your vote over the Internet, by phone
or how to request apaper copy of the proxy materials. ThisProxy Statement and the Annual Report are available
at http://www.proxyvote.com.

What proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting?
There are three proposals scheduled to be voted on at the Annual Meeting:

« thee€lection of three Class |1 directors to hold office until the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders
or until their successors are elected and qualified;

« theratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered
public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending July 31, 2020;

e aproposal to approve, on anon-binding advisory basis, thefrequency of future stockhol der advisory
votes on the compensation of our named executive officers.

At the time this Proxy Statement was mailed, our management and board of directors were not aware
of any other mattersto be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those set forth in this Proxy Statement and
in the notice accompanying this Proxy Statement.

How does our board of directors recommend that | vote?
Our board of directors recommends that you vote:

* FOR the election of each of the three director nominees nominated by our board of directors and
named in this proxy statement as Class |1 directorsto serve for athree-year term;

* FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending July 31, 2020; and

« “ONE YEAR” as the preferred frequency for future advisory non-binding votes to approve the
compensation of our named executive officers.
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Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

Holders of our common stock at the close of business on November 15, 2019, the record date for the
Annual Meeting (the* Record Date”), areentitled to notice of and to voteat the Annual Meeting. Each stockhol der
is entitled to one vote for each share of our common stock held as of the Record Date. As of the Record Date,
therewere 127,939,822 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Stockholdersare not permitted
to cumulate votes with respect to the election of directors. The shares you are entitled to vote include shares
that are (1) held of record directly inyour nameand (2) held for you asthe beneficial owner through astockbroker,
bank or other nominee.

What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If, at the close of business on the Record Date,
your shares were registered directly in your name with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, our
transfer agent, then you are considered the stockhol der of record with respect to those shares. Asthe stockholder
of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to theindividuals listed on the proxy card or to
vote on your own behalf at the Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If, at the close
of business on the Record Date, your shareswere held, not in your name, but rather in astock brokerage account
or by a bank or other nominee on your behalf, then you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in
“street name.” Asthe beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee how to
vote your shares by following the voting instructions your broker, bank or other nominee provides. If you do
not provide your broker, bank or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares, your broker, bank
or other nominee may, in its discretion, vote your shares with respect to routine matters but may not vote your
shares with respect to any non-routine matters. For additional information, see“What if | do not specify how my
shares are to be voted?” below.

Do I have to do anything in advance if | plan to attend the Annual Meeting?

TheAnnual Meeting will beacompletely virtual audio meeting of stockholders, whichwill be conducted
via live audio webcast. You are entitled to participate in the annual meeting only if you were a holder of our
common stock as of the close of business on November 15, 2019 or if you hold a valid proxy for the Annual
Meeting.

You will be able to attend the virtual Annual Meeting and submit your questions during the Annual
Meeting by visiting www.virtual shareholdermeeting.com/ZS2019. You also will be able to vote your shares
electronically at the Annual Meeting.

To participate in the virtual Annual Meeting, you will need the control number included on your Notice
or proxy card. The live audio webcast will begin promptly at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time. We encourage you to
access the meeting prior to the start time. Online check-in will begin at 1:45 p.m. Pacific Time, and you should
allow ample time for the check-in procedures.

How can I get help if I have trouble checking in or listening to the meeting online?

If you encounter any difficulties accessing the virtual meeting during the check-in or meeting time,
please call the technical support number that will be posted on the Virtual Shareholder Meeting log-in page.



How do I vote and what are the voting deadlines?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you can
vote in one of the following ways:

You may vote viathe Internet. Tovoteviathelnternet, goto http://www.proxyvote.comto complete
an electronic proxy card. You will be asked to provide the control number from the proxy card you
receive. Your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on January 9, 2020 to be counted.
If you vote viathe Internet, you do not need to return a proxy card by mail.

You may vote by telephone. To vote by telephone, dia toll-free 1-800-690-6903 in the United
States and Canada or 1-800-454-8683 from countries outside the United States and Canada and
follow the recorded instructions. You will be asked to provide the control number from the proxy
card. Your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on January 9, 2020 to be counted. If
you vote by telephone, you do not need to return a proxy card by mail.

You may vote by mail. To vote by mail using the proxy card (if you requested paper copies of the
proxy materialsto be mailed to you), you need to complete, date and sign the proxy card and return
it promptly by mail in the envelopeto be provided so that it isreceived no later than January 9, 2020.
Thepersonsnamedintheproxy cardwill votethe sharesyou owninaccordancewithyour instructions
on the proxy card you mail. If you return the proxy card, but do not give any instructions on a
particular matter to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, the persons named in the proxy card will
vote the shares you own in accordance with the recommendations of our board of directors.

You may vote at the Annual Meeting. To vote at the meeting, following the instructions at
www.virtual sharehol dermeeting.com/ZS2019 (have your Notice or proxy card in hand when you
visit the website).

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you arethe
beneficial owner of sharesheld of record by abroker, bank or other nominee, you will receive voting instructions
from your broker, bank or other nominee. You must follow the voting instructions provided by your broker,
bank or other nominee in order to instruct your broker, bank or other nominee how to vote your shares. The
availability of Internet and telephone voting options will depend on the voting process of your broker, bank or
other nominee.

Can | change my vote or revoke my proxy?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you may
revokeyour proxy or changeyour proxy instructionsat any timebeforeyour proxy isvoted at the Annual Meeting

by:

entering a new vote by Internet or telephone;
signing and returning a new proxy card with alater date;

delivering a written revocation to our Secretary at Zscaler, Inc., 110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose,
Cdlifornia 95134, by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on January 9, 2020; or

following the instructions at www.virtual sharehol dermeeting.com/ZS2019.
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Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you arethe
beneficial owner of your shares, you must contact the broker, bank or other nominee holding your shares and
follow their instructions to change your vote or revoke your proxy.

What is the effect of giving a proxy?

Proxies are solicited by and on behalf of our board of directors. The persons named in the proxy have
been designated as proxy holders by our board of directors. When a proxy is properly dated, executed and
returned, the shares represented by the proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the
instructions of the stockholder. If no specific instructions are given; however, the shares will be voted in
accordance with the recommendations of our board of directors. If any matters not described in this proxy
statement are properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the proxy holders will use their own judgment to
determine how to vote your shares. |f the Annual Meeting is postponed or adjourned, the proxy holders can vote
your shares on the new meeting date, unless you have properly revoked your proxy, as described above.

What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record and you
submit a proxy but you do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be voted:

* FOR the election of each of the three directors nominated by our board of directors and named in
this proxy statement as Class |1 directors to serve for athree-year term (Proposa No. 1);

* FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending July 31, 2020 (Proposal No. 2);

* FOR“ONEYEAR” asthe preferred frequency for future advisory non-binding votesto approvethe
compensation of our named executive officers (Proposal No. 3); and

« inthe discretion of the named proxy holders regarding any other matters properly presented for a
vote at the Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are a
beneficial owner and you do not provide your broker, bank or other nominee that holds your shares with voting
instructions, then your broker, bank or other nominee will determine if it has discretion to vote on each matter.
Brokers do not have discretion to vote on non-routine matters. In the absence of timely directions, your broker
will have discretion to vote your shares on our sole “routing” matter: the proposal to ratify the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending
July 31, 2020. For additional information regarding broker non-votes, see “What are the effects of abstentions
and broker non-votes?” below.

What are the effects of abstentions and broker non-votes?

An abstention represents a stockholder’s affirmative choice to decline to vote on a proposal. If a
stockholder indicates on its proxy card that it wishes to abstain from voting its shares, or if a broker, bank or
other nominee holding its customers' shares of record causes abstentions to be recorded for shares, these shares
will be considered present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As aresult, abstentions will be counted
for purposes of determining the presence or absence of aquorum and will also count as votes against a proposal
in cases where approval of the proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present and
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entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting (e.g., Proposal No. 2). Abstentions will have no impact on the outcome
of Proposals No. 1 and No. 3 aslong as a quorum exists.

A broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner
does not vote on a particular proposal because the broker, bank or other nominee does not have discretionary
voting power with respect to such proposal and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner
of the shares. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of calculating whether a quorum is present at the
Annual Meeting but will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of votes cast. Therefore, a
broker non-vote will make a quorum more readily attainable but will not otherwise affect the outcome of the
vote on any proposal.

What is a quorum?

A quorum isthe minimum number of sharesrequired to be present at the Annual Meeting for the meeting
to be properly held under our bylaws and Delaware law. The presence (including by proxy) of amajority of all
issued and outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will constitute a
quorum at the Annual Meeting. Asnoted above, as of the Record Date, there were atotal of 127,939,822 shares
of common stock outstanding, which means that 63,969,912 shares of common stock must be represented at the
Annual Meeting to have aquorum. If thereisno quorum, amajority of the shares present at the Annual Meeting
may adjourn the meeting to alater date.

How many votes are needed for approval of each proposal?

e Proposa No. 1: Theelectionof Classl| directorsrequiresaplurality vote of the sharesof our common
stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to votethereon to be approved.
Plurality means that the three nominees who receive the most FOR votes will be elected. You may
(i) vote FOR al nominees, (ii) WITHHOLD your vote as to all nominees, or (iii) vote FOR al
nominees except for those specific nominees from whom you WITHHOLD your vote. Any shares
not voted FOR a particular nominee (whether as a result of voting withheld or a broker non-vote)
will not be counted in such nominee’s favor and will have no effect on the outcome of the election.
A vote withheld with respect to the election of any or all nhominees will be counted for purposes of
determining whether there is a quorum, but, with respect to any specific nominee, will not be
considered to have been voted for such nominee and will have no effect on the outcome.

e Proposa No. 2: The ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP requires an
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at
the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. You may vote FOR, AGAINST or
ABSTAIN. If you ABSTAIN from voting on Proposal No. 2, the abstention will have the same
effect as avote AGAINST the proposal.

e Proposa No. 3: The approval, on an advisory basis, of the frequency of future stockholder advisory
votes on the compensation of our named executive officers. The frequency receiving the highest
number of votes from holders of shares present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and
entitled to vote thereon will be considered the frequency preferred by the stockholders. You may
vote for the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation to be “ONE YEAR,”
“TWO YEARS,” or “THREE YEARS,” or you may “ABSTAIN” with respect to this proposal.
Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome. Because this proposal isan
advisory vote, the result will not be binding on our board of directors or our company. However,
our board of directorsvaluesstockholders' opinions, and our board of directorsand our compensation
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committee will consider the outcome of the vaote when determining how often we should submit to
stockholders an advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers.

How are proxies solicited for the Annual Meeting and who is paying for such solicitation?

Our board of directorsissoliciting proxiesfor useat the Annual M eeting by meansof theproxy materials.
We will bear the entire cost of proxy solicitation, including the preparation, assembly, printing, mailing and
distribution of the proxy materials. Copies of solicitation materialswill also be made available upon request to
brokers, banks and other nominees to forward to the beneficial owners of the shares held of record by such
brokers, banks or other nominees. The original solicitation of proxies may be supplemented by solicitation by
telephone, electronic communication, or other means by our directors, officers, employees or agents. No
additional compensationwill be paid to theseindividualsfor any such services, athough we may reimburse such
individuals for their reasonabl e out-of-pocket expensesin connection with such solicitation. We do not plan to
retain a proxy solicitor to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

If you choose to accessthe proxy materials and/or vote over the Internet, you are responsible for I nternet
access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges
you may incur.

What does it mean if | received more than one Notice?

If you receive morethan one Notice, your shares may beregistered in morethan onename or in different
accounts. Please follow the voting instructions on each Notice to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

Is my vote confidential?

Proxy instructions, ballots and voting tabulations that identify individual stockholders are handled in a
manner that protectsyour voting privacy. Your votewill not be disclosed either within Zscaler or to third parties,
except as necessary to meet applicable legal requirements, to allow for the tabulation of votes and certification
of the vote, or to facilitate a successful proxy solicitation.

I share an address with another stockholder, and we received only one paper copy of the proxy materials.
How may I obtain an additional copy of the proxy materials?

We have adopted an SEC-approved procedure called “householding.” Under this procedure, we will
deliver only one copy of our Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (and for those stockholders that
received a paper copy of proxy materias in the mail, one copy of our annual report to stockholders and this
proxy statement) to multiple stockhol derswho share the same address (if they appear to be members of the same
family), unlesswehavereceived contrary instructionsfroman affected stockhol der. Stockholderswho participate
in householding will continue to receive separate proxy cards if they received a paper copy of proxy materials
inthemail. Thisprocedurereducesour printing and mailing costs. Uponwritten or oral request, wewill promptly
deliver aseparate copy of the proxy materials and annual report to any stockholder at a shared addressto which
we delivered a single copy of any of these documents.



To receive a separate copy, or, if you are receiving multiple copies, to request that we only send asingle
copy of next year’s proxy materials and annual report, you may contact us as follows:

Zscdler, Inc.
Attention: Secretary
110 Rose Orchard Way
San Jose, California 95134
(408) 533-0288

Stockholders who hold shares in street name may contact their brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer or
other nominee to request information about householding.

How can | find out the results of the voting at the Annual Meeting?

Preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting. In addition, final voting results
will be published inacurrent report on Form 8-K that we expect to filewithin four business days after the Annual
Meeting. If fina voting results are not available to us at that time, we intend to file a Form 8-K to publish
preliminary results and, within four business days after the final results are known to us, file an amendment to
the Form 8-K to publish the final results.

What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at next year’s annual meeting of stockholders
or to nominate individuals to serve as directors?

Stockholder Proposals

Stockholders may present proper proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and for consideration
at the next annual meeting of stockholders by submitting their proposalsin writing to our Secretary in atimely
manner. For a stockholder proposal to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement for our fiscal 2020
annual meeting of stockholders, our Secretary must receivethewritten proposal at our principal executive offices
not later than July 30, 2020. In addition, stockholder proposals must comply with therequirementsof Rule 14a-8
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), regarding the inclusion of
stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to:

Zscdler, Inc.
Attention: Secretary
110 Rose Orchard Way
San Jose, California 95134
(408) 533-0288

Our bylaws al so establish an advance notice procedure for stockhol ders who wish to present a proposal
before an annual meeting of stockholders but do not intend for the proposal to beincluded in our proxy statement.
Our bylaws provide that the only business that may be conducted at an annual meeting is business that is
(i) specifiedin our proxy material swith respect to such meeting, (ii) otherwise properly brought beforetheannual
meeting by or at the direction of our board of directors, or (iii) properly brought before the annual meeting by a
stockholder of record entitled to vote at the annual meeting who has delivered timely written notice to our
Secretary, which notice must contain the information specified in our bylaws. To betimely for our fiscal 2020
annual meeting of stockholders, our Secretary must receive the written notice at our principal executive offices:

* not earlier than September 13, 2020; and
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« not later than October 13, 2020.

In the event that we hold our fiscal 2020 annual meeting of stockholders more than 30 days before or
more than 60 days after the first anniversary of the date of the Annual Meeting, then notice of a stockholder
proposal that is not intended to be included in our proxy statement must be received no earlier than the close of
business on the 120th day before the fiscal 2020 annual meeting and no later than the close of business on the
later of the following two dates:

e the 90th day prior to such annual meeting; or

« the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such annual meeting
isfirst made.

If astockholder who has notified us of his, her or itsintention to present a proposal at an annual meeting
does not appear to present his, her or its proposal at such annual meeting, we are not required to present the
proposal for avote at such annual meeting.

Nomination of Director Candidates

You may propose director candidates for consideration by our nominating and corporate governance
committee. Any such recommendations should include the nominee’s name and qualifications for membership
on our board of directors and should be directed to our Secretary at the address set forth above. For additional
information regarding stockholder recommendations for director candidates, see “Board of Directors and
Corporate Governance—Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to the Board of Directors.”

In addition, our bylaws permit stockholders to nhominate directors for election at an annual meeting of
stockholders. To nominate a director, the stockholder must provide the information required by our bylaws. In
addition, the stockholder must give timely notice to our Secretary in accordance with our bylaws, which, in
general, require that the notice be received by our Secretary within the time period described above under
“ Stockholder Proposals’ for stockholder proposals that are not intended to be included in a proxy statement.

Availability of Bylaws

A copy of our bylaws may be obtained by accessing our public filings on the SEC's website at
www.sec.gov. You may also contact our Secretary at our principal executive office for a copy of the relevant
bylaw provisions regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director
candidates.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our business affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors, which is currently
comprised of seven members. Five of our seven directors are independent within the meaning of the
independent director requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdag”). Our board of directorsis
divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of
directors will be elected for athree-year term to succeed the same class whose term is then expiring.

Upon the recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance committee, we are
nominating Andrew Brown, Scott Darling and David Schneider as Class |1 directors at the Annual Meeting. If
elected, Messrs. Brown, Darling and Schneider will each hold office for athree-year term until the 2022
annual meeting of stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualified. Neha Raj, who is currently
serving as one of our Class | directors, is not a nominee for election at the Annual Meeting, and histerm as a
director will end at the Annual Meeting. We thank Mr. Rgj for his many years of service to the Company and
our board of directors.

The following table sets forth the names, ages as of October 31, 2019 and certain other information
for each of the directors with terms expiring at the Annual Meeting (who are also nominees for election asa
director at the Annual Meeting), for the director nominee and for each of the continuing and non-continuing
directors:

Expiration of
Current Term For

Director Term Which
Name Class  Age Position Since Expires Nominated
Director Nominees
Andrew Brown (1)(2) I 56  Director 2015 2019 2022
Scott Darling (3) I 63 Director 2016 2019 2022
David Schneider I 51 Director — — 2022
Continuing Directors
Jay Chaudhry Il 61 President, Chief Executive 2007 2020 —
Officer and Chairman of the
Board
Amit Sinha, Ph.D. Il 43  President of Research and 2017 2020 —
Development, Operations
and Customer Service, Chief
Technology Officer and
Director
Karen Blasing (1)(2) I 63 Director 2017 2021 —
Charles Giancarlo (2)(3) I 61 Director 2016 2021 —
Non-Continuing Director
Nehal Rgj (1)(3) I 41 Director 2015 2019 —

(1) Member of our audit committee
(2) Member of our compensation committee
(3) Member of our nominating and corporate governance committee
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Nominees for Director

Andrew Brown has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2015. Mr. Brown
has served as chief executive officer of Sand Hill East LLC, a strategic management, investment and
marketing services firm, since February 2014. Since 2006, he has also been the chief executive officer and
co-owner of Biz Tectonics LLC, a privately held consulting company. From September 2010 to October
2013, Mr. Brown served as group chief technology officer of UBS Securities LLC, an investment bank.
From 2008 to 2010, he served as head of strategy, architecture and optimization at Bank of AmericaMerrill
Lynch, the corporate and investment banking division of Bank of America. From 2006 to 2008, Mr. Brown
served as chief technology officer of infrastructure at Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, an investment
bank. He currently sitson the board of directors of Guidewire Software, Inc., aprovider of software products
for property and casualty insurers, where he serves as a member of the compensation committee, and Pure
Storage, Inc., or Pure Storage, an enterprise level data storage company. Mr. Brown holds a B.S. (Honors)
inchemical physicsfrom University CollegeL ondon. Webelieve Mr. Brownisqualified to serveasamember
of our board of directors based on his extensive experience as chief technology officer of multiple Fortune
500 companies, as well as his service on the board of directors of other publicly held companies.

Scott Darling has served as amember of our board of directors since November 2016. Mr. Darling
has served as president of Dell Technologies Capital, the corporate devel opment and venture capital arm of
Dell Technologies Inc., since September 2016. Prior to joining Dell Technologies upon its acquisition of
EMC Corp., Mr. Darling was president of EMC Corporate Development and Ventures from March 2012 to
September 2016, and in such role he was responsible for EM C’s business development and venture capital
investment activity. Prior tojoining EMC, Mr. Darling was agenera partner at Frazier Technology Ventures
I1, L.P, which he joined in 2007, and was vice president and managing director at Intel Capital Corp., the
venture capital arm of Intel Corporation, from 2000 to 2007. Mr. Darling previously served on the board of
directorsof DocuSign Inc., aprovider of electronic signature technology and digital transaction management
services. Mr. Darling holds a B.A. in economics from the University of California at Santa Cruz and an
M.B.A. from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business. We believe Mr. Darling is qualified to
serve as a member of our board of directors based on his experience as a director of and as an investor in
multiple technology companies.

David Schneider has served as president, global customer operations of ServiceNow, Inc., acloud
computing company, since January 2019. He previously served as ServiceNow’s chief revenue officer from
June 2014 to January 2019 and as senior vice president of worldwide sales and services from June 2011 to
May 2014. From July 2009 to March 2011, Mr. Schneider served as senior vice president of worldwide sales
of the backup recovery systems division of EMC Corporation, a computer storage company acquired by
Dell TechnologiesInc. From January 2004 to July 2009, Mr. Schneider held senior positionsat DataDomain,
Inc., adataarchiving and deduplication company acquired by EMC, most recently as Senior Vice President
of Worldwide Sales. Mr. Schneider holdsaB.A. inpolitical sciencefromthe University of California, Irvine.
Mr. Schneider was selected to serve on our board of directors because of his knowledge and experience in
operations and management at various technology companies.

Continuing Directors

Jagtar S. (Jay) Chaudhry isour co-founder and has served as our president, chief executive officer
and as chairman of our board of directors since September 2007. Mr. Chaudhry holds an M.B.A. and an
M.S. in electrical engineering and industrial engineering from the University of Cincinnati and aB. Techin
electronics engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology (Banaras Hindu University) Varanasi. We
believe Mr. Chaudhry is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because he is a security
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industry pioneer and an accomplished entrepreneur, having founded and built several companies, and based
on the perspective, operational insight and expertise he has accumulated as our co-founder and our chief
executive officer.

Amit Sinha, Ph.D. has served as president of research and devel opment, operations and customer
service since July 2019, as our chief technology officer since December 2010 and as amember of our board
of directorssince May 2017. He previously served as our executive vice president of engineering and cloud
operations from October 2013 to July 2019. Dr. Sinhaholdsa Ph.D. and an M.S. in electrical engineering
and computer sciencefrom the Massachusetts | nstitute of Technology, and aB. Techinelectrical engineering
from the Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi. We believe Dr. Sinhais qualified to serve as a member of
our board of directorsbecause he has morethan 15 years of experience asan architect and technical manager
in the networking and security industries and because of the operational insight and expertise he has
accumul ated as our chief technology officer.

Karen Blasing has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2017. Ms. Blasing
served as the chief financial officer of Guidewire Software, Inc. from 2009 to March 2015. Prior to 2009,
Ms. Blasing served as the chief financial officer for ForcelO Networks, Inc. and asthe senior vice president
of finance for salesforce.com, and she also served as chief financial officer for Nuance Communications,
Inc. and Counterpane Internet Security, Inc. and held senior finance roles for Informix Corporation (now
IBM Informix) and Oracle Corporation. She currently servesasadirector of Autodesk, Inc., a multinational
software corporation, where she serves as a member of the audit committee, and previousy served as a
director of Ellie Mag, Inc. Ms. Blasing holds a B.A. in economics and business administration from the
University of MontanaandanM.B.A. fromtheUniversity of Washington. WebelieveMs. Blasingisqualified
to serve asamember of our board of directors based on her extensive financial leadership and management
experience at numerous SaaS and enterprise software companies.

Charles Giancarlo has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2016. Mr.
Giancarlo has served as chief executive officer of Pure Storage since August 2017. From January 2008 until
October 2015, Mr. Giancarlo was a managing director and then strategic advisor of Silver Lake Partners, a
private investment firm that focuses on technol ogy, technol ogy-enabled and rel ated growth industries. From
May 1993 to December 2007, Mr. Giancarlo served in numerous senior executive roles at Cisco Systems,
Inc., aprovider of communications and networking products and services, ultimately as the executive vice
president and chief devel opment officer from May 2004 to December 2007. Mr. Giancarlo currently serves
on the boards of directors of AristaNetworks, Inc., amanufacturer of networking products, where he serves
asamember of the compensation committee and the nominating and corporate governance committee, and
Pure Storage. He previously served on the boards of directors of Accenture plc, Avaya, Inc., Imperva, Inc.,
ServiceNow, Inc., Netflix, Inc. and Tintri, Inc. Mr. Giancarlo holds a B.S. in electrical engineering from
Brown University, an M.S. in electrical engineering from the University of California, Berkeley and an
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. We believe Mr. Giancarlo is qualified to serve as amember of our
board of directors based on his extensive business expertise, including his prior executive level leadership,
and his experience on the boards of publicly traded technology companies.

Non-Continuing Director

Nehal Raj has served as amember of our board of directors since July 2015. Mr. Rgj isaPartner at
TPG, aprivate investment firm based in San Francisco, where he leads investmentsin the technol ogy sector
for both TPG Capital and TPG Growth. Prior to joining TPG in 2006, he was an associate at Francisco
Partners. Mr. Rgj is currently adirector of several private companies. He previously served as a director of
Domo, Inc. and IMSHoldings, Inc. Mr. Rgj holdsaB.A. in economicsand an M.S. inindustrial engineering
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from Stanford University, where he was Phi Beta Kappa, and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School,
where hewas aBaker Scholar. We believe Mr. Rgj isqualified to serve asamember of our board of directors
based on his experience as a director of technology companies and his background in the private equity
industry, including his experience with investments in network technology, infrastructure SaaS and cyber-
security companies.

Director Independence

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdag Global Select Market. Under the rules of Nasdag,
independent directors must comprise a majority of alisted company’s board of directors within a specified
period after the completion of our initial public offering. 1naddition, therulesof Nasdaq requirethat, subject
to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation and nominating and
governance committees beindependent. Audit committee members and compensation committee members
must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 and Rule 10C-1, respectively, under the
Exchange Act. Under the rules of Nasdag, a director will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in
the opinion of that company’sboard of directors, that person does not have arel ationship that would interfere
with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of adirector.

To be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 and under the rules of Nasdag, amember
of an audit committee of alisted company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of our
audit committee, our board of directors, or any other board committee: (1) accept, directly or indirectly, any
consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be
an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

To be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10C-1 and under the rules of Nasdag, the board
of directors must affirmatively determine that the member of the compensation committee is independent,
including a consideration of all factors specifically relevant to determining whether the director has a
relationship to the company which is material to that director’s ability to be independent from management
in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, including, but not limited to: (i) the
source of compensation of such director, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee paid
by the company to such director; and (ii) whether such director is affiliated with the company, a subsidiary
of the company or an affiliate of a subsidiary of the company.

Our board of directorshasundertaken areview of itscomposition, the composition of itscommittees
and the independence of our directors and considered whether any director has a material relationship with
us that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his or her
responsibilities. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director or director nominee
concerning his background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our board of
directors has determined that none of (i) Ms. Blasing and Messrs. Brown, Darling, Giancarlo and Raj,
representing five of our seven directors, and Mr. Schneider, the director nominee, has a relationship that
would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director,
and (ii) that each of these directors or director nominee is “independent” as that term is defined under the
rules of Nasdag. Mr. Chaudhry and Dr. Sinha are not independent under Nasdag'sindependence standards.
Our board of directors also determined that Ms. Blasing (chair) and Messrs. Brown and Raj, who comprise
our audit committee, and Messrs. Brown (chair) and Giancarlo and Ms. Blasing, who comprise our
compensation committee, satisfy the independence standards for committee members established by
applicable SEC rules and the listing standards of Nasdaq.
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In making these determinations, our board of directors considered the current and prior rel ationships
that each non-employee director has with the Company and all other facts and circumstances our board of
directors deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our
capital stock by each non-employee director, and the transactions involving them described in the section
titled “ Related Person Transactions.”

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
Board Leadership Structure

Mr. Chaudhry currently serves as both chairman of our board of directors and our chief executive
officer. Our board of directors believes that the current board |eadership structure, coupled with a strong
emphasis on board independence, provides effective independent oversight of management while allowing
the board and management to benefit from Mr. Chaudhry’s leadership, Company-specific experience and
years of experience as an executive in the network security industry. Serving on our board of directors and
as chief executive officer since our founding in 2007, Mr. Chaudhry is best positioned to identify strategic
priorities, lead critical discussion and execute our strategy and business plans. Mr. Chaudhry possesses
detailed in-depth knowledge of the issues, opportunitiesand challengesfacing us. Independent directorsand
management sometimeshavedifferent perspectivesandrol esin strategy development. Theboard of directors
believes that Mr. Chaudhry’s combined role enables strong leadership, creates clear accountability and
enhances our ability to communicate our message and strategy clearly and consistently to stockhol ders.

Executive Sessions of Non-Employee Directors

In order to encourage and enhance communication among non-employee directors, and as required
under the applicable rules of Nasdag, our corporate governance guidelines provide that the non-employee
directorsof our board of directorswill meet in executive sessionswithout management directorsor Company
management present on a periodic basis, but no less than twice a year.

Board Meetings and Committees

During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019, our board of directors held five meetings (including
regularly scheduled and special meetings), and each director attended at |east 75% of the aggregate of (i) the
total number of meetings of our board of directors held during the period for which he or she served as a
director and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of our board of directors on which he
or she served during the periods that he or she served.

Although we do not have aformal policy regarding attendance by members of our board of directors
at annual meetings of stockholders, we encourage, but do not require, our directors to attend.

We have established an audit committee, acompensation committee and anominating and corporate
governance committee. We believe that the composition of these committees meet the criteria for
independence under, and the functioning of these committees comply with the requirementsof, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, the rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, and SEC rules and regulations. Weintend
to continue to comply with the requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market with respect to committee
composition of independent directors. Each committee has the composition and responsibilities described
below.
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Audit Committee

The members of our audit committee are Ms. Blasing and Messrs. Brown and Raj, each of whom
isanon-employeemember of our board of directors. Immediately following theAnnual Meeting, Mr. Darling
will become amember of the audit committeereplacing Mr. Raj. Ms. Blasing serves asthe chair of our audit
committee. All current members of our audit committee and Mr. Darling meet the requirements for
independence and financial literacy of audit committee members under current Nasdaq listing standards and
SEC rulesand regulations. Our audit committee chairperson, Ms. Blasing, is our audit committee financial
expert, asthat term is defined under the SEC rules implementing Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, and possesses financial sophistication, asdefined under Nasdag listing standards. Theresponsibilities
of our audit committee include, among other things:

e selecting and hiring our registered public accounting firm;
« evauating the performance and independence of our registered public accounting firm;

e approving the audit and pre-approving any non-audit servicesto be performed by our registered
public accounting firm;

* reviewingour financial statementsand related disclosuresand reviewing our critical accounting
policies and practices;

* reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal control policies and procedures and
our disclosure controls and procedures;

e overseeing procedures for the treatment of complaints on accounting, internal accounting
controls or audit matters;

« reviewing and discussing with management and the independent registered public accounting
firm the results of our annual audit, our quarterly financial statements and our publicly filed
reports;

* reviewing and approving in advance any proposed rel ated-person transactions; and
* preparing the audit committee report that the SEC will require in our annual proxy statement.

Our audit committee operatesunder awritten charter that satisfiestheapplicablerulesand regul ations
of the SEC and thelisting requirements of Nasdag. A copy of the charter of our audit committeeisavailable
on our website at http://ir.zscaler.com in the Governance section of our Investorswebpage. During thefiscal
year ended July 31, 2019, our audit committee held four meetings.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committeeis comprised of Ms. Blasing and Messrs. Brown and Giancarlo, each
of whomisanon-employeemember of our board of directors. Mr. Brownisthechairman of our compensation
committee. Our board of directors has determined that each member of our compensation committee meets
the reguirements for independence under the rules of Nasdag and the SEC and isa " non-empl oyee director”
within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the ExchangeAct. The compensation committeeisresponsiblefor,
among other things:
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* reviewing and approving our chief executive officer’s and other executive officers’ annual base
salaries, incentive compensation plans, including the specific goals and amounts, equity
compensation, employment agreements, severance arrangements and change in control
agreements and any other benefits, compensation or arrangements;

e administering our equity compensation plans;

e overseeing our overall compensation philosophy, compensation plans and benefits programs,
and

* preparing the compensation committee report that the SEC will require in our annual proxy
statement.

Our compensation committee operates under awritten charter that satisfies the listing standards of
Nasdag. A copy of the charter of our compensation committee is available on our website at http:/
ir.zscaler.com in the Governance section of our Investors webpage. During the fiscal year ended July 31,
2019, our compensation committee held five meetings.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance committee is comprised of Messrs. Darling, Giancarlo
and Rgj, each of whom is a hon-employee member of our board of directors. Contingent on his election at
the Annual Meeting, Mr. Schneider will become a member of the nominating and corporate governance
committee replacing Mr. Raj. Mr. Giancarlo is the chairman of our nominating and corporate governance
committee. Our board of directors has determined that al current members of our nominating and corporate
committee and Mr. Schneider meet the requirements for independence under the rules of Nasdag. The
nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for, among other things:

e evauating and making recommendations regarding the composition, organization and
governance of our board of directors and its committees;

« evaluating and making recommendations regarding the creation of additional committeesor the
change in mandate or dissolution of committees;

* reviewing and making recommendations with regard to our corporate governance guidelines
and compliance with laws and regulations; and

* reviewing and approving conflicts of interest of our directors and corporate officers, other than
related person transactions reviewed by the audit committee.

Our nominating and corporate governance committee operates under awritten charter that satisfies
thelisting standardsof Nasdag. A copy of the charter of our nominating and corporate governance committee
is available on our website at http://ir.zscaler.com in the Governance section of our Investors webpage.
During thefiscal year ended July 31, 2019, our nominating and corporate governance committee held three
meetings.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of our compensation committee is or has been an officer or employee of the
Company. None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of
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the compensation committee or director (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in
the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of any entity that has one or more executive
officers serving on our compensation committee or our board of directors.

Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees

It isthe policy of the nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directorsto
consider recommendations for candidates to our board of directors from stockholders holding no less than
one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock continuously for at least 12
months prior to the date of the submission of the recommendation or nomination.

The nominating and corporate governance committee will use the following procedures to identify
and evaluate any individual recommended or offered for nomination to our board of directors:

» The nominating and corporate governance committee will consider candidates recommended
by stockholdersinthe same manner as candidatesrecommended to the nominating and corporate
governance committee from other sources.

* Initsevauation of director candidates, including the members of our board of directorseligible
for re-election, the nominating and corporate governance committee will consider factors such

as

business expertise;

diversity, including differences in professional background, gender, race, ethnicity,
education, skill, and other individual qualities and attributes that contribute to the total mix
of viewpoints and experience represented on the board of directors;

past attendance at meetings, and participation in and contributions to the activities of our
board of directors; and

other factors that the nominating and corporate governance committee deems appropriate.

e The nominating and corporate governance committee requires the following minimum
qualifications to be satisfied by any nominee for a position on our board of directors:

the highest personal and professiona ethics and integrity;

proven achievement and competencein the nominee’ sfield and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

skills that are complementary to those of the existing board of directors;

the ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the
Company'’s success; and

an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilitiesthat is required of amember of our board

of directors and the commitment of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those
responsibilities.
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If the nominating and corporate governance committee determinesthat an additional or replacement
director is required, the nominating and corporate governance committee may take such measures that it
considersappropriatein connectionwithitseval uation of adirector candidate, including candidateinterviews,
inquiry of the person or persons making the recommendati on or nomination, engagement of an outside search
firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the knowledge of the members of the nominating and
corporate governance committee, our board directors or management.

The nominating and corporate governance committee may propose to our board of directors a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a stockholder as a nominee for election to our board
of directors. Inthefuture, the nominating and corporate governance committee may pay feesto third parties
to assist in identifying or evaluating director candidates.

Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to the Board of Directors

A stockholder that wants to recommend a candidate for election to our board of directors should
direct the recommendation in writing by letter to the Company, attention of the Secretary, at Zscaler, Inc.,
110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose, California 95134. The recommendation must include the candidate’'s
name, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data, relevant qualifications, a signed
letter from the candidate confirming willingness to serve, information regarding any relationships between
the candidate and the Company and evidence of the recommending stockholder’s ownership of Company
stock. Such recommendations must also include a statement from the recommending stockholder in support
of the candidate, particularly within the context of the criteria for board membership, including issues of
character, integrity, judgment, diversity of experience, independence, areaof expertise, corporate experience,
length of service, potential conflicts of interest, other commitments and the like and personal references.

A stockholder that instead desiresto nominate aperson directly for election to our board of directors
at an annua meeting of the stockholders must meet the deadlines and other requirements set forth in
Section 2.4 of the Company’s bylaws and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Section 2.4 of the Company’s bylaws requires that a stockholder who seeks to nominate a
candidate for director must provide awritten notice to the Secretary of the Company not later than the 45th
day nor earlier than the 75th day before the one-year anniversary of the date on which the corporation first
maileditsproxy materialsor anoticeof availability of proxy materials(whicheverisearlier) for the preceding
year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that no annual meeting was held in the previous
year or if the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days prior to or delayed by more than
60 days after the one-year anniversary of the date of the previous year’s annual meeting, then, for notice by
the stockholder to be timely, it must be so received by the secretary not earlier than the close of business on
the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (i) the 90th
day prior to such annual meeting, or (ii) the 10th day following the day on which Public Announcement (as
defined below) of the date of such annual meeting is first made. In no event shall any adjournment or
postponement of an annual meeting or the announcement thereof commence anew time period for thegiving
of astockholder’s notice. “Public Announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press rel ease reported by the
Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or acomparable national news service or in adocument publicly
filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act, or any successor thereto.

Communications with the Board of Directors

Our board of directors believesthat management speaksfor Zscaler, Inc. Individua board members
may, from time to time, communicate with various constituencies that are involved with the Company, but
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it is expected that board members would do this with knowledge of management and, in most instances,
only at the request of management.

In cases where stockhol ders and other interested parties wish to communicate directly with our non-
management directors, messages can be sent to our Secretary, at Zscaer, Inc., 110 Rose Orchard Way, San
Jose, California 95134. Our Secretary monitors these communications and will provide a summary of al
received messages to the board of directors at each regularly scheduled meeting of the board of directors.
Our board of directorsgenerally meets on aquarterly basis. Where the nature of acommunication warrants,
our Secretary may determine, in hisor her judgment, to obtainthe moreimmediate attention of the appropriate
committee of the board or non-management director, of independent advisors or of Company management,
as our Secretary considers appropriate.

Our Secretary may decideintheexerciseof hisor her judgment whether aresponseto any stockholder
or interested party communication is necessary.

Thisprocedurefor stockholder and other interested party communicationswith the non-management
directorsisadministered by the Company’ snominating and corporate governance committee. Thisprocedure
doesnot apply to (&) communicationsto non-management directorsfrom officersor directorsof the Company
who are stockholders, (b) stockholder proposals submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act
or (c) communications to the audit committee pursuant to the Complaint Procedures for Accounting and
Auditing Matters.

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Conduct

Our board of directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines. These guidelines address
items such as the qualifications and responsibilities of our directors and director candidates and corporate
governance policies and standards applicableto usin general. Inaddition, our board of directors hasadopted
a Code of Conduct that appliesto all of our employees, officers and directors, including our chief executive
officer, chief financial officer, and other executiveand senior financial officers. Thefull text of our Corporate
Governance Guidelines and our Code of Conduct is posted on our website at http://ir.zscaler.com in the
Governance section of our Investors webpage. We intend to post any amendments to our Code of Conduct,
and any waivers of our Code of Conduct for directors and executive officers, on the same website.

Role of the Board in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management
processwhich risksinclude, among others, strategic, financial, business and operational, cybersecurity, legal
and regulatory compliance, and reputational risks. Our board of directors does not have a standing risk
management committee, but rather administersthisoversight function directly through the board of directors
as awhole, as well as through its standing committees that address risks inherent in their respective areas
of oversight. In particular, our board of directorsis responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk
exposure. Our audit committeeisresponsiblefor reviewing and discussing our major financial risk exposures
and the steps our management has taken to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and
policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. In addition to oversight of the performance
of our external audit function, our audit committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and reviews related party transactions. Our nominating and corporate governance committee
monitors the effectiveness of our corporate governance guidelines. Our compensation committee assesses
and monitorswhether any of our compensation policiesand programshasthe potential to encourageexcessive
risk-taking.
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Director Compensation

Each non-employee director is eligible to receive compensation for his or her service consisting of
annual cashretainersand equity awardsunder our outside director compensation policy. Our outsidedirector
compensation policy was crafted in consultation with Compensia, Inc., an independent consultant engaged
by our compensation committee. Compensia provided us with competitive data, analysis and
recommendations regarding non-employee director compensation, which includesamix of cash and equity-
based compensation. After careful consideration of this information and the scope of the duties and
responsibilities of our non-employee directors, our board of directors approved our outside director
compensation policy. We believe this policy provides reasonable compensation to our non-employee
directors that is commensurate with their contributions and appropriately aligned with our peers. We aso
reimburse our directors for expenses associated with attending meetings of our board of directors and board
committees.

For fiscal 2019, non-employee directors were entitled to receive the following cash compensation
for service in the following positions:

Annual Retainer

Position
Board member 30,000
Audit committee chair 20,000
Audit committee member 8,000
Compensation committee chair 12,000
Compensation committee member 5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance committee chair 7,500
Nominating and Corporate Governance committee member 4,000

In addition, non-employee directors were eligible to receive the following equity awards for board
service:

D Initial RSU grant with atarget value of $175,000 pro-rated from the date of appointment or
election (automatically granted on the effective date of appointment or election). These
RSUs vest in equal quarterly installments over the remainder of the year of appointment in
advance of the next annual meeting of stockholders; and

2 Annual RSU grant with target value of $175,000 (automatically granted at the annual
meeting). These RSUs vest in four equal quarterly installments over a one-year period.

Effectivewith the Annual Meeting, the annual RSU grant target value will be increased to $200,000
and will vest in four equal quarterly installments over a one-year period. Also effective with the Annual
Meeting, theinitial RSU grant target value will be increased to two-and one-half timesthe value of the then
effective annual RSU grant, pursuant to which one-third of the RSUs will vest on the one-year anniversary
of the effective date of appointment and the remaining RSUs will vest in eight equal quarterly installments
thereafter. Any director elected at the annual meeting for agiven year will receive both theinitial RSU grant
and the annual RSU grant.

The number of RSUs for each of the initial and annual RSU grant will be determined by dividing
the annual equity value by the average closing price of Zscaler common stock on the Nasdag Global Select
Market for the 30 trading days ending on the date that is five days prior to the grant date, rounded up to the
nearest share.
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All cash paymentsto non-employee directorswho served in the rel evant capacity at any point during
the immediately preceding prior fiscal quarter will be paid quarterly in arrears on a prorated basis. A non-
employee director who served in the relevant capacity during only a portion of the prior fiscal quarter will
receive a pro-rated payment of the quarterly payment of the applicable cash retainer.

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by or paid to our non-
employee directors during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019:

Fees Earned

or Paid in Stock
Cash Awards Total
Name %) $(1) ($)
LaneBess (2) 11,364 — 11,364
Karen Blasing 55,000 181,962 236,962
Andrew Brown 50,000 181,962 231,962
Scott Darling 34,000 181,962 215,962
Charles Giancarlo 42,500 181,962 224,462
Nehal Raj(3) 35,000 181,962 223,962

(1) Amounts represent the grant date fair market value of RSUs automatically granted to serving directors
following our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders.

(2). Mr. Bess served as amember of our Board of Directors through December 18, 2018, the date of our 2018 annual
meeting of stockholders.

(3) Mr. Raj elected to exercise hisright to receive payments of director fees effective in October 2018 after
previously electing to forego hisright to receive fees for service as adirector.

The following table lists all outstanding equity awards held by our non-employee directors as of
July 31, 2019.

Aggregate Number Aggregate Number

of Stock Awards of Stock Options
Outstanding as of Outstanding as of
July 31, 2019 July 31, 2019
Name #) #
Karen Blasing 2,298 189,334
Andrew Brown 2,298 132,333
Scott Darling 2,298 —
Charles Giancarlo 2,298 —
Nehal Raj 2,298 —

For information about the compensation of directors who are a'so our employees, see “ Executive
Compensation.”

-21-



PROPOSAL NO. 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our board of directorsis currently composed of seven members. In accordance with our certificate
of incorporation, our board of directorsis divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. One
classis elected each year at the annual meeting of stockholders for aterm of three years. At the Annual
Meeting, three Class |1 directors will be elected for athree-year term to succeed the same class whose term
is then expiring.

Each director’s term continues until the election and qualification of such director’s successor, or
such director’s earlier death, resignation, or removal. Any increase or decrease in the number of directors
will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each classwill consist of one-third
of our directors. This classification of our board of directors may have the effect of delaying or preventing
changesin control of the Company.

Nominees

Our board of directorshasnominated Andrew Brown, Scott Darling and David Schneider for election
as Class || directors at the Annual Meeting. If elected, each of Messrs. Brown, Darling and Schneider will
serveas Class || directors until the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders or until their successors are el ected
and qualified, or their earlier death, resignation or removal. Messrs. Brownand Darlingarecurrently directors
of the Company. For information concerning the nominees, see “Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance.”

If you are a stockholder of record and you sign your proxy card or vote over the Internet or by
telephone but do not give instructions with respect to the voting of directors, your shareswill be voted FOR
the election of Messrs. Brown, Darling and Schneider. We expect that Messrs. Brown, Darling and Schneider
will accept such nomination; however, in the event that a director nomineeis unable or declinesto serve as
adirector at thetimeof theAnnual Mesting, theproxieswill bevoted for any nomineewho shall bedesignated
by our board of directorsto fill such vacancy. If you are abeneficial owner of shares of our common stock
and you do not give voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee, then your broker, bank or
other nominee will leave your shares unvoted on this matter.

Vote Required

Theéelection of Class|| directorsrequiresaplurality vote of the shares of our common stock present
in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. Accordingly, the
three nominees receiving the highest number of “FOR” votes will be elected. Broker non-votes will have
no effect on this proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AVOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF EACH
OF THE THREE DIRECTORS NOMINATED BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND NAMED
IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT AS CLASS |1 DIRECTORS TO SERVE FOR ATHREE-YEAR
TERM.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our audit committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as our independent registered
public accounting firm to audit our consolidated financial statementsfor our fiscal year ending July 31, 2020.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since May
2015.

At the Annua Meeting, stockholders are being asked to ratify the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopersL L Pasour independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending
July 31, 2020. Stockholder ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPis not required
by our bylaws or other applicable legal requirements. However, our board of directors is submitting the
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopersL L Pto our stockholdersfor ratification asamatter of good corporate
governance. In the event that this appointment is not ratified by the affirmative vote of a majority of the
shares present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote, such appointment will be
reconsidered by our audit committee. Even if the appointment is ratified, our audit committee, in its sole
discretion, may appoint another independent registered public accounting firm at any time during our fiscal
year ending July 31, 2020 if our audit committee believes that such a change would be in the best interests
of Zscaler and its stockholders. If the appointment is not ratified by our stockholders, the audit committee
may reconsider whether it should appoint another independent registered public accounting firm. A
representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPis expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, will have
an opportunity to make a statement if he or she wishes to do so, and is expected to be available to respond
to appropriate questions from stockholders.

Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table presents fees for professional audit services and other services rendered to us
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for our fiscal years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018.

2019 2018
Audit Fees (1) $ 1813669 $ 2,374,091
Audit-Related Fees (2) 2,125 252,549
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees (3) 2,700 4,500

$ 1818494 $ 2,631,140

(1) Audit Feesconsist of feesfor professional servicesrendered in connection with theaudit of our annual consolidated
financial statements, the review of our quarterly condensed consolidated financial statements, statutory audit fees,
and audit servicesthat are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection
with regulatory filings. Thiscategory aso includesfeesfor professional services provided in connection with our
initial public offering, incurred during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2018, including comfort letters, consents and
review of documents filed with the SEC.

(2) Audit-Related Fees consist primarily of fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and not reported under “ Audit Fees.”
For our fiscal year ended July 31, 2018, this category includes accounting consultations and technical accounting
guidance associated with the adoption of the new revenue accounting standard issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB™), Accounting Standards Updated (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606).
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(3) All Other Fees consist of aggregate fees billed for products and services provided by the independent registered
public accounting firm other than those disclosed above. These services specifically relate to subscription fees
paid for access to online accounting research software and regulatory applications.

Auditor Independence

In the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019, there were no other professional services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LL P that would have required our audit committee to consider their compatibility
with maintaining the independence of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our audit committee has established a policy governing our use of the services of our independent
registered public accounting firm. Under the policy, our audit committeeisrequired to pre-approve al audit
and permissible non-audit services performed by our independent registered public accounting firm in order
to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair such accounting firm’sindependence. All fees
paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPfor our fiscal years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018 were pre-approved
by our audit committee.

Vote Required

The ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP requires the affirmative vote
of amajority of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and
entitled to vote thereon. Abstentions will have the effect of avote AGAINST the proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AVOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF

THE APPOINTMENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT

REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR OUR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JULY 31,
2020.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The information contained in the following Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed to be
soliciting material or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information
be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Zscaler, Inc. (the “Company”’)
specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.

Theaudit committee servesastherepresentative of our board of directorswithrespecttoitsoversight
of:

e our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of our financial statements;
» theintegrity of our financial statements,
e our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

* inquiringabout significant risks, reviewingour policiesfor risk assessment and risk management,
and assessing the steps management has taken to control these risks; and

« the independent registered public accounting firm's appointment, qualifications and
independence.

The audit committee al so reviews the performance of our independent registered public accounting
firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in the annual audit of our financial statements and in assignments
unrelated to the audit, and reviews the independent registered public accounting firm's fees.

Theaudit committeeiscurrently composed of three non-employeedirectors. Immediately following
the Annual Meeting, Mr. Darling will becomeamember of the audit committeereplacing Mr. Rgj. Our board
of directors has determined that each current member of the audit committee and Mr. Darling isindependent,
and that Ms. Blasing qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” under the SEC rules.

The audit committee provides our board of directors such information and materials asit may deem
necessary to make our board of directors aware of financial matters requiring the attention of our board of
directors. The audit committee reviews our financia disclosures and meets privately, outside the presence
of our management, with our independent registered public accounting firm. In fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities, the audit committee reviewed and discussed the audited financial statementsin our fiscal
year ended July 31, 2019 Annual Report with management, including adiscussion of thequality and substance
of the accounting principles, thereasonabl eness of significant judgmentsmadein connectionwith theaudited
financial statements, and the clarity of disclosuresin the financial statements. The audit committee reports
on these meetings to our board of directors.

The audit committee reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements with management and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm. The audit committee has discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LL P the matters
required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301, Communications with Audit Committees, issued
by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB™).

The audit committee received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP' s communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and
discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LL Pits independence. In addition, the audit committee discussed
with PricewaterhouseCoopers L L Pitsindependence from management and the Company, including matters
inthe letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPrequired by PCAOB Rule 3526, Communication with Audit
Committees Concerning Independence, and considered the compatibility of non-audit services with
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP's independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to our
board of directorsthat the Company’ saudited consolidated financial statementsbeincludedinthe Company’s
Annua Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019 for filing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The audit committee also has selected PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the
independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2020. Our board of directors recommends that
stockholders ratify this selection at the Annual Meeting.

Respectfully submitted by the members of the audit committee of the board of directors:
Karen Blasing (Chair)

Andrew Brown
Neha Rg
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PROPOSAL NO. 3
ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF FUTURE STOCKHOLDER ADVISORY VOTES
ON THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Dodd-Frank Act and Section 14A of the ExchangeAct enable our stockholdersto indicate their
preference at |east once every six years regarding how freguently we should solicit a non-binding advisory
vote on the compensation of our named executive officers asdisclosed in our proxy statement. Accordingly,
we are asking our stockholders to indicate whether they would prefer an advisory vote every one year, two
years or three years. Alternatively, stockholders may abstain from casting a vote.

After considering the benefits and consequences of each aternative, our board of directors
recommends that the advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers be submitted to
the stockholders every year. In formulating its recommendation, our board of directors considered that
compensation decisions are made annually and that an annual advisory vote on the compensation of our
named executive officers will allow stockholders to provide more frequent and direct input on our
compensation philosophy, policies and practices. Thefirst advisory vote on the compensation of our named
executive officerswill be submitted to the stockholders at the fiscal year 2020 annual meeting.

Vote Required

The alternative among one year, two years or three years that receives the highest number of votes
cast at the Annual Meeting by stockholders entitled to vote thereon will be deemed to be the frequency
preferred by our stockholders. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on this proposal.

While our board of directors believes that its recommendation is appropriate at this time, the
stockholders are not voting to approve or disapprove that recommendation, but are instead asked to indicate
their preference, on an advisory basis, as to whether non-binding future stockholder advisory votes on the
compensation of our named executive officers should be held every year, two years or three years.

As an advisory vote, the result of this proposal is non-binding. Although the vote is non-binding,
our board of directors and our compensation committee val ue the opinions of our stockholdersin this matter
and, to the extent there is any significant vote in favor of one time period over another, will consider the
outcome of this vote when making future decisions regarding the frequency of holding future stockholder
advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive officers.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AVOTE TO HOLD FUTURE
STOCKHOLDER ADVISORY VOTES ON THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS EVERY “ONE YEAR.”
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth certain information about our executive officers and their
respective ages as of October 31, 2019. Officers are elected by the board of directors to hold office until
their successors are elected and qualified.

Name Age Position
Jay Chaudhry 61 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Remo Canessa 62 Chief Financia Officer
Amit Sinha, Ph.D. 43 President of Research and Development, Operations and Customer
Service, Chief Technology Officer and Director
Dali Rajic 46  President Go-To-Market and Chief Revenue Officer
Manoj Apte, Ph.D. 46  Chief Strategy Officer
Robert Schlossman 51 Chief Legal Officer

For the biographies of Mr. Chaudhry and Dr. Sinha, see “Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance—Continuing Directors.”

Remo E. Canessa has served as our chief financial officer since February 2017. Prior to joining us,
he served as chief financia officer of Illumio Inc., a private cybersecurity company, from July 2016 to
February 2017. Prior to joining Illumio, from October 2004 to April 2016, Mr. Canessa served as chief
financia officer and an advisor to Infoblox Inc., a network control, network automation and domain name
system security company. Mr. Canessa is a certified public accountant (inactive), and he holds aB.A. in
economics from the University of California, Berkeley and an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.
Mr. Canessapreviously served ontheboard of directorsof Aerohive Networks, Inc., acloud-managed mobile
networking platform provider, where he was chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
compensation committee.

Dali Rajic hasserved asour president go-to-market and chief revenue officer since September 2019.
Prior tojoining us, he served as chief customer officer from February 2018 and as chief revenue officer from
August 2016 to September 2019 at AppDynamics, Inc., an application performance management company
and subsidiary of Cisco Systems, Inc. From April 2012 to August 2016, Mr. Rajic served in multiple sales
executive roles at AppDynamics. From February 2009 to March 2012, he served in various sales executive
rolesat BM C Software, Inc., acomputer software company. Mr. RgjicholdsaB.S. ininternational marketing
from California State Polytechnic University, Pomonaand an M.B.A. from the Kellogg Graduate School of
Management at Northwestern University.

Manoj Apte, Ph.D. has served as our senior vice president and as our chief strategy officer since
September 2016. Prior to hisappointment asour chief strategy officer, Dr. Apte served asour vice president
of product management from September 2008. Dr. Apte holdsaPh.D. in computer science from Mississippi
State University, an M.S. in computational engineering from Mississippi State University and aB. Techin
aerospace engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, Bombay.

Robert Schlossman has served as our chief legal officer since February 2016. Prior to joining us,
he served asthe chief legal officer at Lucid MotorsInc., an electric car company, from May 2015 to January
2016. Prior tojoining Lucid Motors, from March 2010 to August 2014, Mr. Schlossman served as the chief
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legal and administrative officer at AptinaInc., a provider of imaging solutions, which was acquired by ON
Semiconductor Corporation. Mr. SchlossmanholdsaJ.D. fromtheUniversity of California, Berkeley School
of Law, aswell asan M.A. and B.A. in English from Stanford University.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Introduction

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides information regarding the fiscal 2019
compensation program for our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, and our three other
executive officersat fiscal year-end who were our most highly-compensated executive officers (our “ named
executive officers’). For fiscal 2019, our named executive officers were:

. Jay Chaudhry, our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the board of directors
(our “CEQ");

. Remo E. Canessa, our Chief Financial Officer;

. Amit Sinha, Ph.D., our President of Research & Devel opment, Operations& Customer Service,
Chief Technology Officer;

. Manoj Apte, Ph.D., our Chief Strategy Officer; and
. Raobert Schlossman, our Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the material elements of our executive
compensation program during fiscal 2019. It also provides an overview of our executive compensation
philosophy, including our principal compensation policies and practices. Findly, it analyzes how and why
the compensation committee of our board of directors (the" compensation committee”) arrived at the specific
compensation decisions for our named executive officersin fiscal 2019 and discusses the key factors that
the compensation committee considered in determining their compensation.

Executive Summary
Who We Are

Our mission isto provide fast, secure, and reliable access to information no matter where it lives.
We wereincorporated in 2007, during the early stages of cloud adoption and mobility, based on avision that
theinternet would becomethe new corporate network asthe cloud becomesthe new datacenter. We predicted
that with rapid cloud adoption and increasing workforce mobility, traditional perimeter security approaches
would provide inadequate protection for users and data and an increasingly poor user experience. We
pioneered a security cloud that represents a fundamental shift in the architectural design and approach to
network security.

Enterprise applications are rapidly moving to the cloud to achieve greater IT agility, afaster pace
of innovation and lower costs. Organizations are increasingly relying on Internet destinations for arange of
business activities, adopting hew external SaaS applicationsfor critical business functions and moving their
internally managed applications to the cloud. Enterprise users now expect to be able to seamlessly access
applications and data, wherever they are hosted, from any device, anywhere in the world. We believe these
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trends are indicative of the broader digital transformation agenda, as businessesincreasingly succeed or fail
based on their IT outcomes.

We believe that securing the on-premises corporate network to protect users and data is becoming
increasingly irrelevantinacloud and mobile-first world where organi zationsdepend on theinternet, anetwork
they do not control and cannot secure, to accesscritical applicationsthat power their businesses. We pioneered
anew approach to security that connects the right user to the right application, regardless of network. Our
cloud platform, which delivers security asaservice, eliminates the need for traditional on-premises security
appliancesthat are difficult to maintain and require compromises between security, cost and user experience.
Our cloud platform incorporates the security functionality needed to enable usersto safely utilize authorized
applications and services based on an organization’s policies. Our solution is a purpose-built, multi-tenant,
distributed cloud security platform that secures access for users and devices to applications and services,
regardless of location.

Fiscal 2019 Business Highlights

Fiscal 2019, our first year as a public company, was a strong year for us marked by significant
achievementsin revenue, billings growth and positive free cash flow. Fiscal 2019 highlightswereasfollows:

*  Total revenue was $302.8 million, an increase of 59% year-over-year.

e Caculated billingswere $390 million, anincrease of 51% year-over-year. Calculated billings
is a non-GAAP financial measure. The reconciliation of GAAP revenue and calculation
billingsis set forth on page 58 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, asfiled with the SEC on
September 18, 2019.

*  GAAPIossfrom operationswas $35.3 million, or 12% of total revenue, compared to aGAAP
loss of $34.6 million in fiscal 2018, or 18% of total revenue. Non-GAAP income from
operations was $25.1 million, or 8% of total revenue, compared to Non-GAAP loss from
operationsof $15.4 millioninfiscal 2018, or 8% of total revenue. Thereconciliation of GAAP
lossfrom operationsand non-GA APlossfrom operationsis set forth on page 57 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, asfiled with the SEC on September 18, 2019.

e Cashprovided by operationswas$58.0 million, or 19% of revenue, comparedto $17.3million,
or 9% of revenue, infiscal 2018. Positivefree cash flow was $29.3 million, or 10% of revenue,
compared to $2.1 million, or 1% of revenue, in fiscal 2018. Free cash flow isanon-GAAP
financial measure. The reconciliation of cash provided by operations and free cash flow is
set forth on page 57 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, asfiled with the SEC on September
18, 2019.

Executive Compensation Highlights

During and for fiscal 2019, the compensation committee took the following key actionswith respect
to the compensation of our named executive officers:

. Base Salaries — The compensation committee maintained annual base salaries at their fiscal
2018 levels, including for our CEO, who has a salary of $23,660.

. Annual Cash Bonuses —While we had a strong year as described above, the targets set for
our annual cash bonus plan required extraordinary or stretch level performance to achieve
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payment (reflecting apay-for-performance philosophy). Accordingly, no annual cash bonuses
were paid to our Named Executive Officers, as our results under our Fiscal 2019 Employee
I ncentive Compensation Plan, or the lncentive Compensation Plan, did not meet theaggressive
fiscal 2019 threshold performance levels that we had established for each six-month
performance period under the Incentive Compensation Plan.

. Long-Term Incentive Compensation — The compensation committee determined that a
substantial part of long-term incentive compensation should aso reflect our pay-for-
performancephilosophy. Asaresult, thecompensation committed granted long-termincentive
compensation opportunities in the form of both time-based restricted stock unit (“RSU")
awards and performance-based restricted stock unit (“PSU”) awards, including a PSU award
for our CEO with an aggregate grant datefair value of approximately $5.6 million. In addition
to requiring continued service for vesting, our PSU awards provide that our named executive
officers may earn shares of our common stock based on our achievement of pre-established
target levelsfor one or more financial or operational performance measures established for a
fiscal year. Despite our strong financial performance in fiscal 2019, we did not meet the
aggressive threshold performance measures that were established for attainment of PSU
Awardsfor 2019 and none of the shares of our common stock underlying PSU awards subject
to the fiscal 2019 performance measures were earned.

Pay-for-Performance

We believe our executive compensation program is reasonable, competitive, and appropriately
balances the goals of attracting, motivating, rewarding, and retaining our named executive officers with the
goal of aligning their interests with those of our stockholders. To ensure this alignment and to motivate and
reward individual initiative and effort, a substantial portion of our named executive officers target annual
compensation opportunity is both variable in nature and “at-risk.”

We emphasize variable compensation that appropriately rewards our named executive officers
through two separate compensation elements:

. First, we provide the opportunity to participate in our cash bonus plan which provides semi-
annual cash payments if our named executive officers produce short-term financial,
operational, and strategic results that meet or exceed the objectives set by our compensation
committee.

. Inaddition, wegrant RSU and PSU awardsthat will reward recipientsover amulti-year period,
with the PSUs only being earned for achieving performance objectives established by our
compensation committee. The RSU and, if earned, PSU awards comprise a mgjority of our
named executive officers’ target total direct compensation opportunities, the future value of
which depends significantly on the value of our common stock, thereby incentivizing them
to build sustainable long-term value for the benefit of our stockholders.

These variable pay elements ensure that, each year, a substantial portion of our named executive
officers' target total direct compensation is contingent (rather than fixed) in nature, with the amounts
ultimately payable subject to variability above or below target levels commensurate with our actual
performance. The performance goals we set for fiscal 2019 for both our annual cash bonus plan and our
PSUs were very aggressive and did not result in payment in spite of our strong financial performance. As
we mature as a public company, we intend that our executive compensation program will continueto evolve
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to reflect our executive compensation philosophy and objective of rewarding strong performance with
competitive and incentivizing compensation.

The pay mix for our CEO and our other named executive officersfor fiscal 2019 reflected this* pay-
for-performance” design:

Fiscal Year 2019 Pay Mix

All Other
Named Executive
CEO Officers as a Group
Cash 0.42% Cash 5.49%
PSU 99.58% PSU 31.50%
RSU - RSU 63.01%

We believe that this design provides balanced incentives for our named executive officersto drive
financial and operational performance and long-term growth. To ensure that we remain faithful to our
compensation philosophy, the compensation committee regularly evaluates the relationship between the
reported values of the equity awards granted to our named executive officers, the amount of compensation
realizable (and, ultimately, realized) from such awards in subsequent years.

Executive Compensation Policies and Practices

We endeavor to maintain sound governance standards consistent with our executive compensation
policies and practices. The compensation committee evaluates our executive compensation program on a
regular basisto ensurethat it is consistent with our short-term and long-term goal s given the dynamic nature
of our business and the market in which we compete for executive talent. The following summarizes our
executive compensation and related policies and practices:

What We Do

. Maintain an Independent Compensation Committee. The compensation committee consists
solely of independent directors who establish our compensation policies and practices.

. Retain an Independent Compensation Advisor. The compensation committee has engaged
its own compensation consultant to provide information, analysis, and other advice on
executive compensation independent of management. This consultant performed no other
consulting or other services for usin fiscal 2019.

. Annual Executive Compensation Review. The compensation committee conducts an annual
review and approval of our compensation strategy, including a review and determination of
our compensati on peer group used for comparative purposesand areview of our compensation-
related risk profile to ensure that our compensation programs do not encourage excessive or
inappropriate risk-taking and that the level of risk that they do encourage is not reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

. Compensation At-Risk. Our executive compensation program isdesigned so that asignificant
portion of our named executive officers compensation is “at risk” based on corporate
performance, as well as equity-based, to align the interests of our named executive officers
and stockholders.
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Use a Pay-for-Performance Philosophy. The majority of our named executive officers
compensation is directly linked to corporate performance; we also structure their target total
direct compensation opportunities with a significant long-term equity component, thereby
making asubstantial portion of each named executive officer’ starget total direct compensation
dependent upon our stock price and/or total stockholder return.

Nominal Base Salary and Zero Bonus Potential for our CEO. Our CEO receives only a
nominal base salary and is not eligible for a cash bonus.

Succession Planning. Wereview therisks associated with our key executive officer positions
to ensure adeguate succession plans arein place.

What We Do Not Do

No Executive Retirement Plans. We do not currently offer, nor do we have plans to offer,
defined benefit pension plans or any non-qualified deferred compensation plans or
arrangements to our named executive officers other than the plans and arrangements that are
available to al employees. Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in our
401(k) retirement plan on the same basis as our other employees.

Limited Perquisites. Perquisites or other personal benefits are not a material part of our
compensation program for our named executive officers.

No Excise Tax Payments on Future Post-Employment Compensation Arrangements. We
do not provide any excise tax reimbursement payments (including “gross-ups’) on payments
or benefits contingent upon a change in control of the Company.

No Special Health or Welfare Benefits. We do not provide our named executive officerswith
any health or welfare benefit programs, other than participation in our broad-based employee
programs on the same basis as our other full-time, salaried employees.

No Hedging or Pledging of our Equity Securities. We prohibit our employees, including our
named executive officers and the members of our board of directorsfrom hedging or pledging
our equity securities.

Frequency of Future Stockholder Advisory Vote on Named Executive Officer Compensation

AttheAnnual Meeting of Stockholdersto which this Proxy Statement relates, we will be conducting
anon-binding advisory vote on the frequency of future non-binding advisory votes on the compensation of
our named executive officers (commonly known as a “ Say-When-on-Pay” vote). Our board of directorsis
recommending that we hold future non-binding advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive
officers on an annual, rather than a biennial or triennial, basis. For additional information about the Say-
When-on-Pay vote, see Proposal No. 3 above.

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our executive compensation program is guided by our overarching philosophy of paying for high
and demonstrable performance. Consistent with this philosophy, we have designed our executive
compensation program to achieve the following primary objectives:
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. Provide market competitive compensation and benefit levelsthat will attract, retain, motivate,
and reward a highly-talented team of executives within the context of responsible cost
management;

. Establish a direct link between our financial and operational results and strategic objectives
and the compensation of our executives;

. Align the interests and objectives of our executives with those of our stockholders by linking
their long-term incentive compensation opportunities to stockholder value creation and their
cash incentives to our annual performance; and

. Offer total compensation opportunitiesto our executivesthat, whilecompetitive, areinternally
consistent and fair.

Generally, we structure the annual compensation of our named executive officers using three
principal e ements: basesalary, annual cash bonusopportunities, andlong-term equity incentive opportunities
in the form of equity awards. The design of our executive compensation program is influenced by avariety
of factors, with the primary goalsbeing to align theinterests of our named executive officersand stockholders
and to link pay with performance.

We have not adopted policies or employed guidelines for allocating compensation between current
and long-term compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation, or among different forms of non-
cash compensation.

Compensation-Setting Process
Role of Compensation Committee

The compensation committee discharges the responsibilities of our board of directorsrelating to the
compensation of our named executive officers and the non-employee members of our board of directors.
Thecompensationcommitteehasoverall responsibility for overseeing our compensation and benefitspolicies
generally, and overseeing and evaluating the compensation plans, policies and practices applicable to our
CEO and other named executive officers.

In carrying out itsresponsibilities, the compensation committee eval uates our compensation policies
and practices with a focus on the degree to which these policies and practices reflect our executive
compensation philosophy, develops strategies and makes decisions that it believes further our philosophy
or align with developments in best compensation practices, and reviews the performance of our named
executive officers when making decisions with respect to their compensation.

The compensation committee’'s authority, duties, and responsibilities are further described in its
charter, which isreviewed annually and revised and updated as warranted. The charter isavailable at http://
ir.zscaler.com.

The compensation committee retains a compensation consultant (as described below) to provide
support in its review and assessment of our executive compensation program.
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Setting Target Total Direct Compensation

The compensation committee reviews the base salary levels, annual cash bonus opportunities, and
long-term incentive compensation opportunities of our named executive officersand all related performance
criteria at the beginning of each year, or more frequently as warranted. Adjustments are generally effective
at the beginning of the fiscal year.

The compensation committee does not establish a specific target for formulating the target total
direct compensation opportunities of our named executive officers. In making decisions about the
compensation of our named executive officers, the members of the compensation committee rely primarily
on their general experience and subjective considerations of various factors, including the following:

. our executive compensation program objectives,

. our performance against the financial, operational, and strategic objectives established by the
compensation committee and our board of directors;

. each individual named executive officer’s knowledge, skills, experience, qualifications, and
tenure relative to other similarly-situated executives at the companies in our compensation
peer group;

. the scope of each named executive officer’s role and responsibilities compared to other
similarly-situated executives at the companiesin our compensation peer group;

. the prior performance of each individual named executive officer, based on a subjective
assessment of his or her contributions to our overall performance, ability to lead his or her
business unit or function, and work as part of ateam, all of which reflect our core values,

. the potential of each individual named executive officer to contribute to our long-term
financial, operational, and strategic objectives;

. our CEO’s compensation relative to that of our named executive officers, and compensation
parity among our named executive officers;

. our financial performance relative to our compensation and performance peers,

. the compensation practices of our compensati on peer group and the positioning of each named
executive officer’s compensation in aranking of peer company compensation levels based on
an analysis of competitive market data; and

. the recommendations of our CEO with respect to the compensation of our named executive
officers (except with respect to his own compensation).

These factors provide the framework for compensation decision-making and final decisions
regarding the compensation opportunity for each named executive officer. No single factor is determinative
in setting compensation levels, nor isthe impact of any individual factor on the determination of pay levels
quantifiable.

The compensation committee does not weight these factorsin any predetermined manner, nor does
it apply any formulas in developing its compensation recommendations. The members of the compensation
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committee consider all of thisinformationinlight of their individual experience, knowledge of the Company,
knowledge of the competitive market, knowledge of each named executive officer, and business judgment
in making their decisions.

The compensation committee does not engage in forma benchmarking against other companies
compensation programs or practices to establish our compensation levels or make specific compensation
decisions with respect to our named executive officers. Instead, in making its determinations, the
compensation committee reviewsinformation summarizing the compensation paid at arepresentative group
of peer companies, to the extent that the executive positions at these companies are considered comparable
toour positionsand informative of the competitive environment and morebroad-based compensation surveys
to gain agenera understanding of market compensation levels.

Role of Management

In discharging its responsibilities, the compensation committee works with members of our
management, including our CEO. Our management assists the compensation committee by providing
information on corporate and individual performance, market compensation data, and management’s
perspectiveon compensation matters. The compensation committee solicitsand reviewsour CEO’sproposals
with respect to program structures, as well as his recommendations for adjustments to annual cash
compensation, long-term incentive compensation opportunities, and other compensation-rel ated mattersfor
our named executive officers (except with respect to his own compensation) based on hisevaluation of their
performance for the prior year.

At the beginning of each year, our CEO reviews the performance of our other named executive
officers based on such individual’slevel of successin accomplishing the business objectives established for
him or her for the prior year and his or her overal performance during that year and then shares these
evaluations with, and makes recommendations to, the compensation committee for each element of
compensation as described above.

The compensation committee reviews and discusses our CEO’s proposals and recommendations
with our CEO and considersthem as onefactor in determining and approving the compensation of our named
executive officers, including our CEO. Our CEO also attends meetings of our board of directors and the
compensation committee at which executive compensation matters are addressed, except with respect to
discussions involving his own compensation.

Role of Compensation Consultant

The compensation committee engages an external compensation consultant to assist it by providing
information, analysis, and other advice relating to our executive compensation program and the decisions
resulting from its annual executive compensation review. The compensation consultant reports directly to
the compensation committee and itschair and serves at the discretion of the compensation committee, which
reviews the engagement annually.

In fiscal 2019, the compensation committee engaged Compensia, Inc. (“Compensia’), a national
compensation consulting firm, to serve asits compensation consultant to advise on executive compensation
matters, including competitive market pay practices for our named executive officers and with the data
analysis and selection of the compensation peer group.

During fiscal 2019, Compensia attended the meetings of the compensation committee (both with
and without management present) as requested and provided the following services:
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. consultation with the compensation committee chair and other members between
compensation committee meetings,

. review, research, and updating of our compensation peer group;

. an analysis of competitive market data based on the compensation peer group for our named
executive officers’ positions and an evaluation of how the compensation we pay our named
executive officers compares both to our performance and to how the companies in our
compensation peer group compensate their executives;

. review and analysis of the base salary levels, annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-
term incentive compensation opportunities of our named executive officers;

. review and analysis of the base salary levels, annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-
term incentive compensation opportunities for possible new hires;

. review and analysis of the compensation arrangements of the non-employee members of our
board of directors against the companiesin the compensation peer group;

. assessment of executive compensation trends within our industry, and updating on corporate
governance and regulatory issues and developments; and

. support on other ad hoc matters throughout the year.

The terms of Compensia’s engagement includes reporting directly to the compensation committee
chair. Compensia also coordinated with our management for data collection and job matching for our
executive officers. In fiscal 2019, Compensiadid not provide any other servicesto us.

Thecompensation committee haseval uated itsrel ationship with Compensiato ensurethat it believes
that such firm isindependent from management. This review process included areview of the services that
such compensation consultant provided, thequality of those services, and thefeesassociated with the services
provided during fiscal 2019. Based on this review, as well as consideration of the factors affecting
independenceset forthin ExchangeAct Rule 10C-1(b)(4), Rule 5605(d)(3)(D) of the NASDAQ Marketplace
Rules, and such other factors aswere deemed relevant under the circumstances, the compensation committee
has determined that no conflict of interest was raised as a result of the work performed by Compensia and
that Compensiais independent.

Competitive Positioning

For purposes of assessing our executive compensation against the competitive market, the
compensation committee reviews and considers the compensation levels and practices of a select group of
peer companies. This compensation peer group consists of technology companies that are similar to usin
terms of revenue, market capitalization, and industry focus. The competitive data drawn from this
compensation peer group isonly one of several factorsthat the compensation committee considers, however,
in making its decisions with respect to the compensation of our named executive officers.

The compensation peer group for fiscal 2019, which was first developed in fiscal 2017 in advance
of our initial public offering with the assistance of Compensia, to analyze the compensation of our executive
officers, including our named executive officers, was comprised of publicly-traded technology companies
against which we compete for executive talent, as well as, in some instances, business opportunities. In
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evaluating the companies comprising the compensation peer group, Compensia considered the following
criteria
. publicly-traded companies headquartered in the United States and traded on a major United
States stock exchange;

. companies in the software and Internet services sectors, with a secondary focus on other
technology companies,

. similar revenues — within arange of ~0.5x to ~2.0x our then-projected fiscal 2017 revenues
of approximately $170 million (approximately $85 million to approximately $340 million);
and

. similar market capitalization — within a range of ~0.5x to ~2.0x our then-projected market
capitalization of approximately $2.5 billion (approximately $1.25 billion to approximately
$5.0 billion).

This compensation peer group for fiscal 2019 consisted of the following companies:

Barracuda Networks  Ellie Mae MuleSoft Q2 Holdings
BlackLine Gigamon New Relic Qualys

Box HubSpot Okta Twilio
Callidus Software Imperva Paycom Software  Zendesk
Coupa Software LogMeln Proofpoint

The compensation committee used data drawn from the companiesin our compensation peer group,
as well as data from Compensia’s proprietary database of public technology companies, to evaluate the
competitive market when determining the total direct compensation packages for our named executive
officers, including base sadary, target cash incentive award opportunities, and long-term incentive
compensation opportunities.

The compensation committee reviews our compensation peer group at least annualy and makes

adjustments to its composition if warranted, taking into account changes in both our business and the
businesses of the companiesin the peer group.
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Compensation Elements

Infiscal 2019, the principal elements of our executive compensation program, and the purposes for
each element, were as follows:

Element

Type of Element

Compensation Element

Objective

Base Salary

Fixed

Cash

Designed to attract and retain
highly talented executives by
providing fixed compensation
amounts that are competitive in
the market and reward
performance

Annual Cash Bonuses

Variable

Cash

Designed to motivate our
executives to achieve annual
business objectives and provide
financia incentives when we
meet or exceed these annua
objectives

Long Term Incentive
Compensation

Variable

Equity awards in the form of
PSU awards and RSU awards
that may be settled for shares
of our common stock

Designedto aligntheinterests of
our executives and our
stockhol dersby motivatingthem
to create sustainable long-term

stockholder value

Base Salary

Base salary represents the fixed portion of the compensation of our named executive officersand is
an important element of compensation intended to attract and retain highly-talented individuals. Generally,
we use base salary to provide each named executive officer with a specified level of cash compensation
during the year with the expectation that he or she will perform his or her responsibilities to the best of his
or her ability and in our best interests.

Generally, weestablish theinitial base salariesof our named executive officersthrough arm’s-length
negotiation at the time we hire the individual, taking into account his or her position, qualifications,
experience, prior salary level, and the base salaries of our other executive officers. Thereafter, the
compensation committee reviews the base salaries of our named executive officers each year as part of its
annual compensation review, with input from our CEO (except with respect to his own base salary) and
makes adjustments asit determines to be reasonabl e and necessary to reflect the scope of anamed executive
officer’s performance, individual contributions and responsibilities, position in the case of apromotion, and
market conditions.

In October 2018, the compensation committee reviewed the base salaries of our named executive
officers, taking into consideration a competitive market analysis and the recommendations of our CEO, as
well as the other factors described in “Compensation-Setting Process — Setting Target Total Direct
Compensation” above. Following this review, the compensation committee determined to maintain the base
salary for each of our named executive officers at its fiscal 2018 level.



The base salaries of our named executive officers for fiscal 2019 were as follows:

Named Executive Officer  Fiscal 2018 Base Salary Fiscal 2019 Base Salary Percentage Adjustment

Mr. Chaudhry $23,660 $23,660 0%
Mr. Canessa $300,000 $300,000 0%
Dr. Sinha $300,000 $300,000 0%
Dr. Apte $275,000 $275,000 0%
Mr. Schlossman $275,000 $275,000 0%

The base salaries paid to our named executive officers during fiscal 2019 are set forth in the “Fiscal
2019 Summary Compensation Table™ below.

Annual Cash Bonuses

We use our Incentive Compensation Plan, an annual cash bonusplan, to motivate employees selected
by the compensation committee, including our named executive officers, to achieve our annual business
goals. Our Incentive Compensation Plan allows our compensation committee to provide cash incentive
awards to employees selected by our compensation committee, including our named executive officers,
based upon performance goals established by our compensation committee. Pursuant to the Incentive
Compensation Plan, our compensation committee, in its sole discretion, establishes atarget award for each
participant and abonus pool, with actual awards payabl e from such bonus pool, with respect to the applicable
performance period. For fiscal 2019 the Incentive Compensation Plan included semi-annual performance
periods with semi-annual award payouts after the end of the first six-month period and, then again, after the
end of the fiscal year.

The compensation committee administered the I ncentive Compensation Plan. As the administrator
of the plan, the compensation committee may, in its sole discretion and at any time, increase, reduce, or
eliminate aparticipant’sactual award, and/or increase, reduce, or eliminate the amount all ocated to the bonus
pool for a particular performance period. The actual award may be below, at or above a participant’s target
annual cash bonus award, in the discretion of the administrator. Further, the administrator may determine
the amount of any increase, reduction, or elimination on the basis of such factors as it deems relevant, and
it is not required to establish any allocation or weighting with respect to the factors it considers.

Actual awards under the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan were to be paid in cash (or its
equivalent) in asingle lump sum only after they are earned, which requires continued employment through
the date the actual award is paid. The compensation committee reserved the right to settle an actual award
with agrant of an equity award under our then-current equity compensation plan, which equity award may
have such termsand conditions, asthe compensation committee determines. Payment of awardswasto occur
as soon as administratively practicable after they are earned, but no later than the dates set forth in the Fiscal
2019 Incentive Compensation Plan.

Our board of directors and the compensation committee have the authority to amend, alter, suspend,
or terminate the plan, provided such action does not impair the existing rights of any participant with respect
to any earned awards.

Fiscal 2019 Target Annual Cash Bonus Award Opportunities

For purposes of the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan, cash bonus awards were based upon
fixed amounts as determined by the compensation committee. In October 2018, the compensation committee
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reviewed the target annual cash bonus award opportunities of our named executive officers. Following this
review and after taking into consideration the factors described in “ Governance of Executive Compensation
Program — Compensation-Setting Process’ above, the compensation committee determined to maintain the
target annual cash bonus award opportunities of our named executive officers for fiscal 2019 at their fiscal
2018 levels.

The target annual cash bonus award opportunities of our named executive officers for fiscal 2019
were asfollows:

Fiscal 2019 Target Annual Cash

Named Executive Officer Bonus Award Opportunity
Mr. Chaudhry $0
Mr. Canessa $150,000
Dr. Sinha $125,000
Dr. Apte $100,000
Mr. Schlossman $75,000

Potential annual cash bonusawardsfor our named executive officersunder the Fiscal 2019 Incentive
Compensation Plan could range from zero to 150% of their target annual cash bonus award opportunity.

Corporate Performance Objectives

Under the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan, the compensation committee determined the
performance measures and related target levels for the fiscal 2019 awards.

In October 2018, the compensation committee selected net new annual contract value (“net new
ACV") asthe performance measure for the Fiscal 2019 I ncentive Compensation Plan. For this purpose, “ net
new ACV” means generally the aggregate annual value of a hew or upsell sales contract to an end user or
partner for products and services sold by Zscaler that is billable at the time of booking, offset by any lost or
reduced renewals.

The compensation committee selected net new ACV as the appropriate corporate performance
measure for the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan because, in its view, this measure was a key
indicator of our execution of our strategy. Net new ACV, while significant to our achievement of our growth
and business strategy, is an internal metric that we do not disclose in our financial statements. For fiscal
2019, the target net new ACV, as set forth in our annual operating plan, for each half of the year was greater
than the amount achieved in the comparabl e period for the prior fiscal year and represented avery aggressive
growth target for fiscal 2019.

For purposes of the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan, our named executive officers were
eligible to earn cash bonus awards to the extent that we achieved a minimum target net new ACV for each
half of fiscal 2019 (that is, the periods from August 1, 2018 through January 31, 2019 and February 1, 2019
through July 31, 2019), subject to greater payouts for increased achievement above the target.

Annual Cash Bonus Payments

As previoudly described, our named executive officers were eligible for semi-annual cash bonus
awards only to the extent, and in the amount, that we met or exceeded the applicable minimum threshold
for net new ACV for each six-month performance period. Because we did not achieve our desired net new
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ACV goasfor either half of fiscal 2019, the compensation committee did nhot make any cash bonus awards
to our named executive officers under the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

We view long-term incentive compensation in the form of equity awards asacritical element of our
executive compensation program. We use equity awards to incentivize and reward our named executive
officersfor long-term corporate performance based on the value of our common stock and, thereby, to align
the interests of our named executive officers with those of our stockholders. Typically, we have granted
equity awards to our named executive officers as part of the compensation committee's annual review of
our executive compensation program.

Currently, we use RSU awardsand PSU awardsto retain, motivate, and reward our named executive
officersfor long-term increases in the value of our common stock and, thereby, to align their interests with
those of our stockholders. Our PSU awards provide that our named executive officers may earn shares of
our common stock based on our achievement of pre-established target levels for one or more financial or
operational performance measuresaswell as continued service. We also grant RSU awardswith solely time-
based vesting requirements to named executive officers other than our CEO. Because RSU awards have
value to the recipient even in the absence of stock price appreciation, we are able to incentivize and retain
our named executive officers using fewer shares of our common stock than would be necessary if we used
stock optionsto provide equity to our executive officers. In addition, because the value of these RSU awards
increases with any increase in the value of the underlying shares, RSU awards also provide incentivesto our
named executive officers that are aligned with the interests of our stockhol ders.

To date, the compensation committee has not applied arigid formulain determining the size and
form of the equity awards to be granted to our named executive officers as part of our annual focal review
of equity awards. | nstead, in making these decisions, the compensation committee hasexercised itsjudgment
asto the amount and form of the awards. The compensation committee considers the retention value of the
equity compensation held by the named executive officer, the cash compensation received by the named
executive officer, a competitive market analysis performed by its compensation consultant, the
recommendations of our CEO (except with respect to himself), the amount of equity compensation held by
the named executive officer (including the current economic value of his or her unvested equity and the
ability of these unvested holdings to satisfy our retention objectives), and the other factors described in
“Compensation-Setting Process — Setting Target Total Direct Compensation” above. Based upon these
factors, the compensation committee hasdetermined the size of each award at levelsit considered appropriate
to create ameaningful opportunity for reward predicated on the creation of long-term stockholder value.

Fiscal 2019 Equity Award Grants

In October 2018, the compensation committee granted long-term incentive compensation
opportunitiesin the form of equity awards to our named executive officersin amounts that it considered to
be consistent with our compensation phil osophy and itsdesired market positioning and which al so recognized
the performance of each of our named executive officers, as follows:

. Mr. Chaudhry —Mr. Chaudhry wasnot granted asRSU award, but wasgranted four separate
PSU awards, each covering 150,000 units which may be settled for shares of our common
stock withindividual annual performance periodsto correspond tofiscal 2019 through fiscal
2022. Each such PSU award is subject to being earned and vesting annually for each fiscal
year from fiscal 2019 through fiscal 2022 based on the achievement of one or more
performance measures to be established at the beginning of each fiscal year by the
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compensation committee. Following the completion of each performance year, the
compensation committee certifies our achievement against the applicable performance
measures, and 100% of the units earned by our CEO will vest on the first trading day on or
after September 15th. I such certification ismade after September 15, earned unitswill vest
on the first trading day on or after December 15th. For the fiscal 2019 performance year,
thetotal number of unitsthat could be earned scaled from 0% to 150% of the target number
of units, based on actual achievement of the fiscal 2019 performance measure. The
performance measures and related target performance levels for the fiscal 2020 through
fiscal 2022 performance years will be determined in the applicable performance year, with
the measures and related target performance levels for fiscal 2020 performance being
determined by the compensation committee in the first quarter of fiscal 2020. For each of
these PSU awards, receipt of any shares of our common stock upon settlement of the awards
is subject to Mr. Chaudhry continuing to be a service provider through any performance
determination date or subsequent vesting date. Mr. Chaudhry currently intends to donate
any shares of our common stock issued for earned PSU awards (or the proceeds from the
sale thereof) to charity as part of his philanthropic commitments.

Mr. Canessa—Mr. Canessawas granted amix of RSU awardsand PSU awards. Mr. Canessa
was granted a RSU award covering 56,250 units subject to adelayed vesting schedule. The
RSU award will vest over approximately six yearsin total, with 6.25% of the units subject
to vesting on December 15, 2020 and 6.25% of the units vesting on thefirst trading day on
or after each of March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 (each a "Quarterly
Vesting Date") thereafter. Mr. Canessawas al so granted two separate PSU awards consisting
of 28,125 units each, with individual annual performance periods to correspond to fiscal
2019 and fiscal 2020. For the 2019 performance year, the total number of units that could
beearned scaled from 0% to 150% of thetarget number of units, based on actual achievement
of the2019 performance measure. The performance measuresand rel ated target performance
levels for the 2020 performance year were determined by the compensation committee in
thefirst quarter of fiscal 2020. For each performance year, any earned unitswill vest on the
same schedule as for his RSU award, with 6.25% of the earned units vesting on December
15, 2020 and 6.25% of the units vesting each Quarterly Vesting Date thereafter. For each of
the RSU and PSU awards, receipt of any shares of common stock upon settlement of the
awardsis subject to Mr. Canessa continuing to be aservice provider through any applicable
vesting date.

Dr. Sinha, Dr. Apte and Mr. Schlossman — Dr. Sinha, Dr. Apte and Mr. Schlossman were
granted a mix of RSU and PSU awards. Dr. Sinha's RSU award consists of two separate
RSU awards each covering 62,500 units with 62,500 units vesting in 16 equal quarterly
installments beginning on December 15, 2019 and the remaining 62,500 units vesting in 16
equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020. Dr. Apte's RSU award
consists of two separate RSU awards each covering 56,250 units with 56,250 units vesting
in16 equal quarterly installmentsbeginning on December 15, 2019 and theremaining 56,250
units vesting in 16 equa quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020. Mr.
Schlossman’s RSU award consists of two separate RSU awards each covering 31,250 units
with 31,250 units vesting in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15,
2019 and the remaining 31,250 units vesting in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning
on December 15, 2020.



The PSU awards of Dr. Sinha, Dr. Apte, and Mr. Schlossman each consist of two separate
PSU awards of 62,500 units, 56,250 units, and 31,250 units, respectively, with individual
annual performance periods to correspond to fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020. For the 2019
performance year, the total number of units that could be earned scaled from 0% to 150%
of thetarget number of units, based on actual achievement of the 2019 performance measure.
The performance measures and related target performance levelsfor the 2020 performance
year were determined by the compensation committeein the first quarter of fiscal 2020. For
each performance year, any earned units will vest on the same schedule as for each named
executive officer’'s RSU awards, with any earned units from the fiscal 2019 PSU award
vesting in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019 and any earned
units from the fiscal 2020 PSU award vesting in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning
on December 15, 2020. For each of the RSU and PSU awards, receipt of any shares of
common stock underlying the awards is subject to the applicable named executive officer
continuing to be a service provider through any vesting date.

The number of shares subject to the PSU and RSU awards granted to our named executive officers
(viewedintheaggregate by value) wasdetermined by the compensation committee based onitsconsideration
of the factors described above.

Fiscal 2019 PSU Awards

The PSU awards granted to our CEO and our other named executive officers for the fiscal 2019
performance year, or the Fiscal 2019 PSU Awards, were to be earned based on our level of attainment of the
same full-year fiscal 2019 net new ACV target performance level as the compensation committee sel ected
for the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan.

The compensation committee sel ected target net new ACV asthe appropriate corporate performance
measure for the Fiscal 2019 PSU Awards, in addition to the Fiscal 2019 Incentive Compensation Plan,
because, in its view, this measure was a key indicator of our execution of our strategy. For fiscal 2019, the
net new ACV target performancelevel for the Fiscal 2019 PSU Awardswas greater than the amount achieved
in the comparable period for the prior fiscal year and represented a very aggressive target for fiscal 2019.

Each unit earned pursuant to aFiscal 2019 PSU Award wasto be settled for one share of our common
stock, whichwasthen eligiblefor time-based vesting asdescribed above. For purposesof the Fiscal 2019 PSU
Awards, our named executive officers were eligible to earn the units underlying and subject to these awards
to the extent that we achieved the pre-established performance threshold for net new ACV for fiscal 2019 as
determined as of the end of the fiscal year, subject to earning a greater number of units for increased
achievement above the target performance level.

Results of Fiscal 2019 PSU Awards

In September 2019, our net new ACV results for fiscal 2019 were presented to the compensation
committee. After reviewing and analyzing these results, the compensation committee certified that, for the
performance period ended July 31, 2019, our net new ACV results for the year did not meet the threshold
performance level established for the Fiscal 2019 PSU Awards. Consequently, none of the shares of our
common stock subject to the Fiscal 2019 PSU awards were earned by our named executive officers and the
awards were forfeited.

The equity awards granted to our named executive officersin fiscal 2019 are set forth in the “Fiscal
2019 Summary Compensation Table” and the “Fiscal 2019 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table” below.
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Health and Welfare Benefits

Our named executive officers are eligible to receive the same employee benefits that are generally
availabletoall employees, subject tothe satisfaction of certain eligibility requirements. Thesebenefitsinclude
medical, dental, and vision insurance, business travel insurance, an employee assistance program, health
and dependent care flexible spending accounts, basic life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment
insurance, short-term and long-term disability insurance and reimbursement for mobile phone coverage.

We maintain a tax-qualified retirement plan, or the 401(k) plan, that provides eligible employees,
including our named executive officers, with an opportunity to savefor retirement on atax-advantaged basis.
Eligible employees are able to participate in the 401(k) Plan as of the first day of the month following the
date they meet the plan’s eligibility requirements, and participants are able to defer up to 100% of their
eligible compensation subject to applicable annual limits as set under the Internal Revenue Code. All
participants' interestsin their deferrals are 100% vested when contributed. Through the end of fiscal 2019,
we have not made any matching contributions to the 401(k) plan to date.

The 401(k) Plan isintended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code with
the plan’srelated trust intended to be tax-exempt under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Asa
tax-qualified retirement plan, contributions to our 401(k) Plan and earnings on those contributions are not
taxable to our employees until distributed from the plan.

We design our empl oyee benefits programsto be aff ordable and competitiveinrelation to the market
aswell ascompliant with applicablelawsand practices. We adjust our employee benefits programsas needed
based upon regular monitoring of applicable laws and practices and the competitive market.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

Currently, we do not view perquisites or other personal benefits as a significant component of our
executive compensation program. Accordingly, we do not provide significant perquisites or other personal
benefitsto our named executive officers, except asgenerally made availableto our employeesor in situations
where we believe it is appropriate to assist an individual in the performance of his or her duties, to make
him or her more efficient and effective, and for recruitment and retention purposes. During fiscal 2019, none
of our named executive officers received perquisites or other personal benefits that were, in the aggregate,
$10,000 or more for any individual.

We have in the past and may in the future, we may provide perquisites or other persona benefitsin
limited circumstances, such as those described in the preceding paragraph. All future practices with respect
to perquisites or other personal benefitswill be approved and subject to periodic review by the compensation
committee.

Employment Arrangements

We entered into written employment agreement with our CEO and employment offer letters with
our other named executive officers in connection with their employment with us. We believe that these
arrangements were necessary to induce these individual sto forego other employment opportunities or leave
their then-current employer for the uncertainty of ademanding positionin anew and unfamiliar organization.

In filling each of our executive positions, our board of directors or the compensation committee, as
applicable, recognized that it would need to devel op competitive compensation packagesto attract qualified
candidates in a dynamic labor market. At the same time, our board of directors and the compensation
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committee were sensitive to the need to integrate new executive officers into the executive compensation
structure that we were seeking to devel op, balancing both competitive and internal equity considerations.

Each of these arrangements provides for “at will” employment (meaning that either we or the
executive officer may terminate the employment relationship at any time without cause) and sets forth the
initial compensation arrangements for the executive officer, including their base salary, target annual cash
bonus opportunity (expressed as fixed amount or as a percentage of his or her base salary), participation in
our employee benefit programs, eligibility for future equity awards, and reimbursement for all reasonable
and necessary business expenses.

In addition, in the case of our named executive officers, their employment offer letters and other
agreements provide that the executive officer will be eligible to receive certain severance payments and
benefits in connection with certain terminations of employment. These post-employment compensation
arrangements are discussed in “ Post-Employment Compensation” below.

For detailed descriptions of the employment arrangements with our named executive officers, see
“Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” below.

Post-Employment Compensation

The employment offer letterswith certain of our named executive officersprovide them with certain
protection in the event of their termination of employment other than for “cause,” death, or “disability” (as
such terms are defined in the employment offer letters). In addition, our named executive officers, are
participants in our Change of Control and Severance Policy, or the Severance Policy, which provides for
certain protections in the event of atermination of employment in connection with a change in control of
the Company. We believe that these protections were necessary to induce these individuals to leave their
former employment for the uncertainty of a demanding position in a new and unfamiliar organization and
help from aretention standpoint and to retain their services on an ongoing basis.

These arrangements provide reasonable compensation to a named executive officer if he or she
leaves our employ under certain circumstancesto facilitate hisor her transition to new employment. Further,
in someinstances we seek to mitigate any potential employer liability and avoid future disputes or litigation
by requiring a departing named executive officer to sign a separation and rel ease agreement acceptable to
us as a condition to receiving post-employment compensation payments or benefits. We aso believe that
these arrangements provided by the Severance Policy help maintain their continued focus and dedication to
their assigned duties to maximize stockholder value if there is a potentia transaction that could involve a
change in control of the Company.

Under the Severance Policy, al payments and benefits in the event of a change in control of the
Company are payable only if there is a subsequent loss of employment by a named executive officer (a so-
called “double-trigger” arrangement). In the case of the accel eration of vesting of outstanding equity awards,
we use this double-trigger arrangement to protect against the loss of retention value following a changein
control of the Company and to avoid windfalls, both of which could occur if vesting of either equity or cash-
based awards accel erated automatically as aresult of the transaction.

Inthe event of achangein control of the Company, to the extent Section 280G or 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code is applicable to a named executive officer, such individual is entitled to receive either:

. payment of the full amounts specified in the policy to which he or sheis entitled; or
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. payment of such lesser amount that does not trigger the excise tax imposed by Section 4999,
whichever results in him or her receiving a higher amount after taking into account all
federal, state, and local income, excise and employment taxes.

We do not use excise tax payments (or “gross-ups’) relating to achange in control of the Company
and have no such obligations in place with respect to any of our named executive officers.

We believe that having in place reasonable and competitive post-employment compensation
arrangements, including in the event of a changein control of the Company, are essential to attracting and
retaining highly-qualified executive officers. The compensation committee does not consider the specific
amounts payable under the post-employment compensation arrangements when determining the annual
compensation for our named executive officers. We do believe, however, that these arrangements are
necessary to offer compensation packages that are competitive.

For detailed descriptions of the post-employment compensation arrangements with our named
executive officers, as well as an estimate of the potential payments and benefits payable under these
arrangements, see “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” below.

Other Compensation Policies
Hedging and Pledging Prohibitions

Under our Insider Trading Policy, our employees (including officers) and members of our board of
directors are prohibited from making short-sales and engaging in transactions in publicly-traded options,
such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to our securities. This latter prohibition
extends to any hedging or similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding our
securities. In addition, under our Insider Trading Palicy, certain of our employees (including officers) and
members of our board of directors are prohibited from using our securities as collateral for aloan or holding
our securitiesin amargin account.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

The compensation committee takes the applicable tax and accounting requirements into
consideration in designing and overseeing our executive compensation program.

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally places a $1 million limit on the amount of
compensation a public company can deduct in any one year for certain executive officers. While our
compensation committee considers tax deductibility as one factor in determining executive compensation,
our compensation committee also looks at other factorsin making its decisions, as noted above, and retains
the flexibility to award compensation that it determines to be consistent with the goals of our executive
compensation program even if the awards are not deductible by us for tax purposes.

Taxation of ““Parachute” Payments

Sections 280G and 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code provide that executive officers and directors
who hold significant equity interests and certain other service providers may be subject to significant
additional taxesif they receive payments or benefitsin connection with a change in control of the company
that exceeds certain prescribed limits, and that the company (or a successor) may forfeit a deduction on the
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amounts subject to this additional tax. We have not agreed to provide any executive officer, including any
named executive officer, with a “gross-up” or other reimbursement payment for any tax liability that the
executive officer might owe as aresult of the application of Sections 280G or 4999 of the Internal Revenue
Code.

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code imposes additional significant taxesin the event that an
executive officer, director or service provider receives “deferred compensation” that does not satisfy the
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. Although we do not maintain a traditional
nonqualified deferred compensation plan for our executive officers, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue
Code does apply to certain severance arrangements, bonus arrangements and equity awards, and we have
structured all such arrangements and awards in a manner to either avoid or comply with the applicable
requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The compensation committee takes accounting considerations into account in designing
compensation plans and arrangements for our executive officers and other employees. Chief among these
isFinancial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (“ASC Topic 718"),
the standard which governs the accounting treatment of certain stock-based compensation. Among other
things, ASC Topic 718 requires usto record a compensation expense in our income statement for all equity
awards granted to our executive officers and other employees. This compensation expense is based on the
grant date “fair value” of the equity award and, in most cases, will be recognized ratably over the award's
requisite service period (which, generaly, will correspond to the award’'s vesting schedule). This
compensation expense is also reported in the compensation tables below, even though recipients may never
realize any value from their equity awards.

Employment Offer Letter with Remo Canessa

Under Mr. Canessa’'s employment offer letter, if we terminate Mr. Canessa's employment with us
other than for “cause,” death or “disability” outside of the period beginning on a “change of control” (as
such terms are defined in the Severance Policy) and ending 12 months following the change of control, he
will be entitled to receive:

. accel erated vesting asto the number of unvested shares subject to equity awardsthat otherwise
would have vested during the 6 months following the date his employment with us terminates
had he remained employed with us through such time;

. extension of the period of time in which he has to exercise his vested options until the date
that is 12 months following his termination date, subject to earlier termination on achangein
control (or similar transaction) pursuant to theterms of the equity plan under which the options
are granted; and

. severance pay at a rate equal to 100% of his base salary, as then in effect, for a period of
6 monthsfollowingthedateof such termination, payableinaccordancewith our normal payroll
practices.

To receive the severance benefits upon a qualifying termination, Mr. Canessa must sign and not
revoke arelease of claims within the time specified in his employment offer letter.
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Employment Offer Letter with Robert Schlossman

Under Mr. Schlossman’s employment offer letter, if we terminate Mr. Schlossman’s employment
with us other than for “ cause” or heresignsfor “good reason”, without a*“ change of control” (as such terms
are defined in the employment offer letter), he will be entitled to receive continuing severance pay at arate
equal to 100% of hisbase salary, asthenin effect, for aperiod of 3 monthsfrom the date of such termination,
to be paid periodically in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices.

To receive the severance benefits upon a qualifying termination, Mr. Schlossman must sign and not
revoke arelease of claims within the time specified in his employment offer letter.

Change of Control and Severance Policy

Our board of directors adopted a Change of Control and Severance Policy, or the Severance Palicy.
Each of our current executive officersis aparticipant in the Severance Policy. Under the Severance Palicy,
if we terminate a participant other than for “cause,” death or “disability” or the named executive officer
resigns for “good reason” during the period beginning on a* change of control” (as such terms are defined
in the Severance Policy) and ending 12 months following the change of control (which we refer to as the
change of control period), such named executive officer will be eligible to receive the following severance
benefits:

. 100% of the then-unvested shares subject to his then-outstanding equity awards will become
vested and exercisable, and in the case of equity awards with performance-based vesting, all
performance goals and other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at the specified
percentage of target levels;

. alump-sum payment equal to 100% of the greatest of (i) a participant's annual base salary as
in effect immediately prior to histermination, (ii) if the termination is aresignation for good
reason based on a material reduction in base salary, a participant's annual base salary asin
effectimmediately prior to such reduction, or (iii) aparticipant'sannual base salary asin effect
immediately prior to the change of control;

. a lump-sum payment equal to (i) 100% of a participant's target annual bonus for the fiscal
year in which the termination occurs plus (ii) apro-rated portion of such target annual bonus
reduced by any bonus payments made during such fiscal year; and

. alump-sum health benefit severance payment of $36,000.

To receive the severance benefits upon a qualifying termination, a named executive officer must
sign and not revoke a release of claims within the time specified in the Severance Policy. If we discover
after anamed executive officer receives severance benefitsthat groundsfor terminating him for cause existed,
such named executive officer will not receive any further severance benefits under the Severance Palicy,
and to the extent permitted by law, the named executive officer will be required to repay to us any severance
payments and benefits (or gain derived from such payments and benefits) he received under the Severance
Policy.

If any of the payments or benefits provided for under the Severance Policy or otherwise payableto
anamed executive officer would constitute “ parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of
the Internal Revenue Code and would be subject to the related excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code, then the named executive officer will be entitled to receive either full payment of such
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payments and benefits or such lesser amount which would result in no portion of the benefits being subject
to the excise tax, whichever resultsin the greater amount of after-tax benefits to him.

In addition to the benefits described above, Mr. Canessa’'s 12-month extended post-termination
exercise period continues to apply for a qualified termination during the change of control period.

Fiscal Year 2018 Equity Incentive Plan and 2007 Stock Plan

Our Fiscal Year 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ 2018 Plan”) providesthat in the event of amerger
or change in control, as defined under our 2018 Plan, each outstanding award will be treated as the
administrator determines, without aparticipant’sconsent. Theadministrator isnot requiredtotreat all awards
or participants similarly.

In the event that a successor corporation or its parent or subsidiary does not assume or substitute an
equivalent award for any outstanding award, then such award will fully vest, all restrictions on such award
will lapse, all performance goals or other vesting criteria applicable to such award will be deemed achieved
at 100% of target levelsand all other termsand conditions met and such award will becomefully exercisable,
if applicable. If an option or stock appreciation right is not assumed or substituted, the administrator will
notify theparticipantinwriting or el ectronically that such option or stock appreciationright will beexercisable
for aperiod of time determined by the administrator inits sole discretion and the option or stock appreciation
right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

In the event of a change in control, with respect to awards granted to an outside director, his or her
options and stock appreciation rights, if any, will vest fully and become immediately exercisable, all
restrictions on his or her restricted stock and restricted stock units will lapse and all performance goals or
other vesting requirements for his or her performance shares and units will be deemed achieved at 100% of
target levels, and al other terms and conditions met.

Our 2007 Plan provides that, in the event of a merger or change in control, as defined under our
2007 Plan, each outstanding award may be assumed or substituted for an equivaent award. Inthe event that
awards are not assumed or substituted for, then the vesting of outstanding awards will be accelerated, and
stock optionswill becomeexercisableinfull prior to suchtransaction. Inaddition, if an optionisnot assumed
or substituted in the event of amerger or change in control, the administrator will notify the participant that
suchaward will befully vested and exercisablefor aspecified period prior to the transaction, and such award
will terminate upon the expiration of such period for no consideration, unless otherwise determined by the
administrator.

401(k) Plan

We maintain a tax-qualified retirement plan, or the 401(k) plan, that provides eligible employees
withanopportunity to savefor retirement onatax-advantaged basis. Eligibleemployeesareableto participate
in the 401(Kk) plan as of thefirst day of the month following the date they meet the 401(k) plan’s eigibility
requirements, and participantsareableto defer up to 100% of their €ligible compensation subject to applicable
annual Internal Revenue Code limits. All participants interests in their deferrals are 100% vested when
contributed. We have not made any matching contributions to the 401(k) plan to date.
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Fiscal 2019 Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents information regarding the compensation awarded to, earned by and paid
to each individual who served as one of our named executive officers during fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018, and
fiscal 2017.

Non-Equity
Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other

Name and Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Compensation Total

Position Year $) $) $)(2) % %) %) (%)

Jay Chaudhry 2019 23,660 — 5,556,000 — — — 5,579,660
Chief Executive 2018 96,500 — — — — 200,809 297,309
Officer

2017 — — — — — — —

Remo Canessa 2019 300,000 — 3,125,250 — — — 3,425,250
Chief Financial 2018 300,000 — — — 169,359 — 469,359
Officer

2017 146,591 72,313 — 2,161,320 — — 2,380,224

Amit Sinha(3) 2019 300,000 — 6,945,000 — — — 7,245,000
President of 2018 300,000 — — — 129,519 1,457 430,976
Research and
Development, Chief
Technology Officer

Majoj Apte(4) 2019 275,000 — 6,250,500 — — — 6,525,500
Chief Strategy
Officer

Robert Schlossman(5) 2019 275,000 — 3,472,500 — — — 3,747,500

Chief Legal Officer

(1) The amounts reported represent the grant date fair value of the awards granted to the named executive officers during
fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in
calculating the grant datefair value of the awardsreported in thiscolumn are set forthin Note 10 to our audited consolidated
financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended July 31, 2019. The awards
for fiscal year 2019 are comprised of (i) time-based RSU and (ii) PSU awards. The amounts shown in respect of the PSUs
represent the grant date fair value of the first of multiple tranches of the PSU award that was granted in October 2018
based upon the probable outcome of the fiscal 2019 performance condition as of the grant date. The grant date fair value
of the PSU awards granted in fiscal years 2019 assuming achievement of the maximum level of performance are: Mr.
Chaudhry, $8,334,000; Mr. Canessa $1,562,625; Dr. Sinha $3,472,500; Dr. Apte $3,125,250; and Mr. Schlossman
$1,736,250. These amounts do not necessarily correspond to the actual val ue recognized by our named executive officers.
For example, no PSUs were earned for fiscal year 2019.

(2) The amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock options granted to our named executive
officers, calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of
the awards reported in this column are set forth in Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended July 31, 2019. These amounts do not necessarily correspond
to the actual value recognized by the named executive officers.

(3) Dr. Sinhawas an executive officer but not a named executive officer for fiscal 2017.
(4) Dr. Apte was an executive officer but not a named executive officer for fiscal 2017 and 2018.

(5) Mr. Schlossman was an executive officer but not a named executive officer for fiscal 2017 and 2018.
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Fiscal 2019 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to al plan-based awards granted to

our named executive officers during fiscal 2019.

Estimated Possible Payouts under Estimated Possible Payouts under
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards (1) Equity Incentive Plan Awards (2)
All Other
Stock
Awards:
Number of
shares of Grant Date Fair Value
Stock or of Stock and Options
Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Units Awards
Name Grant Date ($) ($) ($) (#) (#) #) (6] (©]C)]

Jay Chaudhry - - - - - — - -
10/05/2018 — — — — 150,000 225,000 — 5,556,000
Remo Canessa — 150,000 225,000 — — — — —
10/05/2018 — — — — — — 56,250 (4) 2,083,500
10/05/2018 — — —_ — 28,125 42,188 - 1,041,750
Amit Sinha — 125,000 187,500 — — — — —
10/05/2018 — — —_ — - — 125,000 (5) 4,630,000
10/05/2018 — — — — 62,500 93,750 — 2,315,000
Manoj Apte — 100,000 150,000 — — — — —
10/05/2018 — — — — — — 112,500 (6) 4,167,000
10/05/2018 — — —_ — 56,250 84,375 - 2,083,500
Robert Schlossman — 75,000 112,500 — — — — —
10/05/2018 — — — — — 62,500 (7) 2,315,000
10/05/2018 — — — — 31,250 46,875 — 1,157,500
(1) These amounts reflect the fiscal 2019 target cash bonus amounts for each of our named executive officers under our

@

©)

(4)
©)

(6)

Incentive Compensation Plan. Mr. Chaudhry did not participate in the Incentive Compensation Plan. There are no
threshold bonus amounts under the Incentive Compensation Plan. As set forth in the Summary Compensation Table,
no bonuses were earned for fiscal 2019. As such, the amounts set forth do not represent actual compensation earned or
earnable by the named executive officers for fiscal 2019. For a description of the Incentive Compensation Plan, see
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis —Annual Cash Bonuses’ above.

These amounts reflect PSUs for the 2019 fiscal year performance period granted during the 2019 fiscal year to each of
our named executive officers under our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. The PSUswere eligible to be earned based on the
achievement of 2019 fiscal year ACV targets established by the compensation committee. There were no threshold
amountsfor the 2019 fiscal year performance period. The amounts set forth do not represent actual compensation earned
or earnable by the named executive officersfor fiscal 2019. For adescription of the 2019 fiscal year PSU program, see
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis —L ong-Term Incentive Compensation” above.

The amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock awards granted to our named executive
officersin fiscal 2019, calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant
date fair value are set forth in the notes to our consolidated financia statements included in the Annual Report. These
amounts do not necessarily correspond to the actual value recognized by our named executive officers.

The RSUsvest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 62,500 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (ii) 62,500 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 56,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (i) 56,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.
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(7) The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 31,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (ii) 31,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

Fiscal 2019 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

The following table provides information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named
executive officers as of July 31, 2019.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Market Plan
arke Awards: i .
'\éggﬁf{ig '\él;g:ﬁfgegf Number of Value of Number of  Equity Incentive
Underlying Underlying Shares or Shares or Unearned Plan Awards:
Unexercised Unexercised . Units of Units of Shares or Market Value of
Options Options Option Stock That ~ Stock That  Units That  Unearned Shares
P P Exercise Option Have Not Have Not Have Not or Units or That
Exercisable Unexercisable Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Have Not Vested
Name Grant Date ®) #) $) Date *) $)(1) #)
Jay Chaudhry 10/05/2018  (2) — — — — — — 150,000 12,640,500
10/05/2018  (3) — — — — — — 150,000 12,640,500
10/05/2018  (4) — — — — — — 150,000 12,640,500
10/05/2018 (5) — — — — — — 150,000 12,640,500
Remo Canessa 03/02/2017 (6) 530,000 — 5.82 03/02/2024 — — — —
10/05/2018  (7) — — — — 56,250 4,740,188 — —
10/05/2018  (8) — — — — — — 28,125 2,370,094
10/05/2018  (9) — — — — — — 28,125 2,370,094
Amit Sinha 01/29/2013 (10) 101,333 — 134 01/29/2020 — — — —
04/06/2017  (11) 138,891 194,442 593  04/06/2024 — — — —
10/05/2018 (12) — — — — 125,000 10,533,750 — —
10/05/2018 (13) — — — — — — 62,500 5,266,875
10/05/2018 (14) — — — — — — 62,500 5,266,875
Majoj Apte 04/03/2015  (10) 266,666 — 2.63  04/03/2022 — — — —
04/06/2017 (11) 97,227 136,106 5.93 04/06/2024 — — — —
10/05/2018 (15) — — — — 112,500 9,480,376 — —
10/05/2018 (13) — — — — — — 56,250 4,740,188
10/05/2018  (14) — — — — — — 56,250 4,740,188
Robert Schlossman 01/15/2016 (16) 230,000 — 440  01/15/2023 — — —
10/05/2018 (17) — — — — 62,500 5,266,876 — —
10/05/2018 (13) — — — — — — 31,250 2,633,438
10/05/2018 (14) — — — — — — 31,250 2,633,438

(1) Thiscolumn representsthe market value of the shares underlying the RSUs or PSUs, as applicable, as of July 31, 2019,
based on the closing price of our common stock, as reported on NASDAQ, of $84.27 per share on July 31, 2019.

(2) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest on September 15, 2019, or the first quarterly
vesting date after achievement has been certified. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of achievement, with
maximum achievement paying out at 150%. None of these PSUs were earned in fiscal 2019.

(3) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest on September 15, 2020, or the first quarterly
vesting date after achievement has been certified. Because the performance metrics for this award had not been
determined in FY 2019 (and hence, no grant date fair value could be determined), it was not included in the summary
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compensation table or grants of plan-based awards table above. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of
achievement, with maximum achievement paying out at 150%.

(4) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest on September 15, 2021, or the first quarterly
vesting date after achievement has been certified. Because the performance metrics for this award had not been
determined in FY 2019 (and hence, no grant date fair value could be determined), it was not included in the summary
compensation table or grants of plan-based awards table above. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of
achievement, with maximum achievement paying out at 150%.

(5) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest on September 15, 2022, or the first quarterly
vesting date after achievement has been certified. Because the performance metrics for this award had not been
determined in FY 2019 (and hence, no grant date fair value could be determined), it was not included in the summary
compensation table or grants of plan-based awards table above. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of
achievement, with maximum achievement paying out at 150%.

(6) Theoption issubject to an early exercise provision and isimmediately exercisable. One-fourth of the shares subject to
the option vested on February 6, 2018 and 1/48 of the shares vest monthly thereafter.

(7) TheRSUsvest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

(8) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on
December 15, 2020. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of achievement, with maximum achievement paying
out at 150%. None of these PSUs were earned in fiscal year 2019.

(9) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on
December 15, 2020. Because the performance metrics for this award had not been determined in FY 2019 (and hence,
no grant datefair value could be determined), it was not included in the summary compensation table or grants of plan-
based awards table above. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of achievement, with maximum achievement
paying out at 150%.

(10) Shares subject to the option are fully vested and immediately exercisable.
(11) One-fourth of the shares subject to the option vested on November 1, 2018 and 1/48 of the sharesvest monthly thereafter.

(12) The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 62,500 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (ii) 62,500 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

(13) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on
December 15, 2019. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of achievement, with maximum achievement paying
out at 150%. None of these PSUs were earned in fiscal year 2019.

(14) Upon achievement of specified performance metrics, earned PSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on
December 15, 2020. Because the performance metrics for this award had not been determined in FY 2019 (and hence,
no grant datefair value could be determined), it was not included in the summary compensation table or grants of plan-
based awards table above. Amounts reported are at 100% target level of achievement, with maximum achievement
paying out at 150%.

(15) The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 56,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (ii) 56,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.

(16) One-fourth of the shares subject to the option vested on January 14, 2017 and 1/48 of the shares vest monthly thereafter.

(17) The RSUs vest as follows: (i) 31,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2019
and (ii) 31,250 RSUs vest in 16 equal quarterly installments beginning on December 15, 2020.
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Fiscal 2019 Option Exercises Table

The following table presents, for each of our named executive officers, the shares of our common
stock that were acquired upon the exercise of stock options and the related value realized upon exercise
during fiscal 2019. No RSUs held by our named executive officers vested in fiscal 2019.

Option Awards

Number of Shares

Acquired on Exercise Value Realized on Exercise
Name #) ($)(1)
Jay Chaudhry — —
Remo Canessa 220,000 13,690,600
Amit Sinha — —
Manoj Apte — —
Robert Schlossman 200,000 9,199,950

(1) The value realized on exercise is pre-tax and represents the difference between the market price of our company's
common stock on the date of exercise less the option exercise price paid for those shares, multiplied by the number of
shares for which the option was exercised.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The tables below quantify (i) the potential payments to Messrs. Canessa and Schlossman under the
termsof the Severance Policy in the event of aqualifying termination of employment that isnot in connection
with a change in control of the Company and (ii) the potential payments to our named executive officers
under thetermsof the Severance Policy in the event of aqualifying termination of employment in connection
with a change in control of the Company. The amounts shown assume that the change in control and/or
termination of employment occurred on July 31, 2019, the last business day of fiscal 2019. The values
reflected also assume that the payments and benefits to our named executive officers are not reduced by
virtue of the provision in the Severance Policy relating to Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code.

Potential Payments Upon Termination Not in Connection with a Change in Control

Value of Accelerated Equity

Awards
Salary Restricted
Severance Stock Units Options Total
Named Executive Officer %) (&) %)) %)
Mr. Canessa 150,000 — 9,806,250 9,956,250
Mr. Schlossman 68,750 — — 68,750

(1) These amounts reflect the aggregate market value of the unvested shares of our common stock underlying
outstanding options. The aggregate market value is equal to (i) the product obtained by multiplying (x) the
number of unvested shares of our common stock subject to vesting of outstanding optionsas of July 31, 2019,
by (y) $84.27 (the closing market price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on July 31,
2019, the last trading day in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019), minus (ii) the aggregate exercise price for
such unvested shares.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination in Connection with a Change in Control

Value of Accelerated Equity

Awards
Health
Benefit
Salary Bonus Restricted Severance
Severance Severance Stock Units Options Payments Total
Named Executive Officer %) $) Q) $)2 %) %)

Mr. Chaudhry 23,660 — 50,562,000 — 36,000 50,621,660
Mr. Canessa 300,000 300,000 9,480,375 31,053,177 36,000 41,169,552
Mr. Sinha 300,000 250,000 21,067,500 15,232,821 36,000 36,886,321
Mr. Apte 275,000 200,000 18,960,750 10,662,936 36,000 30,134,686
Mr. Schlossman 275,000 150,000 10,533,750 4,659,137 36,000 15,653,887

(1) These amounts reflect the aggregate market value of the unvested shares of our common stock underlying outstanding
restricted stock unit awards. The aggregate market value is equal to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the number of
unvested shares of our common stock subject to outstanding restricted stock unit awards as of July 31, 2019, by (ii) $84.27
(the closing market price of our common stock on the Nasdag Global Select Market on July 31, 2019, the last trading day
inthefiscal year ended July 31, 2019). For performance-based restricted stock unit awards, the assumed number of unvested
sharesis equa to the target number of shares subject to such award, which includes the target number of shares subject to
the portions of such awards that had afiscal 2019 performance period since those portions of the awards were outstanding
as of July 31, 2019 (even though those portions of the awards were subsequently forfeited due to the failure to achieve the

relevant performance objectives).

(2) These amounts reflect the aggregate market value of the unvested shares of our common stock underlying outstanding
options. The aggregate market valueis equal to (i) the product obtained by multiplying (x) the number of unvested shares
of our common stock subject to outstanding options as of July 31, 2019, by (y) $84.27 (the closing market price of our
common stock on the Nasdag Global Select Market on July 31, 2019, the last trading day in the fiscal year ended July 31,
2019), minus (ii) the aggregate exercise price for such unvested shares.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of July 31, 2019 with respect to shares of our
common stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Number of Issuance
Securities to be Under Equity
Issued upon Compensation
Exercise of Weighted Plans
Outstanding Average (Excluding
Options, Exercise Price of Securities
Restricted Outstanding Reflected in the
Stock Units Options First
and Rights and Rights Column)
Plan Category (#) %) #
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
2007 Stock Plan (1) 8,853,237 7.13 —
Fiscal Year 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (2)(3) 5,620,328 41.25 15,012,216
Fiscal Year 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (4) — — 2,266,337
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
TOTAL 14,473,565 7.16 17,278,553

(1) Asaresult of the adoption of the 2018 Plan, we no longer grant awards under the 2007 Plan; however, all outstanding options
issued pursuant to the 2007 Plan continue to be governed by their existing terms. To the extent that any such awardsareforfeited
or lapse unexercised or are repurchased, the shares of common stock subject to such awards will become available for issuance
under the 2018 Plan.

(2) Our 2018 Plan provides that the number of shares available for issuance under the 2018 Plan will be increased on the first day
of each fiscal year, in an amount equal to the least of (i) 12,700,000 shares, (ii) five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of
common stock on the last day of theimmediately preceding fiscal year or (iii) such other amount as our board of directors may
determine.

(3) Includes all PSUs granted in fiscal 2019 which consists of (i) fiscal 2019 PSUs at the maximum payout (no PSUs were paid
out for fiscal 2019 resulting in 696,369 PSUs being forfeited) (ii) fiscal 2020, fiscal 2021, fiscal 2022 at target (100%), as no
metrics had been determined as of fiscal 2019 year-end.

(4) Our Fisca Year 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") provides that the number of shares available for issuance
under the ESPP will be increased on the first day of each fiscal year, in an amount equal to the least of (i) 2,200,000 shares,
(ii) one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or
(iii) such other amount as may be determined by the administrator of the ESPP.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the section titled “ Executive
Compensation” with management. Based on such review and discussion, the compensation committee
has recommended to the board of directors that the section titled “ Executive Compensation” be included
in this proxy statement.

Respectfully submitted by the members of the compensation committee of the board of directors:
Andrew Brown (Chair)

Karen Blasing
Charles Giancarlo
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our
common stock as of November 15, 2019 for:

. each person, or group of affiliated persons, who beneficially owned more than 5% of our
common stock;

. each of our named executive officers;
. each of our directors and nominees for director; and
. all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.

Wehavedetermined beneficial ownershipinaccordancewiththerulesof the SEC andtheinformation
isnot necessarily indicative of beneficial ownershipfor any other purpose. Unlessotherwiseindicated below,
to our knowledge, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole investment power
with respect to all sharesthat they beneficially owned, subject to community property lawswhere applicable.

We have based our calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership on 127,939,822 shares of
our common stock outstanding as of November 15, 2019. We have deemed shares of our common stock
subject to stock optionsthat are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of November 15, 2019,
to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the stock option for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of that person. We did not deem these shares outstanding, however,
for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
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Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o

Zscder, Inc., 110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose, California 95134.

Number of Percentage
Shares of Shares
Beneficially Beneficially
Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Owned
5% Stockholders:
Ajay Mangal, as trustee(1) 29,824,532 233
FMR, LLC(2) 6,410,165 5.0
Named Executive Officers, Directors and Director Nominee:
Jay Chaudhry(3) 26,802,039 21.0
Remo Canessa(4) 782,554 *
Amit Sinha(5) 1,153,913 *
Manoj Apte(6) 622,146 *
Raobert Schlossman(7) 207,419 *
Karen Blasing(8) 242,553 *
Andrew Brown(9) 178,628 *
Scott Darling(10) 67,095 *
Charles Giancarlo(11) 362,928 *
Nehal Raj(12) 1,382 *
David Schneider(13) 2,500 *
All current executive officers and directors as a group (11 persons)(14) 30,420, 657 238

@

@

©)

4

©)

Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Consists of (i) 21,566,041 shares held of record by The CICP Trust for which Mr. Mangal serves as trustee and (ii) 8,258,491
shares held of record by The CKS Trust for which Mr. Mangal serves as trustee. The beneficiaries of The CICP Trust and The
CKS Trust are members of Jay Chaudhry’s family. The address for The CIJCP Trust and The CKS Trust is ¢/o The Goldman
Sachs Trust Company, 200 Bellevue Parkway, Suite 250, Wilmington, Delaware 19809.

Based solely on Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019. Consists of 6,410,165 sharesheld of record in accounts
managed by direct or indirect subsidiaries of FMR LLC. Abigail P. Johnson is a Director, the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, and the President of FMR LLC. Members of the Johnson family, including Abigail P. Johnson, are the predominant
owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B vating common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of
FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other Series B stockholders have entered into a stockholders’ voting agreement
under which all Series B voting common shareswill be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common
shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common sharesand the execution of the stockholders' voting agreement,
members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form acontrolling group with
respect to FMR LLC. Neither FMR LLC nor Ms. Johnson has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned
directly by the various investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the Fidelity Funds),
advised by Fidelity Management & Research Company (“FMR Co"), awholly owned subsidiary of FMR LLC, which power
residesintheFidelity Funds Boardsof Trustees. FMR Co carriesout thevoting of the sharesunder written guidelinesestablished
by the Fidelity Funds' Boards of Trustees. The address for FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

Consists of (i) 2,177,994 shares held of record by Mr. Chaudhry, (ii) 24,617,379 shares held of record by Jyoti Chaudhry and
(iii) 6,666 sharesheld of record by P. Jyoti Chaudhry Family Trust dated March 1, 2000 for which Surjit Kaur serves astrustee.

Consists of (i) 252,554 shares held of record by Mr. Canessa and (ii) 530,000 shares subject to options exercisable within 60
days of November 15, 2019, of which 259,171 are fully vested.

Consists of (i) 2,664 shares held of record by Dr. Sinha, (ii) 566,702 shares held of record by the Sinha Revocable Trust dated
September 24, 2011 for which Dr. Sinha serves as trustee, (iii) 298,749 shares held of record by the ADRR Trust for which
Neha Kumar serves as trustee, (iv) 281,892 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of November 15, 2019, all of
which are fully vested and (v) 3,906 shares i ssuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days of November 15, 2019.
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(10)

(11)

(12)

Consists of (i) 2,573 shares held of record by Dr. Apte, (ii) 36,022 shares of record by the Akshay Kosh Family Trust dated
December 18, 2006 for which Dr. Apte and his spouse serve as trustees, (iii) 132 shares held of record directly by Dr. Apte's
mother-in-law, (iv) 132 shares held of record directly by Dr. Apte's father-in-law, (v) 138,594 shares held of record directly by
the Manoj Apte 2017 GRAT for which Dr. Apte serves as trustee, (vi) 141,784 shares held of record directly by the Lalita
Godbole 2017 GRAT for which Dr. Apte's spouse serves as trustee, (vii) 299,394 shares subject to options exercisable within
60 days of November 15, 2019, all of which are fully vested and (viii) 3,515 issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days of
November 15, 2019.

Consists of (i) 30,466 shares held of record by Mr. Schlossman, (ii) 175,000 shares subject to options exercisable within 60
days of November 15, 2019, all of which are fully vested and (iii) 1,953 shares issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days
of November 15, 20109.

Consists of (i) 446 shares held of record by Ms. Blasing, (ii) 55,624 shares held of record by The Blasing Family Revocable
Trust U/A dtd 12/22/2005 for which Ms. Blasing serves astrustee and (iii) 185,334 shares subject to options exercisable within
60 days of November 15, 2019, of which 127,002 shares are fully vested and (iv) 1,149 sharesissuable upon vesting of RSUs
within 60 days of November 15, 2019.

Consists of (i) 4,633 shares held of record by Mr. Brown, (ii) 42,513 shares held of record by the Andrew W.F. Brown 2017
Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, for which Mr. Brown's spouse serves as a trustee and (iii) 130,333 shares subject to options
exercisable within 60 days of November 15, 2018, of which 125,757 are vested and (iv) 1,149 shares issuable upon vesting of
RSUs within 60 days of November 15, 2019.

Consists of (i) 65,946 shares held of record by Mr. Darling and (ii) 1,149 sharesissuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days
of November 15, 20109.

Consists of (i) 183,307 shares held of record by Mr. Giancarlo, of which 53,471 may be repurchased by us at the original
exercise price asof November 15, 2019, (ii) 125,000 sharesare held of record by The CharlesH. & Dianne G. Giancarlo Family
Trust U/D/T 11/2/98 for which Mr. Giancarlo serves astrustee, (iii) 26,736 sharesheld of record by The2012 Marielle Christina
Giancarlo Trust UAD 12/26/12 for which Mr. Giancarlo serves as a trustee, (iv) 26,736 shares held of record by The 2012
Gianna Marie Giancarlo Trust UAD 12/26/12 for which Mr. Giancarlo serves as a trustee and (v) 1,149 shares issuable upon
vesting of RSUs within 60 days of November 15, 2019.

Consists of (i) 233 shares held of record by Mr. Rgj and (ii) 1,149 shares issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days of
November 15, 2019.

(13) Consists of (i) 2,250 shares held of record by Mr. Schneider and (ii) 250 shares issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days

(14)

of November 15, 2019.

Consists of (i) 28,803,585 shares beneficially owned by our current executive officers and directors, of which 53,471 shares
may be repurchased by us at the original exercise price as of November 15, 2019, (ii) 1,601,953 shares subject to options
exercisable within 60 days of November 15, 2019, and (iii) 15,119 shares issuable upon vesting of RSUs within 60 days of
November 15, 2019.
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RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

We describe below transactions and series of similar transactions, since the beginning of our last
fiscal year, to which we were a party or will be a party, in which:

. the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000; and

. any of our directors, nominees for director, executive officers or beneficial holders of more
than 5% of our outstanding capital stock, or any immediate family member of, or person
sharing the household with, any of theseindividuals or entities (each, arelated person), had
or will have adirect or indirect material interest.

Investors’ Rights Agreement

We are party to an amended and restated investors’ rights agreement dated July 24, 2015 which
provides, among other things, that certain holders of our capital stock, including (i) entities affiliated with
Mr. Chaudhry, (ii) entities affiliated with Mr. Chaudhry’s wife, Jyoti Chaudhry, who was a member of our
board of directors at the time we entered into such investors' rights agreement, (iii) entities affiliated with
Lane Bess, who was a member of our board of directors at the time we entered into such investors' rights
agreement, and (iv) entities affiliated with Kailash Kailash, who was a member of our board of directors at
thetimewe entered into such investors' rights agreement, have the right to demand that wefile aregistration
statement or request that their shares of our capital stock be covered by aregistration statement that we are
otherwise filing.

Transactions with Stockholders

From time to time, stockholders, including those that may beneficially own more than 5% of our
outstanding capital stock subscribeto, license or otherwise purchase, inthenormal course of business, certain
of our products and services. These transactions are negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and are subject to
review under the Company’s policiesand proceduresfor rel ated person transactions described bel ow. During
fiscal year 2019, in the ordinary course of business, we provided FMR, LLC (together with its affiliates,
“Fidelity”), agreater than 5% beneficial holder of our capital stock, with certain services and products. The
aggregate revenue recognized by usin fiscal year 2019 for such services and products exceeded $120,000.
The transaction with Fidelity was entered into on an arm’s-length basis, contains customary terms and
conditions and was approved under the Company’srelated person transactions policy. In the future, we may
provide, in the ordinary course of business, additional services and products to Fidelity.

Other Agreements

In addition to the indemnification required in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
and amended and restated bylaws, we have entered into an indemnification agreement with each member
of our board of directors and each of our officers. These agreements provide for the indemnification of our
directors and officers for certain expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any action, suit,
proceeding or alternative dispute resolution mechanism, or hearing, inquiry or investigation that may |ead
to the foregoing, to which they are a party, or are threatened to be made a party, by reason of the fact that
they are or were adirector, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of the Company, or any of our subsidiaries,
by reason of any action or inaction by them while serving as an officer, director, agent or fiduciary, or by
reason of the fact that they were serving at our request as a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of
another entity. In the case of an action or proceeding by or in the right of the Company or any of our
subsidiaries, noindemnificationwill be provided for any claim where acourt determinesthat theindemnified
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party is prohibited from receiving indemnification. We believe that these charter and bylaw provisions and
indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers.

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers that, anong
other things, provide for certain severance and change of control benefits. For adescription of employment
agreements with our named executive officers, see “Executive Compensation—Executive Employment
Agreements.”

We have granted stock options to our named executive officers, other executive officersand certain
of our directors. See “Executive Compensation—Executive Employment Agreements.”

Other than as described above, since August 1, 2018, we have not entered into any transactions, nor
are there any currently proposed transactions, between us and a related party where the amount involved
exceeds, or would exceed, $120,000, and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest.

We believe the terms of the transactions described above were comparable to terms we could have
obtained in arm’s-length dealings with unrelated third parties.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

We have adopted aformal written policy providing that our executive officers, directors, nominees
for election as directors, beneficia owners of more than 5% of any class of our common stock and any
member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, is not permitted to enter into a related-
party transaction with us without the consent of our audit committee, subject to the exceptions described
below.

In approving or rejecting any such proposal, our audit committee is to consider the relevant facts
and circumstances available and deemed relevant to our audit committee, including, whether the transaction
ison terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or
similar circumstances, and the extent of the related party’sinterest in the transaction. Our audit committee
has determined that certain transactions will not require audit committee approval, including certain
employment arrangements of executive officers, director compensation, transactions with another company
at which arelated party’s only relationship is as a non-executive employee, director or beneficial owner of
lessthan 10% of that company’s shares and the aggregate amount involved does not exceed $120,000 in any
fiscal year, transactions where a related party’s interest arises solely from the ownership of our common
stock and all holders of our common stock received the same benefit on a pro rata basis and transactions
available to al employees generally.



OTHER MATTERS
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that our executive officers and directors, and persons
who own more than 10% of our common stock, file reports of ownership and changes of ownership with
the SEC. Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish
us with copies of all Section 16(a) formsthey file.

SEC regulations require us to identify in this proxy statement anyone who filed a required report
late during the most recent fiscal year. Based on our review of formswe received, or written representations
from reporting persons stating that they were not required to file these forms, we believe that during our
fiscal year ended July 31, 2019, all Section 16(a) filing requirements were satisfied on atimely basis with
the exception that Dr. Sinha did not timely file a Form 4 with respect to one transaction occurring in May
2019, but such Form 4 was subsequently filed.

Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report and SEC Filings

Our financia statements for our fiscal year ended July 31, 2019 areincluded in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 18, 2019 (File No. 001-38413). This proxy statement and
our Annual Report are posted in the Financia Information section of the Investors webpage at http://
ir.zscaler.com and are available from the SEC at its website at www.sec.gov. You may also obtain a copy
of our annual report without charge by sending awritten request to Zscaler, Inc., Attention: Investor Relations,
110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose, California 95134.

Company Website

We maintain a website at www.zscaler.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed
through, our websiteis not intended to beincorporated by referenceinto this proxy statement, and references
to our website address in this proxy statement are inactive textual references only.
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PROPOSALS OF STOCKHOLDERS FOR FISCAL 2020 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockhol ders who wish to present proposalsfor inclusion in the proxy materialsto be distributed in
connection with next year’sannual meeting must submit their proposals so that they arereceived at Zscaler’'s
principal executive officesno later than July 30, 2020. Pursuant to therules promulgated by the SEC, smply
submitting a proposal does not guarantee that it will be included.

Inorder to be properly brought beforethefiscal 2020 annual meeting of stockholders, astockholder’s
notice of a matter the stockholder wishes to present, or the person or persons the stockholder wishes to
nominate as a director, must be delivered to the Secretary of Zscaler at its principal executive offices not
less than 45 nor more than 75 days before the first anniversary of the date on which Zscaler first mailed its
proxy materials or a notice of availability of proxy materials (whichever is earlier) for the preceding year’s
annual meeting. Asaresult, any notice given by a stockholder pursuant to these provisions of our bylaws
must be received no earlier than September 13, 2020, and no later than October 13, 2020, unless our annual
meeting date occurs more than 30 days before or 60 days after January 10, 2021. In that case, we must
receive proposals not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of the fiscal 2020
annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of the
annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which we first make a public announcement of the date
of the meeting.

To bein proper form, a stockholder’s notice must include the specified information concerning the
proposal or nomineeasdescribedinour bylaws. A stockhol der whowishesto submit aproposal or nomination
isencouraged to seek independent counsel about our bylawsand SEC requirements. Zscaler will not consider
any proposal or nomination that is not timely or otherwise does not meet the bylaws and SEC requirements
for submitting a proposal or nomination.

Notices of intention to present proposals at the fiscal 2020 annual meeting of stockholders must be
addressed to: Secretary, Zscaler, Inc., 110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose, California 95134. We reserve the
right to reject, rule out of order, or take other appropriate action with respect to any proposal that does not
comply with these and other applicable requirements.

* * %

The board of directors does not know of any other matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting.
If any additional matters are properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the persons named on the enclosed
proxy card will have discretion to vote the shares of common stock they represent in accordance with their
own judgment on such matters.

It isimportant that your shares of common stock be represented at the Annual Meeting, regardiess
of the number of sharesthat you hold. You are, therefore, urged to vote by telephone, by using the Internet
or by mail at your earliest convenience, asinstructed onthe Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
San Jose, California
November 27, 2019
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including but not limited to, statements regarding our financial outlook and market
positioning. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date they were first issued and were based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections as well as the beliefs and assumptions of management. The words

"nn nn nn nn nn "o

"believe," "may," "will," "potentially," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate," "intend," "could," "would," "project," "plan,"

"expect" and similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes are intended to identify forward-
looking statements.

These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

»  our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, gross profit
or gross margin, operating expenses (including changes in sales and marketing, research and development and
general and administrative expenses), and our ability to achieve, and maintain, future profitability;

»  market acceptance of our cloud platform;

+ the effects of increased competition in our markets and our ability to compete effectively;

e our ability to maintain the security and availability of our cloud platform;

e our ability to maintain and expand our customer base, including by attracting new customers;

*  our ability to develop new solutions, or enhancements to our existing solutions, and bring them to market in a

timely manner;
« market acceptance of any new solutions or enhancements to our existing solutions;
« anticipated trends, growth rates and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;
»  our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth and associated investments;
*  beliefs about and objectives for future operations;
*  beliefs about and objectives for future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships and alliances;
*  our relationships with third parties, including channel partners;
«  our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property rights;
e our ability to successfully defend litigation brought against us;
*  our ability to successfully expand in our existing markets and into new markets;
« sufficiency of cash to meet cash needs for at least the next 12 months;

e our ability to comply with laws and regulations that currently apply or become applicable to our business both
in the United States and internationally;

*  beliefs about the impacts of legal and geopolitical developments upon our business;
» the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel; and

« the future trading prices of our common stock.



These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those
described in "Risk Factors" elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and
rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all
risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors,
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light
of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the
forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on
which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new
information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.



PART 1

Item 1. Business

Overview
Zscaler’s mission is to provide fast, secure and reliable access to information no matter where it lives.

We were incorporated in 2007, during the early stages of cloud adoption and mobility, based on a vision that the
internet would become the new corporate network as the cloud becomes the new data center. We predicted that with rapid
cloud adoption and increasing workforce mobility, traditional perimeter security approaches would provide inadequate
protection for users and data and an increasingly poor user experience. We pioneered a security cloud that represents a
fundamental shift in the architectural design and approach to network security.

Enterprise applications are rapidly moving to the cloud to achieve greater IT agility, a faster pace of innovation and
lower costs. Organizations are increasingly relying on internet destinations for a range of business activities, adopting new
external SaaS applications for critical business functions and moving their internally managed applications to the public
cloud, or IaaS. Enterprise users now expect to be able to seamlessly access applications and data, wherever they are hosted,
from any device, anywhere in the world. We believe these trends are indicative of the broader digital transformation agenda,
as businesses increasingly succeed or fail based on their IT outcomes.

We believe that securing the on-premises corporate network to protect users and data is becoming increasingly
irrelevant in a cloud and mobile-first world where organizations depend on the internet, a network they do not control and
cannot secure, to access critical applications that power their businesses. We pioneered a new approach to security that
connects the right user to the right application, regardless of network. Our cloud platform, which delivers security as a
service, eliminates the need for traditional on-premises security appliances that are difficult to maintain and require
compromises between security, cost and user experience. Our cloud platform incorporates the security functionality needed to
enable users to safely utilize authorized applications and services based on an organization’s policies. Our solution is a
purpose-built, multi-tenant, distributed cloud security platform that secures access for users and devices to applications and
services, regardless of location.

Before our platform, the corporate data center served as the central hub of IT security, with a physical network
perimeter used to separate corporate users, devices and applications from the internet. Today, the network perimeter consists
of appliances that have become fundamentally less effective as applications, data, users and devices rapidly move off the
corporate network, making the notion of a corporate perimeter obsolete. In a world where more companies are shifting their
most critical IT assets to the cloud, cloud-first security is required. Our architecture is vastly different from the traditional
“hub-and-spoke” corporate perimeter, where traffic from branch offices is routed to centralized data centers for security
scanning and policy enforcement before reaching its destination. In contrast, our security cloud sits between an organization’s
users and devices, and the internet, inspecting traffic on a direct path to the destination. Our solutions enable customers to set
policies that follow users, so a consistent level of protection is applied no matter where users are located or how they are
connected to the internet. We provide all of this security at scale, processing approximately 70 billion internet requests per
day. Our platform eliminates the need for organizations to buy and manage a variety of appliances that need to be maintained
by a large number of highly skilled security personnel, who are expensive and in increasingly short supply.

Our multi-tenant architecture is distributed across over 150 data centers globally, which allows us to secure users
across 185 countries. Each day, we block over 100 million threats and perform over 120,000 unique security updates. Our
customers benefit from the network effect of our growing cloud because once a new threat is detected, it can be blocked for

users across our entire customer base within minutes.



Our customers protect their users by routing their internet traffic through our cloud platform. Some of the largest
enterprises and government agencies in the world rely on our solutions to help them accelerate their move to the cloud. We
have over 3,900 customers across all major geographies, with an emphasis on larger organizations, and we currently count
over 400 of the Forbes Global 2000 as customers. Our customers span every major industry, including airlines and
transportation, conglomerates, consumer goods and retail, financial services, healthcare, manufacturing, media and
communications, public sector and education, technology and telecommunications services.

We have experienced significant growth, with revenue increasing from $125.7 million in fiscal 2017 to $190.2 million
in fiscal 2018 to $302.8 million in fiscal 2019, representing year-over-year revenue growth of 51% and 59%, respectively.
We experienced net losses of $28.7 million, $33.6 million and $35.5 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017,
respectively. We expect we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future.

Our Solutions and Platform
Our purpose-built cloud security platform offers two principal services built natively in the cloud.
Zscaler Internet Access

Our Zscaler Internet Access solution, or ZIA, was designed to securely connect users to externally managed
applications, including SaaS applications and internet destinations regardless of device, location or network. Our ZIA
solution provides inline content inspection and firewall access controls across all ports and protocols to protect organizations
and users from external threats as well as protecting an organization’s data from leaking out. Policies follow the user to
provide identical protection on any device, regardless of location; any policy changes are enforced for users worldwide. Our
cloud security platform provides full inline content inspection of webpages to assess and correlate the risk of webpage
objects, continuously discovering and blocking sophisticated threats.

Our ZIA solution includes broad functionality, which we categorize by three areas:
Access Control

The access control functionality of our ZIA solution enforces access and usage policies to externally managed
applications, including SaaS application and internet destinations. This provides functionality that has traditionally been
provided by stand-alone point products.

. Cloud Firewall: Our cloud firewall was designed to protect users by inspecting internet traffic on all ports and
protocols, and it offers user level policies, application identification with deep packet inspection and intrusion
prevention.

. URL Filtering: Our URL filtering capability enables customers to enforce acceptable usage policies and protects
organizations from users visiting unauthorized websites or illegally downloading content that can increase
liability and impact their brand.

. Bandwidth Control: Our bandwidth control and traffic shaping capabilities ensure that business critical
applications are prioritized over non-business critical applications, improving productivity and user experience.
By enforcing quality of service in the cloud, our platform can optimize “last-mile” utilization of a customer’s
network, providing significant value.

. DNS Filtering: Our Domain Name System, or DNS, filtering solution provides a local DNS resolver and
enforces acceptable use policies.



Threat Prevention

Our second area of functionality, threat prevention, protects users from threats using a range of approaches and
techniques. Our robust threat prevention capabilities provide multiple layers of protection to prevent cyberattacks. We
provide functionality that traditionally has been offered by disparate, stand-alone products.

. Advanced Threat Protection: Our advanced protection solution delivers real-time protection from malicious
internet content like browser exploits, scripts, zero-pixel iFrames, malware and botnet callbacks. Over 120,000
unique security updates are performed every day to the Zscaler cloud to keep users protected. Once we detect a
new threat to a user, we block it for all users. We call this the “cloud security effect.”

. Cloud Sandbox: Our cloud sandbox enables enterprises to block zero-day exploits and advanced persistent
threats, or APTs, by analyzing unknown files for malicious behavior, and it can scale to every user regardless of
location. Our sandbox was designed and built to be multi-tenant and allows customers to determine which traffic
should be sent to the cloud sandbox. As an integrated cloud security platform, customers can set policies by users
and destinations to prevent patient-zero scenarios by holding, detonating and analyzing suspicious files in the
sandbox before being sent to the user.

. Anti-Virus: Our anti-virus technology uses a signature database of files and objects on the internet known to be
unsafe and runs traffic through multiple anti-virus engines in a single pass.

. DNS Security: Our DNS security blocks access to known malicious sites, including command and control sites,
and routes suspicious traffic to our threat detection engines for content inspection.

Data Protection

Our third area of functionality, data protection, prevents unauthorized sharing or exfiltration of confidential
information, reducing our customers’ business and compliance risk.

. Data Loss Protection: Our data loss protection enables enterprises to use standard or custom dictionaries using
efficient pattern-matching algorithms to easily scale to all users and traffic, including compressed or encrypted
traffic, to prevent, monitor or block unauthorized or sensitive data exfiltration. Our exact data match or EDM
functionality significantly improves the accuracy and efficacy of our data loss prevention solution by enabling our
customers to populate a custom database scaling to billions of unique fields. These fields may contain, for
example, personally identifiable information like credit card or social security numbers, that our customers want
to protect.

. Cloud Application Control: Our cloud application control allows enterprises to discover and granularly control
user access to known and unknown cloud applications. By doing SSL interception at scale, we provide malware
protection, data loss prevention and similar Cloud Access Security Broker, or CASB, functions that can be
performed inline, for specific sanctioned applications. Business policies can be defined with granular access
control for specified cloud applications, such as the ability to upload or download files or post comments or
videos based on different user or group identity. We partner with specific CASB vendors to extend their policy
controls and visibility of out-of-band cloud applications.

. File Type Controls: Our file type control allows policies to be defined that control which file types are allowed
to be downloaded and uploaded based on application, user, location and destination.



Zscaler Private Access

Our Zscaler Private Access solution, or ZPA, was designed to provide secure access to internally managed applications,

either hosted internally in data centers, private or public clouds. Our ZPA solution was designed around four key tenants that

fundamentally change the way users access internal applications:

connect users to applications without bringing users on the network;
never expose applications to the internet;
segment access to applications without relying on traditional approach of network segmentation; and

provide remote access over the internet without virtual private networks, or VPNs.

Our ZPA solution enforces a global policy engine that manages access to internally managed applications regardless of

location. If access is granted to a user, our ZPA solution connects the user’s device only to the authorized application without

exposing the identity or location of the application. Hence applications are not exposed to the internet, further limiting threat

exposure. This results in reduced cost and complexity, while offering better security and an improved user experience.

ZPA functionality falls in three major areas:

Secure Application Access: Our ZPA solution delivers seamless connectivity to internally managed applications
and assets whether they are in the cloud, enterprise data center, or both. Administrators can set global policies
from a single console, enabling policy-driven access that is agnostic to the network the users are on. By creating
seamless access to applications regardless of a user’s network, our ZPA solution subsumes the need for traditional
remote access VPNs, Secure Sockets Layer, or SSL, VPN, reverse proxies and other similar products.

Application Segmentation: This fundamentally new architecture provides capabilities that enable user and
application level segmentation, a vast improvement over traditional network segmentation. As each user-to-
application connection is segmented with microtunnels, each of which is a temporary session between a specific
user and a specific application, lateral movement across the network is prevented which significantly reduces
security risk. Similar to CASB application discovery reports for internet applications, our ZPA solution provides
granular discovery of internally managed applications to aid the creation of segmentation policies. Because our
ZPA solution sits on the application layer and is name- or domain-based, organizations can quickly and easily
identify the internally-managed applications that are running and then easily provision appropriate policies.
Microtunnels subsume the need for internal firewalls, which are required for protecting against lateral malware
propagation from machine to machine, and traditional network access control functionality since users are granted
access only to applications for which they have permission and are not granted full access to the network.

Application Protection: Our ZPA solution initiates and connects together outbound-only links between
authenticated users and internally managed applications using microtunnels. Access is provided to users without
bringing them onto the corporate network and without exposing applications to the internet. Internally managed
applications are not discoverable or identifiable. With no inbound connections and no public IP addresses, there is
no inbound attack surface and therefore no threat of distributed denial-of-service, or DDoS, attacks. With our
innovative approach, we subsume the need for a next-generation firewall. Similarly, by completely removing the
need for an exposed IP address or DNS to the internet, we subsume the functionality of DDoS mitigation systems.



The primary use cases for our ZPA solution includes:
. VPN replacement;
. providing non-employees with secure access to internal applications;

. direct-to-cloud access to internally managed applications hosted in public cloud environments, such as Microsoft
Azure, Amazon Web Services and Google Cloud Platform; and

. access to applications following a merger or acquisition by providing named users with access to named
applications, without the need to merge networks.

Our Technology and Architecture

Zscaler is driven by technology and innovation. We developed a highly scalable, multi-tenant, globally distributed
cloud capable of providing inline inspection that offers a full range of enterprise network security services. We designed and
built a purpose-built three-tier architecture starting with our core operating system and adding layers of security and
networking innovations over time. Our cloud platform is protected by more than 130 issued and pending patents. Our cloud is
distributed across more than 150 data centers on five continents and processes approximately 70 billion requests per day from
users across 185 countries.

The platform is designed to be resilient, redundant and high-performing. Our platform is built as software modules that
run on standard x86 platforms without any dependency on custom hardware. The platform modules are split into the control
plane (Zscaler Central Authority), the enforcement plane (Zscaler Enforcement Nodes) and the logging and statistics plane
(Zscaler Nanolog Servers) as described below:

. Zscaler Central Authority: The Zscaler Central Authority monitors our entire security cloud and provides a
central location for software and database updates, policy and configuration settings and threat intelligence. The
collection of Zscaler Central Authority instances together act like the brain of the cloud, and they are
geographically distributed for redundancy and performance.

. Zscaler Enforcement Nodes: Customer traffic gets directed to the nearest Zscaler Enforcement Node, where
security, management and compliance policies served by the Zscaler Central Authority are enforced. The Zscaler
Enforcement Node also incorporates our differentiated authentication and policy distribution mechanism that
enables any user to connect to any Zscaler Enforcement Node at any time to ensure full policy enforcement. The
Zscaler Enforcement Node utilizes a full proxy architecture and is built to ensure data is not written to disk to
maintain the highest level of data security. Data is scanned in RAM only and then erased. Logs are continuously
created in memory and forwarded to our logging module.

. Zscaler Nanolog Servers: Our Nanolog technology is built into the Zscaler Enforcement Node to perform
lossless compression of logs, enabling our platform to collect over 70 terabytes of unique raw log data every day.
Logs are transmitted to our Nanolog Servers over secure connections and multicast to multiple servers for
redundancy. Our dashboards provide visibility into our customer’s traffic to enable troubleshooting, policy
changes and other administrative actions. Our analytics capabilities allow customers to interactively mine billions
of transaction logs to generate reports that provide insight on network utilization and traffic. We do not rely on
batch reporting; we continuously update our dashboards and reporting and can stream logs to a third-party
Security Information and Event Management, or SIEM, service as they arrive. Regardless of where users are
located, customers can choose to have logs stored in the United States, the European Union or Switzerland.



Our platform is a critical integration point positioned in the data path providing secure access to the internet, cloud and
internal applications. We complement and interoperate with key technology vendors across major market segments, including
software-defined networking in a wide area network, or SD-WAN, identity and access management, device and endpoint
management, as well as SIEM for reporting and analytics. Many of these vendors, like us, were developed in the cloud and
together provide a foundation for a modern access and security architecture.

Growth Strategies

The growing use of the internet and the increasing adoption of the cloud and mobility are driving network and
application transformation. As a provider of a fully integrated, multi-tenant cloud security solution, we enable our customers
to accelerate this secure transformation to the cloud and believe we are uniquely positioned to maximize value as they
undertake these transitions. Key elements of our growth strategy include:

. Continue to win new customers. We believe that we have a significant opportunity to expand our customer base,
both in the United States and internationally. We have invested significantly in our sales and marketing

organization to execute against this opportunity.

. Expand in existing customers. We plan to leverage a land-and-expand approach with our existing customers to
sell subscriptions to additional users, additional suites that contain more functionality and a la carte services.

. Leverage channel partners to participate in cloud transformation initiatives. We have invested in establishing
long-standing relationships with global telecommunications service providers and are expanding our network of
global system integrators and regional telecommunications service providers.

. Expansion and innovation of services. We continue to invest in research and development and acquire new
technologies and products in order to add new and differentiated solutions to our existing product portfolio and to
improve the overall functionality, reliability, availability and scalability of our cloud security platform.

° Expansion into additional market segments. We are targeting the expansion of our immediate addressable
market, emphasizing U.S. federal government agencies in the near- to medium-term as well as additional
international markets such as Japan and the Asia Pacific region.

. Extend our platform to third-party developers. We intend to open our cloud security platform to third-party
developers and vendors to offer new functionality and solutions that may target specific use cases, verticals and
niche requirements.

Our Customers

We sell to enterprises of all sizes. As of July 31, 2019, we had over 3,900 customers, including over 400 of the Forbes
Global 2000. Many of our customers include major global enterprises that send virtually all of their internet traffic through
our cloud security platform. Our customers operate in a variety of industries, including airlines and transportation,
conglomerates consumer goods and retail, financial services, health-care, manufacturing, media and communications, public
sector and education, technology and telecommunications services. Approximately 51% of our revenue in fiscal 2019, 55%
of our revenue in fiscal 2018 and 54% of our revenue in fiscal 2017 was from customers outside the United States. No
customer contributed more than 10% of our revenue in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 or fiscal 2017.



Sales and Marketing

Although we have a channel sales model, we use a joint sales approach in which our sales force develops relationships
directly with our customers, and together with our channel account teams, works with our channel partners on account
penetration, account coordination, sales and overall market development. Our customer care and success teams maintain
high-touch relationships with our customers to deploy and manage our cloud platform, identify, analyze and resolve
performance issues and respond to security threats. We believe customer service touchpoints are opportunities to further
develop our relationship with our customers and potentially generate incremental revenue through the addition of new users
and services.

Our channel partners consist of global telecommunications service provider, system integrator and value-added reseller
partners, and we leverage their relationships to expand our reach, improve procurement and accelerate customer fulfillment.

We enter into agreements with our channel partners in the ordinary course of business. The contracts typically have a
one-year term and renew automatically, subject to cancellation by either party upon 90 days’ notice. These agreements
contain standard commercial terms and conditions, including payment terms, billing frequency, warranties and
indemnification. Our channel partners generally place purchase orders with us after receiving orders from customers. We
generally maintain privity of contract with customers through end user subscription agreements.

We expect to continue investing in our channel partners as we provide them with education, training and programs,
including supporting their independent sales of our solutions. We believe that such investment, and investments in our sales
force, will lead to significant expansion in our customer base, which will materially impact our business and results of
operations.

Our marketing strategy is focused on platform and brand awareness, which drives our opportunity pipeline and
customer demand. This strategy is account-based, enabling us to pursue targeted marketing activities across both digital and
non-digital channels. We anticipate increasing our marketing team headcount and are investing in programs designed to
elevate our brand in the market and engage new enterprise accounts. We also participate in a number of cloud and security
industry events. In addition, we have a deeply integrated ecosystem of channel partners, with whom we engage in joint
marketing activities.

Data Center Operations

We operate our services across more than 150 data centers around the world, which are built to be highly resilient, have
multiple levels of redundancy and provide failover to other data centers in our network. Our data centers are co-located
within top-tier internet interconnection hubs that have direct connectivity, known as peering, to major telecommunication
service providers, SaaS providers, public cloud providers, internet content providers and popular internet destinations. A
number of our data centers are also located with our service provider partners. Our platform has received ISO 27001
certification since 2014.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is responsible for the design, architecture, operation and quality of our
cloud platform. In addition to improving on our features, functionality and scalability, this organization works closely with
our cloud operations team to ensure that our platform is reliable, available and scalable. ThreatLabZ, our internal team of
security experts, researchers and network engineers, analyzes the global threat landscape, works to eliminate threats across
our cloud platform and reports on emerging security issues.



Research and development expense was $62.0 million, $39.4 million and $33.6 million for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and
fiscal 2017, respectively. Our research and development leadership team is based in San Jose, California, and we also
maintain research and development centers in India and Canada.

Competition

The market for security solutions is defined by changing technologies, an evolving threat landscape and complex
enterprise needs. Our competitors and potential competitors include legacy on-premises appliance vendors across a number of
categories:

. independent IT security vendors, such as Check Point Software Technologies Ltd., Fortinet, Inc., Palo Alto
Networks, Inc. and Symantec Corporation, which offer a broad mix of network and endpoint security products;

. large networking vendors, such as Cisco Systems, Inc. and Juniper Networks, Inc., which offer security
appliances and incorporate security capabilities in their networking products;

. companies such as FireEye, Inc., Forcepoint Inc. (previously, Websense, Inc.), F5 Networks, Inc. and Pulse
Secure, LLC with point solutions that compete with some of the features of our cloud platform, such as proxy,
firewall, sandboxing and advanced threat protection, data loss prevention, encryption, load balancing and VPN;
and

. other providers of IT security services that offer, or may leverage related technologies to introduce, products that
compete with or are alternatives to our cloud platform.

The principal competitive factors in the markets in which we operate include:
. delivering security from the cloud regardless of location of the user;
. platform features, effectiveness and extensibility;
. platform reliability, availability and scalability;
. rapid development and delivery of new capabilities and services;
. ability to integrate with other participants in the security and networking ecosystem;
. price, total cost of ownership and network cost savings;
. brand awareness, reputation and trust in the provider’s services;
. strength of sales, marketing and channel partner relationships; and
. quality of customer support.

We believe we are positioned favorably against our competitors based on these factors. Our cloud platform integrates
many of the point products offered by our competitors and potential competitors, which is a key differentiator. However,
many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources, greater brand recognition, larger
sales forces and marketing budgets, broader distribution networks, more diverse product and services offerings and larger and
more mature intellectual property portfolios. They may be able to leverage these resources to gain business in a manner that
discourages users from purchasing our services, including through selling at zero or negative margins, offering concessions,
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product bundling or maintaining closed technology platforms. Further, many organizations have invested substantial
personnel and financial resources to design and operate their appliance-based network security architecture, and may not be
willing or ready to abandon those historical investments. As our market grows and rapidly changes, we expect it will continue
to attract new companies, including smaller emerging companies, which could introduce new products and services. In
addition, we may expand into new markets and encounter additional competitors in such markets.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect and use our core technology and intellectual property rights. We
rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secret laws, contractual provisions and confidentiality
procedures to protect our intellectual property rights. As of July 31, 2019, we had over 130 total issued and pending patents,
including in excess of 80 issued patents, in the United States and other countries. Our issued patents expire between 2028 and
2036 and cover various aspects of our cloud platform. In addition, we have registered “Zscaler” as a trademark in the United
States and other jurisdictions, and we have registered other trademarks and filed other trademark applications in the United
States. We are also the registered holder of a variety of domestic and international domain names that include “Zscaler” and
similar variations. In addition to the protection provided by our intellectual property rights, we enter into confidentiality and
invention assignment or similar agreements with our employees, consultants and contractors. We further control the use of
our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights through provisions in our subscription and license agreements.
Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets and proprietary rights through intellectual property rights, licenses and
confidentiality agreements, unauthorized parties may still copy or otherwise obtain and use our software and technology. In
addition to our internally developed technology, we also license software, including open source software, from third parties
that we integrate into or bundle with our cloud platform.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation
based on allegations of patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We believe that competitors will
try to develop products and services that are similar to ours and that may infringe our intellectual property rights. Our
competitors or other third-parties may also claim that our platform infringes their intellectual property rights. In particular,
leading companies in our industry have extensive patent portfolios. From time to time, third parties, including certain of these
leading companies and non-practicing entities, have in the past and may in the future assert claims of infringement,
misappropriation and other violations of intellectual property rights against us or our customers or channel partners, with
whom our license or other agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims. Successful claims of infringement
by a third-party could prevent us from offering certain services or features, require us to develop alternate, non-infringing
technology, which could require significant time and during which we could be unable to continue to offer our affected
subscriptions or services, require us to obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, or force us
to pay substantial damages, royalties or other fees. As we face increasing competition and gain an increasingly higher profile,
the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows. We cannot assure you that we do not currently infringe,
or that we will not in the future infringe, upon any third-party patents or other proprietary rights. See “Risk Factors-Claims by
others that we infringe their proprietary technology or other rights, or other lawsuits asserted against us, could result in
significant costs and substantially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects” for additional
information.

Employees

We had approximately 1,480 employees worldwide as of July 31, 2019. None of our employees in the United States are
represented by a labor organization or are party to any collective bargaining arrangement. In certain countries in which we
operate, we are subject to, and comply with, local labor law requirements which may automatically make our employees
subject to industry-wide collective bargaining agreements. We may be required to comply with the terms of these collective
bargaining agreements.
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Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware in September 2007 as SafeChannel, Inc., and in August 2008, we
changed our name to Zscaler, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 110 Rose Orchard Way, San Jose, CA 95134,
and our telephone number is (408) 533-0288. Our website address is www.zscaler.com. Information contained on, or that can
be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statement,
and all amendments to these filings, are available free of charge from our investor relations website (https://ir.zscaler.com/
financial-information/sec-filings) as soon as reasonably practicable following our filing with or furnishing to the SEC of any
of these reports. The SEC’s website (https://www.sec.gov) contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Zscaler investors and others should note that we announce material information to the public about our company,
products and services and other issues through a variety of means, including our website (https://www.zscaler.com/), our
investor relations website (https://ir.zscaler.com), our blogs (https://www.zscaler.com/blogs), press releases, SEC filings,
public conference calls and social media, in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the
public. We encourage our investors and others to review the information we make public in these locations as such
information could be deemed to be material information. Please note that this list may be updated from time to time.

The contents of any website referred to in this Form 10-K are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk Factors

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider
the risks and uncertainties described below, as well as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations." The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below, or of additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could materially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our
common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of losses and may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

We have incurred net losses in all periods since our inception, and we expect we will continue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable future. We experienced net losses of $28.7 million, $33.6 million and $35.5 million for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018
and fiscal 2017, respectively. As of July 31, 2019 we had an accumulated deficit of $224.5 million. Because the market for
our cloud platform is rapidly evolving and cloud security solutions have not yet reached widespread adoption, it is difficult
for us to predict our future results of operations. We expect our operating expenses to increase significantly over the next
several years as we continue to hire additional personnel, particularly in sales and marketing, expand our operations and
infrastructure, both domestically and internationally, and continue to develop our platform. In addition to the expected costs
to grow our business, we also expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses as a newly public
company. If we fail to increase our revenue to offset the increases in our operating expenses, we may not achieve or sustain
profitability in the future.

If organizations do not adopt our cloud platform, our ability to grow our business and operating results may be
adversely affected.

Cloud technologies are still evolving, and it is difficult to predict customer demand and adoption rates for our solutions
or cloud-based offerings generally. We believe that our cloud platform offers superior protection to our customers, who are
becoming increasingly dependent on the internet as they move their applications and data to the cloud. We also believe that
our cloud platform represents a major shift from on-premises appliance-based security solutions. However, traditional on-
premises security appliances are entrenched in the infrastructure of many of our potential customers, particularly large
enterprises, because of their prior investment in and the familiarity of their IT personnel with on-premises appliance-based
solutions. As a result, our sales process often involves extensive efforts to educate our customers on the benefits and
capabilities of our cloud platform, particularly as we continue to pursue customer relationships with large organizations. Even
with these efforts, we cannot predict market acceptance of our cloud platform, or the development of competing products or
services based on other technologies. If we fail to achieve market acceptance of our cloud platform or are unable to keep pace
with industry changes, our ability to grow our business and our operating results will be materially and adversely affected.
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If we are unable to attract new customers, our future results of operations could be harmed.

To increase our revenue and achieve and maintain profitability, we must add new customers. To do so, we must
successfully convince IT decision makers that, as they adopt SaaS applications and the public cloud, security delivered
through the cloud provides significant advantages over legacy on-premises appliance-based security products. Additionally,
many of our customers broadly deploy our products, which requires a significant commitment of resources. These factors
significantly impact our ability to add new customers and increase the time, resources and sophistication required to do so. In
addition, numerous other factors, many of which are out of our control, may now or in the future impact our ability to add
new customers, including potential customers’ commitments to legacy IT security vendors and products, real or perceived
switching costs, our failure to expand, retain and motivate our sales and marketing personnel, our failure to develop or
expand relationships with our channel partners or to attract new channel partners, failure by us to help our customers to
successfully deploy our cloud platform, negative media or industry or financial analyst commentary regarding us or our
solutions, litigation and deteriorating general economic conditions. If our efforts to attract new customers are not successful,
our revenue and rate of revenue growth may decline, we may not achieve profitability and our future results of operations
could be materially harmed.

If our customers do not renew their subscriptions for our services and add additional users and services to their
subscriptions, our future results of operations could be harmed.

In order for us to maintain or improve our results of operations, it is important that our customers renew their
subscriptions for our services when existing contract terms expire, and that we expand our commercial relationships with our
existing customers. Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our services after the expiration of their
contractual subscription period, which is typically one to three years, and in the normal course of business, some customers
have elected not to renew. In addition, in certain cases, customers may cancel their subscriptions without cause either at any
time or upon advance written notice (typically ranging from 30 days to 60 days), typically subject to an early termination
penalty for unused services. In addition, our customers may renew for fewer users, renew for shorter contract lengths or
switch to a lower-cost suite. If our customers do not renew their subscription services, we could incur impairment losses
related to our deferred contract acquisition costs. It is difficult to accurately predict long-term customer retention because of
our varied customer base and given the length of our subscription contracts. Our customer retention and expansion may
decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction with our services, our prices and
pricing plans, our customers’ spending levels, decreases in the number of users to which our customers deploy our solutions,
mergers and acquisitions involving our customers, competition and deteriorating general economic conditions.

Our future success also depends in part on the rate at which our current customers add additional users or services to
their subscriptions, which is driven by a number of factors, including customer satisfaction with our services, customer
security and networking issues and requirements, general economic conditions and customer reaction to the price per
additional user or of additional services. If our efforts to expand our relationship with our existing customers are not
successful, our business may materially suffer.
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We face intense and increasing competition and could lose market share to our competitors, which could adversely

affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The market for network security solutions is intensely competitive and characterized by rapid changes in technology,
customer requirements, industry standards and frequent introductions of new and improvements of existing products and
services. Our business model of delivering security through the cloud rather than legacy on-premises appliances is still
relatively new and has not yet gained widespread market traction. Moreover, we compete with many established network and
security vendors who are aggressively competing against us with their legacy appliance-based solutions and are also seeking
to introduce cloud-based services that have functionality similar to our cloud platform. We expect competition to increase as
other established and emerging companies enter the security solutions market, in particular with respect to cloud-based
security solutions, as customer requirements evolve and as new products, services and technologies are introduced. If we are
unable to anticipate or effectively react to these competitive challenges, our competitive position could weaken, and we could
experience a decline in revenue or our growth rate that could materially and adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Our competitors and potential competitors include:

* independent IT security vendors, such as Check Point Software Technologies Ltd., Fortinet, Inc., Palo Alto
Networks, Inc. and Symantec Corporation, which offer a broad mix of network and endpoint security products;

e large networking vendors, such as Cisco Systems, Inc. and Juniper Networks, Inc., which offer security appliances
and incorporate security capabilities in their networking products;

e companies such as FireEye, Inc., Forcepoint Inc. (previously, Websense, Inc.), F5 Networks, Inc. and Pulse Secure,
LLC with point solutions that compete with some of the features of our cloud platform, such as proxy, firewall,
sandboxing and advanced threat protection, data loss prevention, encryption, load balancing and virtual private
network vendors; and

»  other providers of IT security services that offer, or may leverage related technologies to introduce, products that
compete with or are alternatives to our cloud platform.

Many of our existing competitors have, and some of our potential competitors could have, substantial competitive
advantages such as:

e greater name recognition, longer operating histories and larger customer bases;

e larger sales and marketing budgets and resources;

*  broader distribution and established relationships with channel partners and customers;
e greater customer support resources;

e greater resources to make acquisitions and enter into strategic partnerships;

* lower labor and research and development costs;

* larger and more mature intellectual property rights portfolios; and

e substantially greater financial, technical and other resources.

Our competitors may be successful in convincing IT decision makers that legacy appliance-based security products or
hybrid security cloud solutions based on legacy appliances are sufficient to meet their security needs and provide security
performance that competes with our cloud platform. In addition, our competitors may develop cloud-based solutions with
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architectures similar to our products. Further, many organizations have invested substantial personnel and financial resources
to design and operate their appliance-based networks and have established deep relationships with appliance vendors. As a
result, these organizations may prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than add or switch to a new supplier.

Our larger competitors have substantially broader and more diverse product and services offerings, which may allow
them to leverage their relationships based on other products or incorporate functionality into existing products to gain
business in a manner that discourages users from purchasing our services, including through selling at zero or negative
margins, offering concessions, bundling products or maintaining closed technology platforms. Many competitors that
specialize in providing protection from a single type of security threat may be able to deliver these targeted security products
to the market more quickly than we can or to convince organizations that these limited products meet their needs.

Conditions in our market could change rapidly and significantly as a result of technological advancements, partnering or
acquisitions by our competitors or continuing market consolidation. New start-up companies that innovate and large
competitors that are making significant investments in research and development may invent similar or superior products,
services and technologies that compete with our cloud platform. In addition, large companies with substantial
communications infrastructure, such as global telecommunications services provider partners or public cloud providers, could
choose to enter the security solutions market. Some of our current or potential competitors have made or could make
acquisitions of businesses or establish cooperative relationships that may allow them to offer more directly competitive and
comprehensive solutions than were previously offered and adapt more quickly to new technologies and customer needs.
These competitive pressures in our market or our failure to compete effectively may result in price reductions, fewer orders,
reduced revenue and gross margins, increased net losses and loss of market share. Any failure to meet and address these
factors could materially harm our business and operating results.

We have experienced rapid revenue and other growth in recent periods, which may not be indicative of our future
performance.

We have experienced rapid growth in revenue, operations and employee headcount in recent periods. In addition, the
number of customers, users and internet traffic on our cloud platform has increased rapidly in recent years. You should not
consider our recent growth in these areas as indicative of our future performance. While we expect to continue to expand our
operations and to increase our headcount significantly in the future, both domestically and internationally, our growth may
not be sustainable. In particular, our recent revenue growth rates may decline in the future and may not be sufficient to
achieve and sustain profitability, as we also expect our costs to increase in future periods. We believe that historical
comparisons of our revenue may not be meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.
Accordingly, you should not rely on our revenue and other growth for any prior quarter or fiscal year as an indication of our
future revenue or revenue growth.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of
service, adequately address competitive challenges or maintain our corporate culture, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be harmed.

Our growth has placed, and future growth will continue to place, a significant strain on our management and our
administrative, operational and financial infrastructure. Our success will depend in part on our ability to manage this growth
effectively, which will require that we continue to improve our administrative, operational, financial and management
systems and controls by, among other things:

« effectively attracting, training and integrating a large number of new employees, particularly members of our sales

and management teams;

« further improving our key business applications, processes and IT infrastructure, including our data centers, to
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support our business needs;

*  enhancing our information and communication systems to ensure that our employees and offices around the world
are well coordinated and can effectively communicate with each other and our growing base of channel partners,
customers and users; and

e appropriately documenting and testing our IT systems and business processes.

These and other improvements in our systems and controls will require significant capital expenditures and the allocation
of valuable management and employee resources. If we fail to implement these improvements effectively, our ability to
manage our expected growth, ensure uninterrupted operation of our cloud platform and key business systems and comply
with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies could be impaired, the quality of our platform and services
could suffer and we may not be able to adequately address competitive challenges.

In addition, we believe that our corporate culture has been a contributor to our success, which we believe fosters
innovation, teamwork and an emphasis on customer-focused results. We also believe that our culture creates an environment
that drives and perpetuates our strategy and cost-effective distribution approach. As we grow and develop the infrastructure
of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain our corporate culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could
harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel, innovate and operate effectively and execute on
our business strategy. If we experience any of these effects in connection with future growth, it could materially impair our
ability to attract new customers, retain existing customers and expand their use of our platform, all of which would materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our relatively limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and prospects and may
increase the risk that we will not be successful.

Our relatively limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and prospects and plan for our
future growth. We were incorporated in 2007, with much of our growth occurring in recent years. As a result, our business
model has not been fully proven, which subjects us to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model
future growth. While we have continued to develop our solutions to incorporate multiple security and compliance
applications into a single purpose-built, multi-tenant, distributed cloud platform, we have encountered and will continue to
encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by rapidly growing companies in developing markets, including our
ability to achieve broad market acceptance of our cloud security platform, attract additional customers, grow partnerships,
withstand increasing competition and manage increasing expenses as we continue to grow our business. If our assumptions
regarding these risks and uncertainties are incorrect or change in response to changes in the market for network security
solutions, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our expectations and our business could suffer.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which could make our future results difficult to predict and could
cause our operating results to fall below expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside
of our control and may be difficult to predict. Some of the factors that may cause our results of operations to fluctuate from
quarter to quarter include:

*  broad market acceptance and the level of demand for our cloud platform;
e our ability to attract new customers, particularly large enterprises;
e our ability to retain customers and expand their usage of our platform, particularly our largest customers;

*  our ability to successfully expand internationally and penetrate key markets;
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» the effectiveness of our sales and marketing programs;
« the length of our sales cycle, including the timing of renewals;

* technological changes and the timing and success of new service introductions by us or our competitors or any other
change in the competitive landscape of our market;

e increases in and timing of operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain
competitive;

e pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;

e seasonal buying patterns for IT spending;

e the quality and level of our execution of our business strategy and operating plan;

e adverse litigation judgments, settlements or other litigation-related costs;

»  changes in the legislative or regulatory environment;

» the impact and costs related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies or intellectual property rights; and

»  general economic conditions in either domestic or international markets, including geopolitical uncertainty and
instability.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. We also intend to
continue to invest significantly to grow our business in the near future rather than optimizing for profitability or cash flows.
In addition, we generally experience seasonality in terms of when we enter into agreements with customers. We typically
enter into a higher percentage of agreements with new customers, as well as renewal agreements with existing customers, in
the second and fourth quarters of our fiscal year. This seasonality is reflected to a much lesser extent, and sometimes is not
immediately apparent, in revenue, due to the fact that we recognize subscription revenue ratably over the term of the
subscription, which is generally one to three years. We expect that seasonality will continue to affect our operating results in
the future and may reduce our ability to predict cash flow and optimize the timing of our operating expenses.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or other operating metrics could result in our
failure to meet our expectations or those of industry or financial analysts. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for
these or any other reasons, the market price of our common stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits,
including securities class action suits.

If the delivery of our services to our customers is interrupted or delayed for any reason, our business could suffer.

Any interruption or delay in the delivery of our services will negatively impact our customers. Our solutions are
deployed via the internet, and our customers’ internet traffic is routed through our cloud platform. Our customers depend on
the continuous availability of our cloud platform to access the internet, and our services are designed to operate without
interruption in accordance with our service level commitments. If our entire platform were to fail, customers and users could
lose access to the internet until such disruption is resolved or customers deploy disaster recovery options that allow them to
bypass our cloud platform to access the internet. The adverse effects of any service interruptions on our reputation and
financial condition may be disproportionately heightened due to the nature of our business and the fact that our customers
expect continuous and uninterrupted internet access and have a low tolerance for interruptions of any duration. While we do
not consider them to have been material, we have experienced, and may in the future experience, service disruptions and
other performance problems due to a variety of factors.
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The following factors, many of which are beyond our control, can affect the delivery and availability of our services and
the performance of our cloud:

* the development and maintenance of the infrastructure of the internet;

» the performance and availability of third-party telecommunications services with the necessary speed, data capacity
and security for providing reliable internet access and services;

» decisions by the owners and operators of the data centers where our cloud infrastructure is deployed or by global
telecommunications service provider partners who provide us with network bandwidth to terminate our contracts,
discontinue services to us, shut down operations or facilities, increase prices, change service levels, limit bandwidth,
declare bankruptcy or prioritize the traffic of other parties;

e the occurrence of earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, system failures, physical or electronic break-ins, acts of war
or terrorism, human error or interference (including by disgruntled employees, former employees or contractors) and
other catastrophic events;

e cyberattacks, including denial of service attacks, targeted at us, our data centers, our global telecommunications
service provider partners or the infrastructure of the internet;

e failure by us to maintain and update our cloud infrastructure to meet our traffic capacity requirements;

e errors, defects or performance problems in our software, including third-party software incorporated in our software,
which we use to operate our cloud platform;

e improper classification of websites by our vendors who provide us with lists of malicious websites;
* improper deployment or configuration of our services;

» the failure of our redundancy systems, in the event of a service disruption at one of our data centers, to provide
failover to other data centers in our data center network; and

e the failure of our disaster recovery and business continuity arrangements.

The occurrence of any of these factors, or if we are unable to efficiently and cost-effectively fix such errors or other
problems that may be identified, could damage our reputation, negatively impact our relationship with our customers or
otherwise materially harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, we provide our services through a cloud-based inline proxy, and some governments, third-party products,
websites or services may block proxy-based traffic under certain circumstances. For example, vendors may attempt to block
traffic from our cloud platform or blacklist our IP addresses because they cannot identify the source of the proxy-based
traffic. Our competitors may use this as an excuse to block traffic from their solutions or blacklist our IP addresses, which
may result in our customers’ traffic being blocked from our platform. If our customers experience significant instances of
traffic blockages, they will experience reduced functionality or other inefficiencies, which would reduce customer satisfaction
with our services and likelihood of renewal.
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The actual or perceived failure of our cloud platform to block malware or prevent a security breach could harm our
reputation and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our cloud platform may fail to detect or prevent security breaches for any number of reasons. Our cloud platform is
complex and may contain performance issues that are not detected until after its deployment. We also provide frequent
solution updates and fundamental enhancements, which increase the possibility of errors, and our reporting, tracking,
monitoring and quality assurance procedures may not be sufficient to ensure we detect any such defects in a timely manner.
The performance of our cloud platform can be negatively impacted by our failure to enhance, expand or update our cloud
platform, errors or defects in our software, improper classification of websites by our vendors who provide us with lists of
malicious websites, improper deployment or configuration of our services and many other factors.

In addition, because the techniques used by computer hackers to access or sabotage networks change frequently and
generally are not recognized until launched against a target, there is a risk that a cyber threat could emerge that our services
are unable to detect or prevent until after some of our customers are impacted. Moreover, as our services are adopted by an
increasing number of enterprises, it is possible that the individuals and organizations behind cyber threats will focus on
finding ways to defeat our services. If this happens, our cloud platform could be targeted by attacks specifically designed to
disrupt our business and create the perception that our cloud platform is not capable of providing superior security, which, in
turn, could have a serious impact on our reputation as a provider of security solutions. Further, if a high profile security
breach occurs with respect to another cloud services provider, our customers and potential customers may lose trust in cloud
solutions generally, and with respect to security in particular, which could materially and adversely impact our ability to
retain existing customers or attract new customers.

Increasingly, companies are subject to a wide variety of attacks on their networks and systems, including traditional
computer hackers, malicious code (such as viruses and worms), distributed denial-of-service attacks, sophisticated attacks
conducted or sponsored by nation-states, advanced persistent threat intrusions, ransomware, and theft or misuse of intellectual
property or business or personal data, including by disgruntled employees, former employees or contractors. No security
solution, including our cloud platform, can address all possible security threats or block all methods of penetrating a network
or otherwise perpetrating a security incident. Our customers must rely on complex network and security infrastructures,
which include products and services from multiple vendors, to secure their networks. If any of our customers becomes
infected with malware or experiences a security breach, they could be disappointed with our services, regardless of whether
our services are intended to block the attack or would have blocked the attack if the customer had properly configured our
cloud platform. Additionally, if any enterprises that are publicly known to use our services are the subject of a cyberattack
that becomes publicized, our current or potential customers may look to our competitors for alternatives to our services.

From time to time, industry or financial analysts and research firms test our solutions against other security products. Our
services may fail to detect or prevent threats in any particular test for a number of reasons, including misconfiguration. To the
extent potential customers, industry or financial analysts or testing firms believe that the occurrence of a failure to detect or
prevent any particular threat is a flaw or indicates that our services do not provide significant value, our reputation and
business could be materially harmed.

Any real or perceived flaws in our cloud platform or any real or perceived security breaches or other security incidents of
our customers could result in:

* aloss of existing or potential customers or channel partners;
* delayed or lost sales and harm to our financial condition and results of operations;

e adelay in attaining, or the failure to attain, market acceptance;
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» the expenditure of significant financial resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, remediate or work around
errors or defects, to address and eliminate vulnerabilities and to address any applicable legal or contractual
obligations relating to any actual or perceived security breach;

*  negative publicity and damage to our reputation and brand; and

* legal claims and demands (including for stolen assets or information, repair of system damages, and compensation to
customers and business partners), litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigations and other liability.

Any of the above results could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If our global network of data centers which deliver our services was damaged or otherwise failed to meet the
requirement of our business, our ability to provide services to our customers and maintain the performance of our cloud
platform could be negatively impacted, which could cause our business to suffer.

We currently host our cloud platform and serve our customers from a global network of over 150 data centers. While we
have electronic access to the components and infrastructure of our cloud platform that are hosted by third parties, we do not
control the operation of these facilities. Consequently, we may be subject to service disruptions as well as failures to provide
adequate support for reasons that are outside of our direct control. Our data centers are vulnerable to damage or interruption
from a variety of sources, including earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, system failures, computer viruses, physical or
electronic break-ins, human error or interference (including by disgruntled employees, former employees or contractors), and
other catastrophic events. Our data centers may also be subject to local administrative actions, changes to legal or permitting
requirements and litigation to stop, limit or delay operations. Despite precautions taken at these facilities, such as disaster
recovery and business continuity arrangements, the occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of terrorism, a decision to close
the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems at these facilities could result in interruptions or delays
in our services, impede our ability to scale our operations or have other adverse impacts upon our business. In addition, if we
do not accurately plan for our infrastructure capacity requirements and we experience significant strains on our data center
capacity, we may experience delays and additional expenses in arranging new data centers, and our customers could
experience performance degradation or service outages that may subject us to financial liabilities, result in customer losses
and materially harm our business.

Our business and growth depend in part on the success of our relationships with our channel partners.

We currently derive most of our revenue from sales through our channel partner network, and we expect for the
foreseeable future most of our future revenue growth will also be driven through this network. Not only does our joint sales
approach require additional investment to grow and train our sales force, but we believe that continued growth in our business
is dependent upon identifying, developing and maintaining strategic relationships with our existing and potential channel
partners, including global systems integrators and regional telecommunications service providers that will in turn drive
substantial revenue and provide additional value-added services to our customers. Our agreements with our channel partners
are generally non-exclusive, meaning our channel partners may offer customers the products of several different companies,
including products that compete with our cloud platform. In general, our channel partners may also cease marketing or
reselling our platform with limited or no notice and without penalty. If our channel partners do not effectively market and sell
subscriptions to our cloud platform, choose to promote our competitors’ products or fail to meet the needs of our customers,
our ability to grow our business and sell subscriptions to our cloud platform may be adversely affected. For example, sales
through our top five channel partners and their affiliates, in aggregate, represented 42% of our revenue for fiscal 2019 and
fiscal 2018 and 47% of our revenue for fiscal 2017. In addition, our channel partner structure could subject us to lawsuits or
reputational harm if, for example, a channel partner misrepresents the functionality of our cloud platform to customers or
violates applicable laws or our corporate policies. Our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend in large
part on our success in maintaining successful relationships with our channel partners, identifying additional channel partners
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and training our channel partners to independently sell and deploy our platform. If we are unable to maintain our relationships
with our existing channel partners or develop successful relationships with new channel partners or if our channel partners
fail to perform, our business, financial position and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, our business and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our reputation as a provider of high-quality security solutions is critical to
our relationship with our existing customers and channel partners and our ability to attract new customers and channel
partners. The successful promotion of our brand will depend on a number of factors, including our marketing efforts, our
ability to continue to develop high-quality features and solutions for our cloud platform and our ability to successfully
differentiate our platform from competitive products and services. Our brand promotion activities may not be successful or
yield increased revenue. In addition, independent industry or financial analysts often provide reviews of our platform, as well
as products and services of our competitors, and perception of our platform in the marketplace may be significantly
influenced by these reviews. If these reviews are negative, or less positive as compared to those of our competitors’ products
and services, our brand may be adversely affected. Additionally, the performance of our channel partners may affect our
brand and reputation if customers do not have a positive experience with our channel partners’ services. The promotion of our
brand requires us to make substantial expenditures, and we anticipate that the expenditures will increase as our market
becomes more competitive, we expand into new markets and more sales are generated through our channel partners. To the
extent that these activities yield increased revenue, this revenue may not offset the increased expenses we incur. If we do not
successfully maintain and enhance our brand, our business may not grow, we may have reduced pricing power relative to
competitors and we could lose customers or fail to attract potential customers, all of which would materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we do not effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities, we may be unable to add new
customers or increase sales to our existing customers, and our business will be adversely affected.

To increase the number of customers and increase the market acceptance of our platform, we will need to expand our
sales and marketing operations, including our domestic and international sales force. Although we have a channel sales
model, our sales representatives typically engage in direct interaction with our prospective customers. Therefore, we continue
to be substantially dependent on our sales force to obtain new customers. Increasing our customer base and achieving broader
market acceptance of our cloud platform will depend, to a significant extent, on our ability to expand and further invest in our
sales and marketing operations and activities. There is significant competition for sales personnel with the advanced sales
skills and technical knowledge we need. We believe that selling a cloud-based security solution requires particularly talented
sales personnel with the ability to communicate the transformative potential of our cloud platform. Our ability to achieve
significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining
sufficient numbers of these talented sales personnel in both the U.S. and international markets. In particular, in the near term,
we expect to expand our sales and marketing organization significantly.
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New hires require significant training and may take significant time before they achieve full productivity. As a result, our
new hires and planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and we may be unable to hire or retain
sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future. As a result of our rapid growth, a large percentage of our sales and
marketing team is new to our company and selling our solutions, and therefore this team may be less effective than our more
seasoned employees. Furthermore, hiring sales personnel in new countries, or expanding our existing presence, requires
upfront and ongoing expenditures that we may not recover if the sales personnel fail to achieve full productivity. We cannot
predict whether, or to what extent, our sales will increase as we expand our sales force or how long it will take for sales
personnel to become productive. For example, we recently hired a new president go-to-market and chief revenue officer. The
effectiveness of our sales and marketing has also varied over time and, together with the effectiveness of any partners or
resellers we may engage, may vary in the future. Our business and operating results may be harmed if our efforts do not
generate a correspondingly significant increase in revenue. We may not achieve anticipated revenue growth from expanding
our sales force if we are unable to hire, develop and retain talented sales personnel, if our new sales personnel are unable to
achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, or if our sales and marketing programs are not effective.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense.

The timing of our sales and related revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the length and unpredictability
of the sales cycle for our cloud platform, particularly with respect to large organizations. Our sales efforts typically involve
educating our prospective customers about the uses, benefits and the value proposition of our cloud platform. Customers
often view the subscription to our cloud platform as a significant decision as part of a strategic transformation initiative and,
as a result, frequently require considerable time to evaluate, test and qualify our platform prior to entering into or expanding a
relationship with us. Large enterprises and government entities in particular often undertake a significant evaluation process
that further lengthens the sales cycle.

Our sales force develops relationships directly with our customers, and together with our channel account teams, works
with our channel partners on account penetration, account coordination, sales and overall market development. We spend
substantial time and resources on our sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce a sale. Platform
purchases are frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple approvals and unanticipated administrative, processing and
other delays. As a result, it is difficult to predict whether and when a sale will be completed and when revenue from a sale
will be recognized.

Sales to larger customers involve risks that may not be present, or that are present to a lesser extent, with sales to smaller
customers, which can act as a disincentive to our sales team to pursue these larger customers. These risks include:

»  competition from companies that traditionally target larger enterprises and that may have pre-existing relationships
or purchase commitments from such customers;

e increased purchasing power and leverage held by larger customers in negotiating contractual arrangements with us;
*  more stringent requirements in our support obligations; and

* longer sales cycles and the associated risk that substantial time and resources may be spent on a potential customer
that elects not to purchase our solutions.

The failure of our efforts to secure sales after investing resources in a lengthy sales process could materially and
adversely affect our business and operating results.
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If we fail to develop or introduce new enhancements to our cloud platform on a timely basis, our ability to attract and
retain customers, remain competitive and grow our business could be impaired.

The industry in which we compete is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent introductions of new
products and services, evolving industry standards and changing regulations, as well as changing customer needs,
requirements and preferences. Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers will depend
in significant part on our ability to anticipate and respond effectively to these changes on a timely basis and continue to
introduce enhancements to our cloud platform. The success of our cloud platform depends on our continued investment in our
research and development organization to increase the reliability, availability and scalability of our existing solutions. The
success of any enhancement depends on several factors, including the timely completion and market acceptance of the
enhancement. Any new service that we develop might not be introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner and might not
achieve the broad market acceptance necessary to generate significant revenue. If new technologies emerge that deliver
competitive products and services at lower prices, more efficiently, more conveniently or more securely, these technologies
could adversely impact our ability to compete effectively. Any delay or failure in the introduction of enhancements could
materially harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Because we recognize revenue from subscriptions for our services over the term of the subscription, downturns or
upturns in new business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results and may be difficult to discern.

We generally recognize revenue from customers ratably over the terms of their subscriptions, which are typically one to
three years. As a result, a substantial portion of the revenue we report in each period is attributable to the recognition of
deferred revenue relating to agreements that we entered into during previous periods. Consequently, any increase or decline
in new sales or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected in our revenue for that period. Any such change,
however, may affect our revenue in future periods. Additionally, subscriptions that are invoiced annually in advance or multi-
year in advance contribute significantly to our short-term and long-term deferred revenue in comparison to our invoices
issued quarterly and monthly in advance, which will also affect our financial position in any given period. Accordingly, the
effect of downturns or upturns in new sales and potential changes in our rate of renewals may not be fully reflected in our
results of operations until future periods. We may also be unable to reduce our cost structure in line with a significant
deterioration in sales or renewals. Our subscription model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue
through additional sales in any period, as revenue from new customers must be recognized over the applicable subscription

term.

If our cloud platform or internal networks, systems or data are or are perceived to have been breached, our solution
may be perceived as insecure, our reputation may be damaged and our financial results may be negatively impacted.

It is virtually impossible for us to entirely mitigate the risk of breaches of our cloud platform or other security incidents
affecting our internal systems, networks or data. In addition, the functionality of our platform may be disrupted, either
intentionally or due to negligence, by third parties, including disgruntled employees or contractors and other current or
former employees or contractors. The security measures we use internally and have integrated into our cloud platform, which
are designed to detect unauthorized activity and prevent or minimize security breaches, may not function as expected or may
not be sufficient to identify or protect against certain attacks. Companies are subject to a wide variety of attacks on their
networks and systems, and techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to networks in which data is stored
or through which data is transmitted change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target. As a
result, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate measures to prevent an electronic intrusion
into our customers through our cloud platform or to prevent breaches and other security incidents affecting our cloud
platform, internal networks, systems or data. Further, once identified, we may be unable to remediate or otherwise respond to
a breach or other incident in a timely manner. Actual or perceived security breaches of our cloud platform could result in
actual or perceived breaches of our customers’ networks and system.

24



Our internal systems are exposed to the same cybersecurity risks and consequences of a breach as our customers and
other enterprises. However, since our business is focused on providing reliable security services to our customers, we believe
that an actual or perceived breach of, or security incident affecting, our internal networks, systems or data, could be
especially detrimental to our reputation, customer confidence in our solution and our business.

Any real or perceived security breaches or other security incidents that we suffer with regard to our systems, networks or
data, including any such actual or perceived security breaches or security incidents that result, or are believed to result, in
actual or perceived breaches of our customers’ networks or systems, could result in:

» the expenditure of significant financial resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, remediate or work around
errors or defects, to address and eliminate vulnerabilities and to address any applicable legal or contractual
obligations relating to any actual or perceived security breach or other security incident;

e negative publicity and damage to our reputation, brand, and market position;

e harm to our relationships with, and a loss of, existing or potential customers or channel partners;
* delayed or lost sales and harm to our financial condition and results of operations;

e adelay in attaining, or the failure to attain, market acceptance; and

e legal claims and demands (including for stolen assets or information, repair of system damages and compensation to
customers and business partners), litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigations and other liability.

Any of the above could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

While we maintain insurance, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all liabilities incurred in relation to actual or
perceived security breaches or other security incidents. We also cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be
adequate for liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms,
or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large
claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including
premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation.

If our cloud platform does not interoperate with our customers’ network and security infrastructure or with third-
party products, websites or services, our cloud platform may become less competitive and our results of operations may be
harmed.

Our cloud platform must interoperate with our customers’ existing network and security infrastructure. These complex
systems are developed, delivered and maintained by the customer and a myriad of vendors and service providers. As a result,
the components of our customers’ infrastructure have different specifications, rapidly evolve, utilize multiple protocol
standards, include multiple versions and generations of products and may be highly customized. We must be able to
interoperate and provide our security services to customers with highly complex and customized networks, which requires
careful planning and execution between our customers, our customer support teams and our channel partners. Further, when
new or updated elements of our customers’ infrastructure or new industry standards or protocols, such as HTTP/2, are
introduced, we may have to update or enhance our cloud platform to allow us to continue to provide service to customers.
Our competitors or other vendors may refuse to work with us to allow their products to interoperate with our solutions, which
could make it difficult for our cloud platform to function properly in customer networks that include these third-party
products.

We may not deliver or maintain interoperability quickly or cost-effectively, or at all. These efforts require capital
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investment and engineering resources. If we fail to maintain compatibility of our cloud platform with our customers’ network
and security infrastructures, our customers may not be able to fully utilize our solutions, and we may, among other
consequences, lose or fail to increase our market share and experience reduced demand for our services, which would
materially harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We provide service level commitments under our customer contracts. If we fail to meet these contractual
commitments, we could be obligated to provide credits for future service and our business could suffer.

Our customer agreements contain service level commitments, which contain specifications regarding the availability and
performance of our cloud platform. Any failure of or disruption to our infrastructure could impact the performance of our
platform and the availability of services to customers. If we are unable to meet our stated service level commitments or if we
suffer extended periods of poor performance or unavailability of our platform, we may be contractually obligated to provide
affected customers with service credits for future subscriptions, and, in certain cases, refunds. To date, there has not been a
material failure to meet our service level commitments, and we do not currently have any material liabilities accrued on our
balance sheet for such commitments. Our revenue, other results of operations and financial condition could be harmed if we
suffer performance issues or downtime that exceeds the service level commitments under our agreements with our customers.

Our ability to maintain customer satisfaction depends in part on the quality of our customer support, including the
quality of the support provided on our behalf by certain channel partners. Failure to maintain high-quality customer

support could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not provide superior support to our customers, our ability to renew subscriptions, increase the number of users
and sell additional services to customers will be adversely affected. We believe that successfully delivering our cloud solution
requires a particularly high level of customer support and engagement. We or our channel partners must successfully assist
our customers in deploying our cloud platform, resolving performance issues, addressing interoperability challenges with a
customer’s existing network and security infrastructure and responding to security threats and cyberattacks. Many enterprises,
particularly large organizations, have very complex networks and require high levels of focused support, including premium
support offerings, to fully realize the benefits of our cloud platform. Any failure by us to maintain the expected level of
support could reduce customer satisfaction and hurt our customer retention, particularly with respect to our large enterprise
customers. Additionally, if our channel partners do not provide support to the satisfaction of our customers, we may be
required to provide this level of support to those customers, which would require us to hire additional personnel and to invest
in additional resources. We may not be able to hire such resources fast enough to keep up with demand, particularly if the
sales of our platform exceed our internal forecasts. To the extent that we or our channel partners are unsuccessful in hiring,
training and retaining adequate support resources, our ability and the ability of our channel partners to provide adequate and
timely support to our customers will be negatively impacted, and our customers’ satisfaction with our cloud platform could
be adversely affected. We currently rely in part on contractors provided by third-party service providers internationally to
provide support services to our customers, and we expect to expand our international customer service support team to other
countries. Any failure to properly train or oversee such contractors could result in a poor customer experience and an adverse
impact on our reputation and ability to renew subscriptions or engage new customers. Furthermore, as we sell our solutions
internationally, our support organization faces additional challenges, including those associated with delivering support,
training and documentation in languages other than English. Any failure to maintain high-quality customer support, or a
market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could materially harm our reputation, adversely affect our
ability to sell our solutions to existing and prospective customers and could harm our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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We rely on our key technical, sales and management personnel to grow our business, and the loss of one or more key
employees or the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could harm our business.

Our future success is substantially dependent on our ability to attract, retain and motivate the members of our
management team and other key employees throughout our organization. In particular, we are highly dependent on the
services of Jay Chaudhry, our president, chief executive officer and chairman of our board of directors, who is critical to our
future vision and strategic direction. We rely on our leadership team in the areas of operations, security, marketing, sales,
support and general and administrative functions, and on individual contributors on our research and development team.
Although we have entered into employment agreements with our key personnel, these agreements have no specific duration
and constitute at-will employment. We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of our employees. The loss
of one or more of our executive officers or key employees could seriously harm our business. For example, we recently hired
Dali Rajic as our president go-to-market and chief revenue officer following the departure of our prior head of sales in May
2018.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for these personnel in the
San Francisco Bay Area, where our headquarters are located, and in other locations where we maintain offices, is intense,
especially for experienced sales professionals and for engineers experienced in designing and developing cloud applications
and security software. We have from time to time experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring
and retaining employees with appropriate qualifications. For example, in recent years, recruiting, hiring and retaining
employees with expertise in the cybersecurity industry has become increasingly difficult as the demand for cybersecurity
professionals has increased as a result of the recent cybersecurity attacks on global corporations and governments. Many of
the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. In addition, job
candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection with their
employment. Volatility or lack of performance in our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and retain our key
employees. Also, many of our employees have become, or will soon become, vested in a substantial amount of equity awards,
which may give them a substantial amount of personal wealth. This may make it more difficult for us to retain and motivate
these employees, and this wealth could affect their decision about whether or not they continue to work for us. Any failure to
successfully attract, integrate or retain qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs could materially and adversely
affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, floods and other natural catastrophic events, and to
interruption by man-made problems such as power disruptions, computer viruses, data security breaches or terrorism.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. A significant
natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, occurring at our headquarters, at one of our other facilities or where a
key channel partner or data center is located could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, if a natural disaster or man-made problem were to affect our component suppliers or other third-party providers,
including our network bandwidth providers, this could materially and adversely affect our ability to provide services in a
timely or cost-effective manner. In addition, natural disasters and acts of terrorism could cause disruptions in our or our
customers’ businesses, national economies or the world economy as a whole. In addition, computer malware, viruses and
computer hacking, fraudulent use attempts and phishing attacks have become more prevalent in our industry, and our internal
systems may be victimized by such attacks. Although we maintain incident management and disaster response plans, in the
event of a major disruption caused by a natural disaster or man-made problem, we may be unable to continue our operations
and may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our development activities, lengthy interruptions in
service, breaches of data security and loss of critical data. Though it is difficult to determine what, if any, harm may directly
result from any specific interruption or attack, any failure to maintain performance, reliability, security and availability of our
platform to the satisfaction of our users may materially harm our reputation and our ability to retain existing customers and
attract new customers.

27



We incorporate technology from third parties into our cloud platform, and our inability to obtain or maintain rights to
the technology could harm our business.

We license software and other technology from third parties that we incorporate into or integrate with, our cloud
platform. We cannot be certain that our licensors are not infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties or that our
licensors have sufficient rights to the licensed intellectual property in all jurisdictions in which we may sell our services. In
addition, many licenses are non-exclusive, and therefore our competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to
us. Some of our agreements with our licensors may be terminated for convenience by them, or otherwise provide for a limited
term. If we are unable to continue to license any of this technology for any reason, our ability to develop and sell our services
containing such technology could be harmed. Similarly, if we are unable to license necessary technology from third parties
now or in the future, we may be forced to acquire or develop alternative technology, which we may be unable to do in a
commercially feasible manner or at all, and we may be required to use alternative technology of lower quality or performance
standards. This could limit and delay our ability to offer new or competitive products and services and increase our costs of
production. As a result, our business and results of operations could be significantly harmed. Additionally, as part of our
longer-term strategy, we plan to open our cloud security platform to third-party developers and applications to further extend
its functionality. We cannot be certain that such efforts to grow our business will be successful.

Some of our technology incorporates "open source' software, and we license some of our software through open
source projects, which could negatively affect our ability to sell our platform and subject us to possible litigation.

Our solutions incorporate software licensed by third parties under open source licenses, including open source software
included in software we receive from third-party commercial software vendors. Use of open source software may entail
greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide support, updates
or warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, the wide
availability of open source software used in our solutions could expose us to security vulnerabilities. Furthermore, the terms
of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be
construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market or commercialize our
solutions. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source
software. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a negative effect on our results of operations and financial
condition or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our solutions. In addition, by the
terms of some open source licenses, under certain conditions we could be required to release the source code of our
proprietary software, and to make our proprietary software available under open source licenses, including authorizing further
modification and redistribution. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to such
requirements by an open source license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source code, re-
engineer all or a portion of our platform or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our services, each of which provide an
advantage to our competitors or other entrants to the market, create security vulnerabilities in our solutions and could reduce
or eliminate the value of our services. Further, if we are held to have breached or otherwise failed to comply with the terms of
an open source software license, we could be required to release certain of our proprietary source code under open source
licenses, pay monetary damages, seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our services on terms that are not
economically feasible or be subject to injunctions that could require us to discontinue the sale of our services if re-
engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis. Many of the risks associated with use of open source software
cannot be eliminated and could negatively affect our business. Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for
controlling our use of open source software in our platform will be effective. Responding to any infringement or
noncompliance claim by an open source vendor, regardless of its validity, or discovering open source software code in our
platform could harm our business, operating results and financial condition by, among other things:

e resulting in time-consuming and costly litigation;
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» diverting management’s time and attention from developing our business;

e requiring us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty and licensing agreements that we would not normally
find acceptable;

*  causing delays in the deployment of our platform or service offerings to our customers;
e requiring us to stop offering certain services on or features of our platform;

e requiring us to redesign certain components of our platform using alternative non-infringing or non-open source
technology, which could require significant effort and expense;

*  requiring us to disclose our software source code and the detailed program commands for our software; and
*  requiring us to satisfy indemnification obligations to our customers.

We rely on third parties for certain essential financial and operational services, and a failure or disruption in these

services could materially and adversely affect our ability to manage our business effectively.

We rely on third parties to provide many essential financial and operational services to support our business. Many of
these vendors are less established and have shorter operating histories than traditional software vendors. Moreover, these
vendors provide their services to us via a cloud-based model instead of software that is installed on our premises. As a result,
we depend upon these vendors to provide us with services that are always available and are free of errors or defects that could
cause disruptions in our business processes. Any failure by these vendors to do so, or any disruption in our ability to access
the internet, would materially and adversely affect our ability to manage our operations.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for certain components of the equipment we use to operate our cloud
platform, and any disruption in the availability of these components could delay our ability to expand or increase the
capacity of our global data center network or replace defective equipment in our existing data centers.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for several components of the equipment we use to operate our cloud platform
and provide services to our customers. Our reliance on these suppliers exposes us to risks, including reduced control over
production costs and constraints based on the then current availability, terms and pricing of these components. For example,
we generally purchase these components on a purchase order basis, and do not have long-term contracts guaranteeing supply.
In addition, the technology industry has experienced component shortages and delivery delays in the past, and we may
experience shortages or delays, including as a result of natural disasters, increased demand in the industry or if our suppliers
do not have sufficient rights to supply the components in all jurisdictions in which we may host our services. If our supply of
certain components is disrupted or delayed, there can be no assurance that additional supplies or components can serve as
adequate replacements for the existing components or that supplies will be available on terms that are favorable to us, if at all.
Any disruption or delay in the supply of our components may delay opening new data centers, delay increasing capacity or
replacing defective equipment at existing data centers or cause other constraints on our operations that could damage our
channel partner or customer relationships.
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Claims by others that we infringe their proprietary technology or other rights, such as the lawsuits filed by Symantec
Corporation, or other lawsuits asserted against us, could result in significant costs and substantially harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

A number of companies in our industry hold a large number of patents and also protect their copyright, trade secret and
other intellectual property rights, and companies in the networking and security industry frequently enter into litigation based
on allegations of patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, patent holding companies
seek to monetize patents they previously developed, have purchased or otherwise obtained. Many companies, including our
competitors, may now, and in the future, have significantly larger and more mature patent, copyright, trademark and trade
secret portfolios than we have, which they may use to assert claims of infringement, misappropriation and other violations of
intellectual property rights against us. In addition, future litigation may involve non-practicing entities or other patent owners
who have no relevant product offerings or revenue and against whom our own patents may therefore provide little or no
deterrence or protection. As we face increasing competition and gain an increasingly higher profile, including as a result of
becoming a public company, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows. Third parties have asserted
in the past and may in the future assert claims of infringement of intellectual property rights against us and these claims, even
without merit, could harm our business, including by increasing our costs, reducing our revenue, creating customer concerns
that result in delayed or reduced sales, distracting our management from the running of our business and requiring us to cease
use of important intellectual property. In addition, because patent applications can take years to issue and are often afforded
confidentiality for some period of time, there may currently be pending applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued
patents that could cover one or more of our services. Moreover, in a patent infringement claim against us, we may assert, as a
defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent claims, that the patent is invalid or both. The strength of our defenses will
depend on the patents asserted, the interpretation of these patents, and our ability to invalidate the asserted patents. However,
we could be unsuccessful in advancing non-infringement and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States,
issued patents enjoy a presumption of validity, and the party challenging the validity of a patent claim must present clear and
convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove
infringement by a preponderance of the evidence, which is a lower burden of proof. Furthermore, because of the substantial
amount of discovery required in connection with patent and other intellectual property rights litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be compromised by the discovery process.

For example, we are currently involved in legal proceedings with Symantec Corporation. For additional details, see Part
I, Item 3 - Legal Proceedings. We are vigorously defending ourselves against these claims; however, we cannot assure you
that we will be successful in defending against these lawsuits or any future allegations of infringement. We are unable to
predict the likelihood of success in defending against these infringement claims. If we are not successful, we could be
required to pay substantial damages for past and future sales and/or licensing of our services, enjoined from making, using,
selling or otherwise offering our services if a license or other right to continue selling our services is not made available to us,
and required to pay substantial ongoing royalties and comply with unfavorable terms even if such a license is made available
to us. Any of these outcomes could result in a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we were to prevail, these
lawsuits, and any other third-party infringement claims, could be costly and time-consuming, divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from our business operations, deter channel partners from selling or licensing our services
and dissuade potential customers from purchasing our services, which would also materially harm our business. In addition,
any public announcements of the results of any proceedings in these or other third-party infringement claims could be
negatively perceived by industry or financial analysts and investors and could cause our stock price to experience volatility or
decline. The expense of litigation and the timing of this expense from period to period are difficult to estimate, subject to
change and could adversely affect our results of operations.

As the number of products and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur, claims of infringement,
misappropriation and other violations of intellectual property rights may increase. Our insurance may not cover intellectual
property rights infringement claims. Third parties have in the past and may in the future also assert infringement claims
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against our customers or channel partners, with whom our agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims. In
addition, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that such employees have
divulged proprietary or other confidential information to us.

In the event that we fail to successfully defend ourselves against an infringement claim, a successful claimant could
secure a judgment or otherwise require payment of legal fees, settlement payments, ongoing royalties or other costs or
damages; or we may agree to a settlement that prevents us from offering certain services or features; or we may be required to
obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all, to use the relevant technology. If we are prevented
from using certain technology or intellectual property, we may be required to develop alternative, non-infringing technology,
which could require significant time, during which we could be unable to continue to offer our affected services or features,
effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful.

From time to time, the U.S. Supreme Court, other U.S. federal courts and the U.S. Patent and Trademark Appeals Board,
and their foreign counterparts, have made and may continue to make changes to the interpretation of patent laws in their
respective jurisdictions. We cannot predict future changes to the interpretation of existing patent laws or whether U.S. or
foreign legislative bodies will amend such laws in the future. Any changes may lead to uncertainties or increased costs and
risks surrounding the outcome of third-party infringement claims brought against us and the actual or enhanced damages,
including treble damages, that may be awarded in connection with any such current or future claims and could have a

material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
Any of these events could materially and adversely harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may become involved in other litigation that may materially adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involved in various legal proceedings relating to matters incidental to the ordinary
course of our business, including patent, commercial, product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower and other
litigation and claims, and governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such matters can be time-
consuming, divert management’s attention and resources, cause us to incur significant expenses or liability and/or require us
to change our business practices. In addition, the expense of litigation and the timing of this expense from period to period
are difficult to estimate, subject to change and could adversely affect our results of operations. Because of the potential risks,
expenses and uncertainties of litigation, we may, from time to time, settle disputes, even where we have meritorious claims or
defenses, by agreeing to settlement agreements. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable, we cannot assure you that the
results of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

The success of our business depends in part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights.

We believe our intellectual property is an essential asset of our business, and our success and ability to compete depend
in part upon protection of our intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade
secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions, to establish and protect our intellectual property
rights, all of which provide only limited protection. The efforts we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may
not be sufficient or effective, and our patents, trademarks and copyrights may be held invalid or unenforceable. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that any patents will be issued with respect to our currently pending patent applications in a manner that
gives us adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages, or that any patents issued to us will not be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented. We have filed for patents in the United States and in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions, but such
protections may not be available in all countries in which we operate or in which we seek to enforce our intellectual property
rights, or may be difficult to enforce in practice. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under
which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents
against certain third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may
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provide limited or no benefit. Moreover, we may need to expend additional resources to defend our intellectual property
rights in these countries, and our inability to do so could impair our business or adversely affect our international expansion.
Our currently issued patents and any patents that may be issued in the future with respect to pending or future patent
applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection or they may not prove to be enforceable in actions against alleged
infringers. Additionally, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies require
compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent
application process and to maintain issued patents. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or
lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If this
occurs, it could materially harm our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

We may not be effective in policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights, and even if we do detect
violations, litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights. In addition, our intellectual property may be
stolen, including by cybercrimes, and we may not be able to identify the perpetrators or prevent the exploitation of our
intellectual property by our competitors or others. Protecting against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights,
technology and other proprietary rights is expensive and difficult, particularly outside of the United States. Any enforcement
efforts we undertake, including litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert management’s attention,
either of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Further, attempts to enforce our rights
against third parties could also provoke these third parties to assert their own intellectual property or other rights against us,
or result in a holding that invalidates or narrows the scope of our rights, in whole or in part. The inability to adequately
protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights could seriously harm our business, operating results,
financial condition and prospects. Even if we are able to secure our intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you that
such rights will provide us with competitive advantages or distinguish our services from those of our competitors or that our
competitors will not independently develop similar technology, duplicate any of our technology, or design around our
patents.

Our business depends, in part, on sales to government organizations, and significant changes in the contracting or
fiscal policies of such government organizations could have an adverse effect on our business and operating results.

We derive a portion of our revenue from contracts with government organizations, and we believe the success and
growth of our business will in part depend on our successful procurement of additional public sector customers. However,
demand from government organizations is often unpredictable, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or
grow our revenue from the public sector. Sales to government entities are subject to substantial risks, including the following:

» selling to government agencies can be highly competitive, expensive and time-consuming, often requiring
significant upfront time and expense without any assurance that such efforts will generate a sale;

e U.S. or other government certification requirements applicable to our cloud platform, including the Federal Risk and
Authorization Management Program, are often difficult and costly to obtain and maintain and failure to do so will
restrict our ability to sell to government customers;

e government demand and payment for our services may be impacted by public sector budgetary cycles and funding
authorizations; and

e governments routinely investigate and audit government contractors’ administrative processes and any unfavorable
audit could result in fines, civil or criminal liability, further investigations, damage to our reputation and debarment
from further government business.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could cause governments and governmental agencies to delay or refrain from
purchasing our solutions in the future or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business and operating results.
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Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business could subject us to fines and penalties and
could also cause us to lose customers in the public sector or negatively impact our ability to contract with the public sector.

Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including
agencies responsible for monitoring and enforcing privacy and data protection laws and regulations, employment and labor
laws, workplace safety, product safety, environmental laws, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws, import and export
controls, federal securities laws and tax laws and regulations. In certain jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be
more stringent than in the United States. These laws and regulations impose added costs on our business. Noncompliance
with applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to:

* investigations, enforcement actions and sanctions;

« mandatory changes to our cloud platform;

e disgorgement of profits, fines and damages;

»  civil and criminal penalties or injunctions;

e claims for damages by our customers or channel partners;

e termination of contracts;

e loss of intellectual property rights; and

* temporary or permanent debarment from sales to government organizations.

If any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our
business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition, responding to any action will
likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase in professional fees.
Enforcement actions and sanctions could materially harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We endeavor to properly classify employees as exempt versus non-exempt under applicable law. Although there are no
pending or threatened material claims or investigations against us asserting that some employees are improperly classified as
exempt, the possibility exists that some of our current or former employees could have been incorrectly classified as exempt
employees.

In addition, we must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of
contracts with the public sector, including U.S. federal, state and local governmental organizations, which affect how we and
our channel partners do business with governmental agencies. Selling our solutions to the U.S. government, whether directly
or through channel partners, also subjects us to certain regulatory and contractual requirements. Failure to comply with these
requirements by either us or our channel partners could subject us to investigations, fines and other penalties, which could
have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects. As an example, the U.S.
Department of Justice, or DOJ, and the General Services Administration, or GSA, have in the past pursued claims against and
financial settlements with IT vendors under the False Claims Act and other statutes related to pricing and discount practices
and compliance with certain provisions of GSA contracts for sales to the federal government. The DOJ and GSA continue to
actively pursue such claims. Violations of certain regulatory and contractual requirements could also result in us being
suspended or debarred from future government contracting. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on
our revenue, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

33



These laws and regulations impose added costs on our business, and failure to comply with these or other applicable
regulations and requirements could lead to claims for damages from our channel partners or customers, penalties, termination
of contracts, loss of exclusive rights in our intellectual property and temporary suspension or permanent debarment from
government contracting. Any such damages, penalties, disruptions or limitations in our ability to do business with the public
sector could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

If we were not able to satisfy data protection, security, privacy and other government- and industry-specific
requirements or regulations, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

Personal privacy, data protection, information security and other telecommunications regulations are significant issues in
the United States, Europe and in other jurisdictions where we offer our solutions. The regulatory framework for privacy, data
protection and security matters is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Our handling
of data is subject to a variety of laws and regulations, including regulation by various government agencies.

The U.S. federal government, and various state and foreign governments, have adopted or proposed limitations on the
collection, distribution, use and storage of information relating to individuals. Laws and regulations outside the United States,
and particularly in Europe, often are more restrictive than those in the United States. Such laws and regulations may require
companies to implement privacy and security policies, permit customers to access, correct and delete information stored or
maintained by such companies, inform individuals of security breaches that affect their information, and, in some cases,
obtain individuals’ consent to use information for certain purposes. In addition, some foreign governments require that certain
information collected in a country be retained within that country. We also may find it necessary or desirable to join industry
or other self-regulatory bodies or other information security or data protection-related organizations that require compliance
with their rules pertaining to information security and data protection. We also may be bound by additional, more stringent
contractual obligations relating to our collection, use and disclosure of personal, financial and other data.

We also expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning privacy,
data protection, information security and telecommunications services in the United States, the European Union and other
jurisdictions in which we operate or may operate, and we cannot yet determine the impact such future laws, regulations and
standards may have on our business. For example, the European Union implemented the General Data Protection Regulation
in May 2018, which imposes stringent data protection requirements and provides for significant penalties for noncompliance.
In addition, changes in laws or regulations that adversely affect the use of the internet, including laws impacting net
neutrality, could impact our business. Similarly, California in 2018 adopted the California Consumer Privacy Act, which will
take effect in January 2020 and seeks to provide California consumers with increased privacy rights and protections for their
personal information. Further, China and Russia, countries in which we offer our solutions, recently enacted legislation
regulating certain technologies, and it is not clear how broadly such legislation will be interpreted or applied in relation to our
business. We expect that existing laws, regulations and standards may be interpreted in new manners in the future. Future
laws, regulations, standards and other obligations, and changes in the interpretation of existing laws, regulations, standards
and other obligations could require us to modify our solutions, restrict our business operations, increase our costs and impair
our ability to maintain and grow our customer base and increase our revenue.

Although we work to comply with applicable laws and regulations, industry standards, contractual obligations and other
legal obligations, those laws, regulations, standards and obligations are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and
applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with one another. In addition, they may
conflict with other requirements or legal obligations that apply to our business or the security features and services that our
customers expect from our solutions. As such, we cannot assure ongoing compliance with all such laws, regulations,
standards and obligations. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with applicable laws, regulations, standards or
obligations, or any actual or suspected security breach or other security incident, whether or not resulting in unauthorized
access to, or acquisition, release or transfer of information relating to individuals or other data, may result in governmental
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enforcement actions and prosecutions, private litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity, and could cause our
customers to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. Any inability to adequately
address privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, or comply with applicable laws, regulations, standards and
obligations, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales, and materially and
adversely affect our business and operating results.

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and noncompliance with such laws can subject us to
criminal penallties or significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and other anti-corruption,
anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws in the United States and other countries in which we conduct activities.
Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, which have been enforced aggressively and are interpreted broadly, prohibit
companies and their employees and agents from promising, authorizing, making or offering improper payments or other
benefits to government officials and others in the private sector. We leverage third parties, including channel partners, to sell
subscriptions to our platform and conduct our business abroad. We and these third-party intermediaries may have direct or
indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may be
held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party business partners and intermediaries, our employees,
representatives, contractors, channel partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. While we have
policies and procedures to address compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that all of our employees and agents will
not take actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. As we
increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. Noncompliance with these laws could
subject us to investigations, severe criminal or civil sanctions, settlements, prosecution, loss of export privileges, suspension
or debarment from U.S. government contracts, other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages,
other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage and other consequences.
Any investigations, actions or sanctions could materially harm our reputation, business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international
markets and subject us to liability if we are not in full compliance with applicable laws.

Our business activities are subject to various restrictions under U.S. export and similar laws and regulations, including
the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations and various economic and trade sanctions
regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. The U.S. export control laws
and U.S. economic sanctions laws include restrictions or prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products and services to
U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, persons and entities. In addition, various countries regulate the import
of certain technology and have enacted or could enact laws that could limit our ability to provide our services and operate our
cloud platform or could limit our customers’ ability to access or use our services in those countries.

Although we take precautions to prevent our services from being provided in violation of such laws, our services may
have been in the past, and could in the future be, provided inadvertently in violation of such laws, despite the precautions we
take. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to civil or
criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export privileges and fines. We may also be materially and adversely
affected through penalties, reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets, or otherwise. Obtaining the necessary
authorizations, including any required license, for a particular transaction may be time-consuming, is not guaranteed and may
result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities. In addition, changes in our platform, or changes in export, sanctions and
import laws, could delay the introduction and sale of subscriptions to our platform in international markets, prevent users in
certain countries from accessing our services or, in some cases, prevent the provision of our services to certain countries,
governments, persons or entities altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or related laws,
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shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies
targeted by such regulations could decrease our ability to sell subscriptions to our platform to existing customers or potential
new customers with international operations. Any decrease in our ability to sell subscriptions to our platform could materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our international operations expose us to significant risks, and failure to manage those risks could materially and
adversely impact our business.

Historically, we have derived a significant portion of our revenue from outside the United States. We derived
approximately 51%, 55% and 54% of our revenue from our international customers in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal
2017, respectively. As of July 31, 2019, approximately 55% of our full-time employees were located outside of the United
States. We are continuing to adapt to and develop strategies to address international markets and our growth strategy includes
expansion into target geographies, such as Japan and the Asia-Pacific region, but there is no guarantee that such efforts will
be successful. We expect that our international activities will continue to grow in the future, as we continue to pursue
opportunities in international markets. These international operations will require significant management attention and

financial resources and are subject to substantial risks, including:

*  political, economic and social uncertainty;

» unexpected costs for the localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for
local practices and regulatory requirements;

« greater difficulty in enforcing contracts and accounts receivable collection, and longer collection periods;
* reduced or uncertain protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
«  greater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory practices, tariffs and tax laws and treaties;

e greater risk of a failure of foreign employees, partners, distributors and resellers to comply with both U.S. and
foreign laws, including antitrust regulations, anti-bribery laws, export and import control laws, and any applicable
trade regulations ensuring fair trade practices;

e requirements to comply with foreign privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations and the
risks and costs of noncompliance;

* increased expenses incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and equipment for our international
operations;

o greater difficulty in identifying, attracting and retaining local qualified personnel, and the costs and expenses
associated with such activities;

» differing employment practices and labor relations issues;

« difficulties in managing and staffing international offices and increased travel, infrastructure and legal compliance
costs associated with multiple international locations; and

» fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies in markets where we do business,
including the British Pound, Indian Rupee and Euro, and related impact on sales cycles.

Further, following a referendum in June 2016 in which voters in the United Kingdom approved an exit from the EU, the
government of the United Kingdom initiated a process to leave the EU (often referred to as "Brexit"). Brexit has led to legal
uncertainty in the region and could adversely affect the tax, operational, legal and regulatory regimes to which our business is
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subject. In addition, any continued or further uncertainty, weakness or deterioration in global macroeconomic and market
conditions may cause our UK or EU customers to modify spending priorities or delay purchasing decisions, and may result in
lengthened sales cycles, any of which could harm our business and operating results. In the event of a "hard exit" where the
United Kingdom would exit the EU without an agreement in place, these uncertainties and the risks associated with them

would increase.

As we continue to develop and grow our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to
anticipate and effectively manage these risks. The expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional
international markets will require significant management attention and financial resources. Our failure to successfully
manage our international operations and the associated risks could limit the future growth of our business.

Our failure to raise additional capital necessary to expand our operations and invest in new solutions could reduce
our ability to compete and could harm our business.

We expect that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our anticipated
cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. We may, however, need to raise
additional funds in the future to fund our operating expenses, make capital purchases and acquire or invest in business or
technology, and we may not be able to obtain those funds on favorable terms, or at all. If we raise additional equity financing,
our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock
could decline. Furthermore, if we engage in debt financing, the holders of debt would have priority over the holders of our
common stock, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or our ability
to pay any dividends on our common stock, though we do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. We may also
be required to take other actions, any of which could harm our business and operating results. If we are unable to obtain
adequate financing, or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our
business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business, operating results,
financial condition and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced IT security spending may adversely impact our revenue and profitability.

Our operations and performance depend in part on worldwide economic conditions and the impact these conditions have
on levels of spending on IT networking and security solutions. Our business depends on the overall demand for these
solutions and on the economic health and general willingness of our current and prospective customers to purchase our
security services. Weak economic conditions, or a reduction in IT security spending, could materially and adversely affect
our business, operating results and financial condition in a number of ways, including by reducing sales, lengthening sales
cycles and lowering prices for our services.

We believe our long-term value as a company will be greater if we focus on growth, which may negatively impact our
profitability in the near term.

Part of our business strategy is to primarily focus on our long-term growth. As a result, our profitability may be lower in
the near term than it would be if our strategy were to maximize short-term profitability. Significant expenditures on sales and
marketing efforts, and expenditures on growing our cloud platform and expanding our research and development, each of
which we intend to continue to invest in, may not ultimately grow our business or cause long-term profitability. If we are
ultimately unable to achieve profitability at the level anticipated by industry or financial analysts and our stockholders, our
stock price may decline.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial
statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
or the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the rules and regulations of The
Nasdaq Global Select Market, or Nasdaq. The requirements of these rules and regulations will increase our legal, accounting
and financial compliance costs; make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly; and place significant strain

on our personnel, systems and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. We have developed our disclosure controls, internal control over financial reporting
and other procedures to ensure information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and information
required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and
financial officers.

Our current controls and any new controls we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our
business. Further, weaknesses in our internal controls may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain
effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results
or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior
periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls also could adversely affect the results of periodic
management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports we will file
with the SEC under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information,
which would likely have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.

In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, we have expended and anticipate we will continue to expend significant resources, including accounting-
related costs, and provide significant management oversight. Any failure to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, or
consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could
materially impair our ability to operate our business. If our internal controls are perceived as inadequate or we are unable to
produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors may lose confidence in our operating results and our stock price
could decline. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on
Nasdagqg.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we are required to have our independent registered public accounting
firm attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment includes disclosure of any
material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. We are also required to
have our independent registered public accounting firm issue an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal controls are effective.

If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if, when required, our
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would
cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC.
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We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our operating results.

The vast majority of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, substantially all of our revenue is
not subject to foreign currency risk. However, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the real cost of our solutions
to our customers outside of the United States, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results. In
addition, an increasing portion of our operating expenses is incurred outside the United States, is denominated in foreign
currencies, such as the British Pound, Indian Rupee and Euro, and is subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. If we become more exposed to currency fluctuations and are not able to successfully hedge against
the risks associated with currency fluctuations, our operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use,
value added or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could adversely
affect our operating results.

We do not collect sales and use, value added or similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales because we have
been advised that such taxes are not applicable to our services in certain jurisdictions. Sales and use, value added and similar
tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not collect such taxes may assert that such
taxes are applicable, which could result in tax assessments, penalties and interest, to us or our customers for the past amounts,
and we may be required to collect such taxes in the future. If we are unsuccessful in collecting such taxes from our customers,
we could be held liable for such costs, which may materially and adversely affect our operating results.

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrangements are subject to the tax laws of various jurisdictions, and we
could be obligated to pay additional taxes, which would harm our results of operations.

We are expanding our international operations and staff to support our business in international markets. Our corporate
structure and associated transfer pricing policies contemplate the business flows and future growth into the international
markets, and consider the functions, risks and assets of the various entities involved in the intercompany transactions. The
amount of taxes we pay in different jurisdictions may depend on the application of the tax laws of the various jurisdictions,
including the United States, to our international business activities, changes in tax rates, new or revised tax laws or
interpretations of existing tax laws and policies, and our ability to operate our business in a manner consistent with our
corporate structure and intercompany arrangements. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may
challenge our methodologies for pricing intercompany transactions pursuant to the intercompany arrangements or disagree
with our determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a challenge or
disagreement were to occur, and our position was not sustained, or if there are changes in tax laws or the way existing tax
laws are interpreted or applied, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which could result in one-
time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of our operations. Our financial
statements could fail to reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of July 31, 2019, we had net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes and state income tax
purposes of approximately $360.0 million and $109.5 million, respectively, available to offset future taxable income. We also
had U.S. federal and California research and development credits of $8.4 million and $6.3 million, respectively. If not
utilized, a portion of the federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2027 and the state net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2024. A portion of our federal and state net operating losses will carry forward
indefinitely. Additionally, if not utilized, our federal research and development credits will begin to expire in 2033. Our
California research and development credits may be carried forward indefinitely. Realization of these net operating loss
carryforwards depends on future income, and there is a risk that a portion of our existing carryforwards could expire unused
and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities, which could materially and adversely affect our results of
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operations.

In addition, under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an
"ownership change," generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership by "5% shareholders"
over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change
tax attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset its post-change income may be limited. As a result, in the event that it is
determined that we have in the past experienced an ownership change, or if we experience one or more ownership changes in
the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carry-
forwards to offset U.S. federal taxable liability may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased
future tax liability to us.

Furthermore, the recently enacted legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "Tax Act")
imposes certain limitations on the deduction of net operating losses, including a limitation on use of net operating losses
generated in tax years that began on or after January 1, 2018 to offset 80% of taxable income and disallowance of carryback
of post-2017 net operating losses, which could further increase our future tax liability.

Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert
the attention of key management personnel, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our

operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Our business strategy may, from time to time, include acquiring other complementary solutions, technologies or
businesses. We have in the past acquired, and expect in the future to acquire, businesses that we believe will complement or
augment our existing business. In order to expand our security offerings and features, we also may enter into relationships
with other businesses, which could involve preferred or exclusive licenses, additional channels of distribution or investments
in other companies. Negotiating these transactions can be time-consuming, difficult and costly, and our ability to close these
transactions may be subject to third-party approvals, such as government regulatory approvals, which are beyond our control.
Consequently, we cannot assure you that these transactions, once undertaken and announced, will close.

These kinds of acquisitions or investments may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. In particular,
we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, products and services, personnel or
operations of companies that we may acquire, particularly if the key personnel of an acquired business choose not to work for
us. We may have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired business or using or continuing the development of the
acquired technologies. Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing business, divert our resources and require significant
management attention that would otherwise be available for development of our business. We may not successfully evaluate
or utilize the acquired technology or personnel, or accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction,
including accounting charges. Any acquisition or investment could expose us to unknown liabilities. Moreover, we cannot
assure you that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition or investment would be realized or that we would not be exposed to
unknown liabilities. In connection with these types of transactions, we may:

» issue additional equity securities that would dilute our stockholders;
e use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business;

e incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;
» incur large charges or substantial liabilities;

» encounter difficulties integrating diverse business cultures; and

*  become subject to adverse tax consequences, substantial depreciation or deferred compensation charges.
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These challenges related to acquisitions or investments could adversely affect our business, operating results, financial
condition and prospects.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect or financial reporting
standards or interpretations change, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
as provided in the section titled "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities and equity,
and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant assumptions and
estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to determination of revenue
recognition, deferred revenue and deferred contract acquisition costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of common
stock options, valuation of intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of property and equipment and definite-lived
intangible assets, the period of benefit generated from our deferred contract acquisition costs, loss contingencies related to
litigation, and valuation of deferred tax assets. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change
or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the
expectations of industry or financial analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

Additionally, we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and review new
pronouncements and drafts thereof that are relevant to us. As a result of new standards, changes to existing standards and
changes in their interpretation, we might be required to change our accounting policies, alter our operational policies and
implement new or enhance existing systems so that they reflect new or amended financial reporting standards, or we may be
required to restate our published financial statements. Such changes to existing standards or changes in their interpretation
may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position and profit, or cause an adverse deviation from our
revenue and operating profit target, which may negatively impact our financial results.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

The concentration of our stock ownership with insiders will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters,
including the ability to influence the outcome of director elections and other matters requiring stockholder approval.

As of July 31, 2019, our executive officers, directors, current 5% or greater stockholders and affiliated entities together
beneficially owned approximately 50.9% of our common stock outstanding with Jay Chaudhry, our president, chief executive
officer and chairman of our board of directors, and his affiliates beneficially owning approximately 21.1% of our common
stock. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, will have control over most matters that require approval by our
stockholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Corporate action might be
taken even if other stockholders oppose them. This concentration of ownership might also have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change of control of us that other stockholders may view as beneficial.

The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or
otherwise will dilute all other stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to one billion shares of common stock
and up to two hundred million shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board
of directors. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, we may issue shares of common stock or securities
convertible into shares of our common stock from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition, investment, our
stock incentive plans or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and
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cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Certain provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company
more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove members of our board of directors or current
management and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
delay or prevent a change in control of our company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect
directors that are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate actions, including
effecting changes in our management. These provisions include:

e aclassified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to
change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

e the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of
those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

e the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board
of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill
vacancies on our board of directors;

« aprohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or
special meeting of our stockholders;

e the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairperson of our board of
directors, chief executive officer or president (in the absence of a chief executive officer) or a majority vote of our
board of directors, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take
action, including the removal of directors;

e the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 23% of the voting power of all of the then
outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation relating to the issuance of preferred stock and management of our business or
our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to affect such amendments to
facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

e the ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend our amended and restated bylaws, which may allow
our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an
acquirer to amend our amended and restated bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

* advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or
to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer
from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to
obtain control of us.

These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting
stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time.
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The market price of our common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

There was no public market for our common stock prior to the IPO. The market price of our common stock following the
IPO has fluctuated substantially and may fluctuate significantly in the future in response to a number of factors, including
those described in this "Risk Factors" section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Factors that
could cause fluctuations in the market price of our common stock include the following:

e actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our operating results;

e the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these
projections;

e announcements by us or our competitors of new products or new or terminated significant contracts, commercial

relationships or capital commitments;

* industry or financial analyst or investor reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with
the SEC;

* rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;
e price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
e volume fluctuations in the trading of our common stock from time to time;

« changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in
our industry in particular;

e the sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

» failure of industry or financial analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any analysts
who follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

e actual or anticipated developments in our business or our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape
generally;

e litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our
competitors;

* developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property rights or our solutions, or third-party proprietary
rights;

« announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors;

* new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

e any major changes in our management or our board of directors, particularly with respect to Mr. Chaudhry;

»  general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets; and

e other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, has experienced extreme
price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those
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companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our
actual operating performance. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market
prices of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against that company.
Securities litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and
resources from our business. This could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur,
could reduce the price that our common stock might otherwise attain and may dilute your voting power and your

ownership interest in us.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, particularly sales by our directors,
executive officers and significant stockholders, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock and may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that
you deem appropriate.

In addition, certain holders of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to registration of their shares under
the Securities Act pursuant to our amended and restated investors’ rights agreement. If these holders of our common stock, by
exercising their registration rights, sell a large number of shares, they could adversely affect the market price for our common
stock.

We may also issue our shares of common stock or securities convertible into shares of our common stock from time to
time in connection with a financing, acquisition, investments or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial
dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, your ability to achieve a return on your

investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available
funds and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our
board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never
occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

If industry or financial analysts issue inaccurate or unfavorable research regarding our common stock, our stock
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts
publish about us or our business. We do not control these analysts or the content and opinions included in their reports. As a
new public company, we may be slow to attract research coverage and the analysts who publish information about our
common stock will have had relatively little experience with our company, which could affect their ability to accurately
forecast our results and make it more likely that we fail to meet their estimates. If any of the analysts who cover us issues an
inaccurate or unfavorable opinion regarding our stock price, our stock price would likely decline. In addition, the stock prices
of many companies in the technology industry have declined significantly after those companies have failed to meet, or
significantly exceed, the financial guidance publicly announced by the companies or the expectations of analysts. If our
financial results fail to meet, or significantly exceed, our announced guidance or the expectations of analysts or public
investors, analysts could downgrade our common stock or publish unfavorable research about us. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, our visibility in the financial markets could
decrease, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
and the federal district courts of the United States are the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and
our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or
our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the
exclusive forum for:

e any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;
e any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

e any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws;

* any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; and

* any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal-affairs doctrine.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United States
are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Each of these exclusive-forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it
finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us
and our directors, officers and other employees.

If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other
jurisdictions, which could seriously harm our business. For example, on December 19, 2018, the Delaware Court of Chancery
issued a decision in Matthew Sciabacucchi v. Matthew B. Salzberg et al., C.A. No. 2017-0931-JTL (Del. Ch.), finding that
provisions such as selecting the federal district courts of the United States of America as the exclusive forum for the
resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933 are not valid under Delaware

law.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our

ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the
listing requirements of Nasdaq and other applicable securities rules and regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase
our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand
on our systems and resources. Among other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current
reports with respect to our business and results of operations and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. In order to improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. As a result,
management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Although we have hired additional personnel to help comply with these requirements, we

may need to further expand our legal and finance departments in the future, which will increase our costs and expenses.
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In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating
uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time-
consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of
specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and
governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws,
regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expense and a diversion of
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with
new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business and prospects may be harmed.

We ceased to be an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012 with our
transition to large accelerated filer status as of July 31, 2019. As a result, we have experienced, and expect to continue to
experience, additional costs associated with being a public company going forward, including costs associated with
compliance with the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

As a result of disclosure of information in the filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition
have become more visible, which we believe may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other
third parties. If such claims are successful, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be
materially harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and
resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and materially harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified employees, executive officers and members of our board of directors.

In addition, as a result of our disclosure obligations as a public company, we have reduced strategic flexibility and are
under pressure to focus on short-term results, which may materially and adversely affect our ability to achieve long-term
profitability.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Jose, California, where we currently lease approximately 56,000 square
feet of space under lease agreements that expire in 2021. Effective April 2019, we entered into a sublease agreement (the
"lease agreement"), for approximately 172,000 square feet of corporate office space in San Jose, California (the "leased
premises"), which will serve as our new corporate headquarters. The lease agreement has a commencement date of October 1,
2019, and its initial lease term expires in September 2026. We will initially occupy approximately 69,000 square feet with the
remainder of the leased premises to be occupied in phases over the initial term of the lease, with full occupancy expected to
occur by October 2025. We also maintain offices in Atlanta, Georgia; New York, New York; Raleigh, North Carolina; and
Tysons, Virginia, as well as multiple locations internationally, including in Australia, Canada, France, Germany, India, Japan,
the Netherlands, Singapore and the United Kingdom. We lease all of our facilities and do not own any real property. We
expect to add facilities as we grow our employee base and expand geographically.

We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future and that, should it be needed,
suitable additional space will be available to accommodate expansion of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information called for by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to Item 8. "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data," Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

47



PART II

Item 5. Markets Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol "ZS" since March 16,
2018. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of July 31, 2019, we had 105 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater
than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street
name by brokers and other nominees.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds
and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to
applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business
conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item with respect to our equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference to our
Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(a) Sale of Unregistered Equity Securities
None.
(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

On March 15, 2018, the SEC declared our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-223072) for our IPO
effective. There have been no material changes in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final
prospectus filed with the SEC on March 16, 2018.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that
Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Zscaler, Inc. under the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act.
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We have presented below the cumulative total return to our stockholders between March 16, 2018 (the date our common
stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq) through July 31, 2019 in comparison to the Standard & Poor's 500 Index and
Standard & Poor Information Technology Index. All values assume a $100 initial investment and data for the Standard &
Poor's 500 Index and Standard & Poor Information Technology Index assume reinvestment of dividends. The comparisons
are based on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of our common stock.

March(])6, April 30,  July 31, October 31, January31, April30, July3l1,

Company/Index 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
Zscaler, Inc. $ 10000 $ 9058 § 107.00 § 10997 $ 146.58 $ 207.00 $ 25536
S&P 500 Index $ 10000 $ 9783 § 10456 § 101.16 $ 10142 $ 111.03 $ 11291

S&P 500 Information Technology Index $ 100.00 $ 96.18 $ 105.06 $ 103.05 $ 99.00 $ 118.07 $ 121.58

®) Base period.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statements of operations data presented below for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 and
the consolidated balance sheet data as of July 31, 2019 and 2018 are derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated statements of
operations data for fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2015 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of July 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future. The selected
consolidated financial data and other data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the section entitled
"Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue $ 302,836 $ 190,174  $ 125,717 $ 80,325 $ 53,707
Cost of revenue? 59,669 37,875 27,472 20,127 14,431
Gross profit 243,167 152,299 98,245 60,198 39,276
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing"’® 169,913 116,409 79,236 56,702 32,191
Research and development'® 61,969 39,379 33,561 20,940 15,034
General and administrative” ® 46,598 31,135 20,521 9,399 4,469
Total operating expenses 278,480 186,923 133,318 87,041 51,694
Loss from operations (35,313) (34,624) (35,073) (26,843) (12,418)
Interest income, net 7,730 2,236 597 289 162
Other income (expense), net (329) 79 (107) (416) (343)
Loss before income taxes (27,912) (32,309) (34,583) (26,970) (12,599)
Provision for income taxes 743 1,337 877 468 233
Net loss $ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460) $ (27,438) $ (12,832)
Accretion of Series C and D redeemable
convertible preferred stock — (6,332) (9,570) (8,648) (147)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (28,655) $ (39,978) § (45,030) $ (36,086) $ (12,979)

Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted® $ 0.23) $ 0.63) $ (1.54) $ (1.36) $ (0.55)

Weighted-average shares used in computing net
loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted” 123,566 63,881 29,221 26,521 23,519
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M Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 2,926 $ 757 $ 348§ 189 $ 116
Sales and marketing 23,118 5,044 2,794 1,574 611
Research and development 15,090 3,045 5,574 1,025 648
General and administrative 5,289 2,378 1,203 829 186

Total $ 46,423 $ 11224 $ 9919 $ 3617 $ 1,561

@ Includes amortization expense of acquired intangible assets as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 512 — 3 — — $ —
Sales and marketing 386 — — — —
Research and development 10 — — — —
Total $ 908 — 3 — 3 — 8 —
@ Includes certain litigation-related expenses as follows:
Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

Litigation-related expenses $ 13,079 8,039 $ 5,827 $ — 3 —

® See Note 12, Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders, of our consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for an explanation of the method used to calculate our basic and

diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders and the weighted-average number of shares used in the

computation of the per share amounts.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Working capital”

Total assets

Deferred revenue, current and noncurrent
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

July 31,

) Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Key Business Metrics

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)
$ 78,484 § 135,579 $ 87,978 $ 92,842 §$ 83,842
$ 286,162 $ 162,960 $ — 3 — 8§ —
§ 234,137 § 204,332 § 22,450 $ 49,157 $ 50,625
$ 604,162 $§ 447,781 § 182,902 $ 153,518  § 116,620
$ 251,202 § 164,023 $ 96,619 $ 65913 § 49,780
$ — — $ 200977 $ 191,407 $ 157,802
$ (224,455) $§ (196,100) $ (162,016) $ (126,556) $ (109,442)
$ 308,558 $§ 240,236 $§ (151,142) $ (124,740) $ (105,656)

The following table shows certain non-GAAP financial measures. A reconciliation for each non-GAAP measure is

contained in the "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" section of Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Gross profit

Non-GAAP gross profit

Gross margin

Non-GAAP gross margin

Loss from operations

Non-GAAP income (loss) from operations
Operating margin

Non-GAAP operating margin

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities
Free cash flow

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities as a percentage of revenue

Free cash flow margin

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in thousands)

$ 243,167 $ 152,299 $ 98,245 $ 60,198 $ 39,276
$ 246,605 $ 153,056 $ 98,593 $ 60,387 $ 39,392
80 % 80 % 78 % 75 % 73 %

81 % 80 % 78 % 75 % 73 %

$ (35,313) $ (34,624) $ (35,073) $ (26,843) $ (12,418)
$ 25,097 § (15,361) $ (19,327) $ (23,226) $ (10,857)
(12)% (18)% (28)% 33)% (23)%

8 % (8)% (15)% 29)% (20)%

$ 58,027 $ 17307 $ (6,019) $  (11916) $ (3,279)
$ (162,074) $ (178,103) $ (8,174) $ (6,247) $ (595)
$ 46,384 $ 208,397 $ 9,497 § 27,563 $ 85,615
$ 29,345  § 2,137 $ (14,193) $ (18,163) $ (9,984)
19 % 9 % (5)% (15)% (6)%

10 % 1% (11)% 23)% (19%
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As
discussed in the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements," the following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such difference include, but are not limited to, those identified
below and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our fiscal
year ends July 31, and our fiscal quarters end on October 31, January 31, April 30 and July 31. Our fiscal years ended July
31, 2019, July 31, 2018 and July 31, 2017 are referred to as fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Overview

Zscaler was incorporated in 2007, during the early stages of cloud adoption and mobility, based on a vision that the
internet would become the new corporate network as the cloud becomes the new data center. We predicted that with rapid
cloud adoption and increasing workforce mobility, traditional perimeter security approaches would provide inadequate
protection for users and data and an increasingly poor user experience. We pioneered a security cloud that represents a
fundamental shift in the architectural design and approach to network security.

We generate revenue primarily from sales of subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with related support
services. We also generate an immaterial amount of revenue from professional and other services, which consist primarily of
fees associated with mapping, implementation, network design and training. Our subscription pricing is calculated on a per-
user basis. We recognize subscription and support revenue ratably over the life of the contract, which is generally one to three
years. As of July 31, 2019, we had expanded our operations to over 3,900 customers across every major industry, with users
in 185 countries. Government agencies and some of the largest enterprises in the world rely on us to help them transform to
the cloud, including more than 400 of the Forbes Global 2000.

We operate our business as one reportable segment. Our revenue has experienced significant growth in recent periods.
For fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, our revenue was $302.8 million, $190.2 million and $125.7 million, respectively,
representing year-over-year growth rate for fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018 of 59% and 51%, respectively. However, we have
incurred net losses in all periods since our inception. For fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, our net loss was $28.7
million, $33.6 million and $35.5 million, respectively. We expect we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future, as we continue to invest in our sales and marketing organization to take advantage of our market opportunity, to invest
in research and development efforts to enhance the functionality of our cloud platform, to incur additional compliance and
other related costs as we operate as a public company, and address ongoing legal matters and related accruals, certain of
which are described in further detail in Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Initial Public Offering

In March 2018, we completed our initial public offering (IPO) of common stock, in which we sold 13,800,000 shares.
The shares were sold at an IPO price of $16.00 per share for net proceeds of $205.3 million, after deducting underwriters'
discounts and commissions of $15.5 million. In connection with the IPO, we incurred offering costs of $6.2 million which
were recorded within stockholders’ equity as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO. Immediately prior to the
closing of the IPO, all our outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 72,500,750
shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis.
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Certain Factors Affecting Our Performance

Increased Internet Traffic and Adoption of Cloud-Based Software and Security

The adoption of cloud applications and infrastructure, explosion of internet traffic volumes and shift to mobile-first
computing generally, and the pace at which enterprises adopt the internet as their corporate network in particular, impact our
ability to drive market adoption of our cloud platform. We believe that most enterprises are in the early stages of a broad
transformation to the cloud. Organizations are increasingly relying on the internet to operate their businesses, deploying new
SaaS applications and migrating internally managed line-of-business applications to the cloud. However, the growing
dependence on the internet has increased exposure to malicious or compromised websites, and sophisticated hackers are
exploiting the gaps left by legacy network security appliances. To securely access the internet and transform their networks,
organizations must also make fundamental changes in their network and security architectures. We believe that most
organizations have yet to fully make these investments. Since we enable organizations to securely transform to the cloud, we
believe that the imperative for organizations to securely move to the cloud will increase demand for our cloud platform and
broaden our customer base.

New Customer Acquisition

We believe that our ability to increase the number of customers on our cloud platform is an indicator of our market
penetration and our future business opportunities. As of July 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we had over 3,900, 3,250 and
2,800 customers, respectively, across all major geographies. As of July 31, 2019, we had over 400 of the Forbes Global 2000
as customers. Our ability to continue to grow this number will increase our future opportunities for renewals and follow-on
sales. We believe that we have significant room to capture additional market share and intend to continue to invest
significantly in sales and marketing to engage our prospective customers, increase brand awareness, further leverage our
channel partnerships and drive adoption of our solution.

Follow-On Sales

We typically expand our relationship with our customers over time. While most of our new customers route all of their
internet-bound web traffic through our cloud platform, some of our customers initially use our services for specific users or
specific security functionality. We leverage our land-and-expand model with the goal of generating incremental revenue,
often within the term of the initial subscription, by increasing sales to our existing customers in one of three ways:

»  expanding deployment of our cloud platform to cover additional users;
e upgrading to a more advanced Business, Transformation or Secure Transformation suite; and

e selling a ZPA subscription to a ZIA customer, a ZIA subscription to a ZPA customer, or other features on an a la
carte basis.

These purchases increase the Annual Recurring Revenue ("ARR") attributable to our customers over time. To establish
ARR for a customer, we use the total amount of each order booked to compute the annual recurring value of revenue that we
would recognize if the customer continues to renew all contractual subscriptions. For example, a contract for $3.0 million
with a contractual term of three years would have ARR of $1.0 million as long as our customer uses our cloud platform.

Investing in Business Growth

Since our founding, we have invested significantly in growing our business. We intend to continue (i) investing in our
research and development organization and our development efforts to offer new solutions on our platform and (ii) dedicating
resources to update and upgrade our existing solutions. In addition, we expect our general and administrative expenses to
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increase in absolute dollars in the foreseeable future, as we continue to operate as a public company and deal with ongoing
legal matters and related accruals, certain of which are described in further detail in Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies,
of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We also intend to continue to invest significantly in sales and marketing to grow and train our sales force, broaden our
brand awareness and expand and deepen our channel partner relationships. While these planned investments will increase our
operating expenses in the short term, we believe that over the long term these investments will help us to expand our
customer base and grow our business. We also are investing in programs to increase recognition of our brand and solutions,
including joint marketing activities with our channel partners and strategic partners.

While we expect our operating expenses to increase in absolute dollars in the foreseeable future, as a result of these
activities, we will balance these investments in future growth with a continued focus on managing our results of operations
and investing judiciously. In the long term we anticipate that these investments will positively impact our business and results
of operations.

Key Business Metrics and Other Financial Measures

We review a number of operating and financial metrics, including the following key metrics, to measure our
performance, identify trends, formulate business plans and make strategic decisions.

Dollar-Based Net Retention Rate

We believe that dollar-based net retention rate is a key metric to measure the long-term value of our customer
relationships because it is driven by our ability to retain and expand the recurring revenue generated from our existing
customers. Our dollar-based net retention rate compares the recurring revenue from a set of customers against the same
metric for the prior 12-month period on a trailing basis. Because our customers have repeat buying patterns and the average
term of our contracts is more than 12 months, we measure this metric over a set of customers who were with us as of the last
day of the same reporting period in the prior fiscal year. Our dollar-based net retention rate includes customer attrition. We

have not experienced a material increase in customer attrition rates in recent periods.

We calculate our dollar-based net retention rate as follows:

e Denominator: To calculate our dollar-based net retention rate as of the end of a reporting period, we first establish
the ARR from all active subscriptions as of the last day of the same reporting period in the prior fiscal year. This
effectively represents recurring dollars that we expect in the next 12-month period from the cohort of customers that
existed on the last day of the same reporting period in the prior fiscal year.

e Numerator: We measure the ARR for that same cohort of customers representing all subscriptions based on
confirmed customer orders booked by us as of the end of the reporting period.

Dollar-based net retention rate is obtained by dividing the numerator by the denominator. Our dollar-based net retention
rate may fluctuate due to a number of factors, including the performance of our cloud platform, the timing and the rate of
ARR expansion of our existing customers, potential changes in our rate of renewals and other risk factors described in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Trailing 12 Months Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
Dollar-based net retention rate 118% 117% 115%
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP measures are
useful in evaluating our operating performance. We use the following non-GAAP financial information to evaluate our
ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe that non-GAAP financial information,
when taken collectively, may be helpful to investors because it provides consistency and comparability with past financial
performance. However, non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has
limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In particular, free cash flow is not a substitute for cash used in operating activities.
Additionally, the utility of free cash flow as a measure of our liquidity is further limited as it does not represent the total
increase or decrease in our cash balance for a given period. In addition, other companies, including companies in our
industry, may calculate similarly-titled non-GAAP measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their
performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison. A
reconciliation is provided below for each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure
stated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the
reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures, and not to
rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Non-GAAP Gross Margin

We define non-GAAP gross profit as GAAP gross profit excluding stock-based compensation expense and amortization
of acquired intangible assets. We define non-GAAP gross margin as non-GAAP gross profit as a percentage of revenue.

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Gross profit $ 243,167 $ 152,299 § 98,245
Add:

Stock-based compensation expense 2,926 757 348

Amortization expense of acquired intangible assets 512 — —
Non-GAAP gross profit $ 246,605 $ 153,056 $ 98,593
Gross margin 80 % 80 % 78 %
Non-GAAP gross margin 81 % 80 % 78 %

Non-GAAP Income (Loss) from Operations and Non-GAAP Operating Margin

We define non-GAAP income (loss) from operations as GAAP loss from operations excluding stock-based
compensation expense, certain litigation-related expenses and amortization expense of acquired intangible assets. We define
non-GAAP operating margin as non-GAAP loss from operations as a percentage of revenue. These excluded litigation-
related expenses are professional fees and related costs incurred by us in defending against significant claims that we deem
not to be in the ordinary course of our business and, if applicable, accruals related to estimated losses in connection with
these claims. There are many uncertainties and potential outcomes associated with any litigation, including the expense of
litigation, timing of such expenses, court rulings, unforeseen developments, complications and delays, each of which may
affect our results of operations from period to period, as well as the unknown magnitude of the potential loss relating to any
lawsuit, all of which are inherently subject to change, difficult to estimate and could adversely affect our results of operations.
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Year Ended July 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Loss from operations (35,313) $ (34,624) $ (35,073)
Add:

Stock-based compensation expense 46,423 11,224 9,919

Litigation-related expenses 13,079 8,039 5,827

Amortization expense of acquired intangible assets 908 - -
Non-GAAP income (loss) from operations 25,097 $ (15,361) $ (19,327)
Operating margin (12)% (18)% (28)%
Non-GAAP operating margin 8 % (8)% (15)%

Free Cash Flow and Free Cash Flow Margin

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
less purchases of property, equipment and other and capitalized internal-use software. Free cash flow margin is calculated as
free cash flow divided by revenue. We believe that free cash flow and free cash flow margin are useful indicators of liquidity
that provide information to management and investors about the amount of cash generated from our operations that, after the
investments in property, equipment and other and capitalized internal-use software, can be used for strategic initiatives,
including investing in our business, and strengthening our financial position.

Free cash flow includes the cyclical impact of inflows and outflows resulting from contributions to our employee stock
purchase plan for which the purchase period of approximately six months ends in each of our second and fourth fiscal
quarter. As of July 31, 2019, the employee contributions to our employee stock purchase plan was $2.1 million, which will be
reclassified to stockholders' equity upon issuance of the shares during our second quarter of fiscal 2020.

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 58,027 § 17,307 $ (6,019)
Less: Purchases of property, equipment and other (25,520) (13,397) (7,783)
Less: Capitalized internal-use software (3,162) (1,773) (391)
Free cash flow 29,345 § 2,137 § (14,193)
As a percentage of revenue:

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19 % 9% 5%
Less: Purchases of property, equipment and other ®) 7 (6)
Less: Capitalized internal-use software @) @) —
Free cash flow margin 10 % 1 % (11)%

Calculated Billings

Calculated billings is a non-GAAP financial measure that we believe is a key metric to measure our periodic
performance. Calculated billings represents our total revenue plus the change in deferred revenue in a period. Calculated
billings in any particular period aims to reflect amounts invoiced for subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with
related support services related to our new and existing customers. We typically invoice our customers annually in advance,
and to a lesser extent quarterly in advance, monthly in advance or multi-year in advance. Calculated billings increased $132.4
million, or 51%, in fiscal 2019 over fiscal 2018, and $101.2 million, or 65%, in fiscal 2018 over fiscal 2017. As calculated
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billings continues to grow in absolute terms, we expect our calculated billings growth rate to trend down over time. We also
expect that calculated billings will be affected by seasonality in terms of when we enter into agreements with customers; and
the mix of billings in each reporting period as we typically invoice customers annually in advance, and to a lesser extent

quarterly in advance, monthly in advance or multi-year in advance.

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 302,836 $ 190,174 $ 125,717
Add: Total deferred revenue, end of period 251,202 164,023 96,619
Less: Total deferred revenue, beginning of period (164,023) (96,619) (65,913)
Calculated billings $ 390,015 $ 257,578 $ 156,423

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from sales of subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with related support
services. These subscription and related support services accounted for approximately 99% of our revenue for fiscal 2019,
fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. Our contracts with our customers do not at any time provide the customer with the right to take
possession of the software that runs our cloud platform. Our customers may also purchase professional services, such as
mapping, implementation, network design and training. Professional services account for an immaterial portion of our

revenue.

We generate revenue from contracts with typical durations ranging from one to three years. We typically invoice our
customers annually in advance, and to a lesser extent quarterly in advance, monthly in advance or multi-year in advance. We
recognize revenue ratably over the life of the contract. Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in deferred revenue, or
they are recorded in revenue if the revenue recognition criteria have been met. Subscriptions that are invoiced annually in
advance or multi-year in advance represent a significant portion of our short-term and long-term deferred revenue in
comparison to invoices issued quarterly in advance or monthly in advance. Accordingly, we cannot predict the mix of

invoicing schedules in any given period.

We generally experience seasonality in terms of when we enter into agreements with our customers. We typically enter
into a higher percentage of agreements with new customers, as well as renewal agreements with existing customers, in our
second and fourth fiscal quarters. However, because we recognize revenue ratably over the terms of our subscription
contracts, a substantial portion of the revenue that we report in each period is attributable to the recognition of deferred
revenue relating to agreements that we entered into during previous periods. Consequently, increases or decreases in new
sales or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected as revenue for that period. Accordingly, the effect of
downturns in sales and market acceptance of our platform, and potential changes in our rate of renewals, may not be fully
reflected in our results of operations until future periods.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes expenses related to operating our cloud platform in data centers, depreciation of our data center
equipment, related overhead costs and the amortization of our capitalized internal-use software. Cost of revenue also includes
employee-related costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation expense and employee benefit costs associated
with our customer support and cloud operations organizations. Cost of revenue also includes overhead costs for facilities, IT,
and amortization and depreciation expense.

As our customers expand and increase the use of our cloud platform driven by additional applications and connected
devices, our cost of revenue will increase due to higher bandwidth and data center expenses. However, we expect to continue
to benefit from economies of scale as our customers increase the use of our cloud platform. We intend to continue to invest
additional resources in our cloud platform and our customer support organizations as we grow our business. The level and
timing of investment in these areas could affect our cost of revenue in the future.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit, or revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, have been and
will continue to be affected by various factors, including the timing of our acquisition of new customers and our renewals of
and follow-on sales to existing customers, the average sales price of our services, mix of services offered in our solutions, the
data center and bandwidth costs associated with operating our cloud platform, the extent to which we expand our customer
support and cloud operations organizations and the extent to which we can increase the efficiency of our technology,
infrastructure and data centers through technological improvements. We expect our gross profit to increase in absolute dollars
and our gross margin to remain relatively unchanged over the long-term, although our gross profit and gross margin could
fluctuate from period to period depending on the interplay of all of the above factors.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses. Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses,
stock-based compensation expense and, with respect to sales and marketing expenses, sales commissions that are recognized
as expenses. Operating expenses also include overhead costs for facilities, IT and depreciation expense and amortization
expense.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee compensation and related expenses, including salaries,
bonuses and benefits for our sales and marketing employees, sales commissions that are recognized as expenses over the
period of benefit, stock-based compensation expense, marketing programs, travel and entertainment expenses, expenses for
conferences and events and allocated overhead costs. We capitalize our sales commissions and associated payroll taxes and
recognize them as expenses over the estimated period of benefit. The amount recognized in our sales and marketing expenses
reflects the amortization of cost previously deferred as attributable to each period presented in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, as described below under "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates." We intend to continue to make significant
investments in our sales and marketing organization to drive additional revenue, further penetrate the market and expand our
global customer base. As a result, we expect our sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars and
to be our largest operating expense category for the foreseeable future. In particular, we will continue to invest in growing
and training our sales force, broadening our brand awareness and expanding and deepening our channel partner relationships.
However, we expect our sales and marketing expenses to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term,
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although our sales and marketing expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue from period to period due to the
timing and extent of these expenses.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses support our efforts to add new features to our existing offerings and to ensure
the reliability, availability and scalability of our solutions. Our cloud platform is software-driven, and our research and
development teams employ software engineers in the design, and the related development, testing, certification and support,
of these solutions. Accordingly, a majority of our research and development expenses result from employee-related costs,
including salaries, bonuses and benefits, stock-based compensation expense and costs associated with technology tools used
by our engineers. We expect our research and development expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the
foreseeable future, as we continue to invest in research and development efforts to enhance the functionality of our cloud
platform, improve the reliability, availability and scalability of our platform and access new customer markets. However, we
expect our research and development expenses to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term, although our
research and development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue from period to period due to the timing and
extent of these expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs, including salaries and bonuses, stock-
based compensation expense and employee benefit costs for our finance, legal, human resources and administrative
personnel, as well as professional fees for external legal services (including certain litigation-related expenses), accounting
and other related consulting services. These litigation-related expenses include professional fees and related costs incurred by
us in defending significant claims that we deem not to be in the ordinary course of our business and, if applicable, accruals
related to estimated losses in connection with these claims. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in
absolute dollars for the foreseeable future, as we continue to incur compliance costs and other related costs necessary to
operate as a public company, and due to ongoing legal matters and related accruals, certain of which are described in further
detail in Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. However, we expect our general and administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of our
revenue over the long term, although our general and administrative expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenue
from period to period due to the timing and extent of these expenses. In particular, litigation-related expenses related to
significant litigation claims may result in significant fluctuations from period to period as they are inherently subject to
change and difficult to estimate.

Interest Income, net

Interest income consist primarily of income earned on our cash equivalents and short-term investments and interest
earned on outstanding notes receivable extended to certain current and former employees who early exercised their stock
options. During the three months ended October 31, 2018, the principal amount and accrued interest of the outstanding notes
receivable were fully repaid. For more information on these notes receivable, refer to Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, of
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Other Income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency transaction gains and losses.

60



Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists primarily of income and withholding taxes in the foreign jurisdictions in which
we conduct business, offset by the tax benefit for excess stock-based compensation deductions in the U.K. and partial release
of our U.S. valuation allowance related to the Appsulate acquisition. We have not recorded any U.S. federal income tax
expense. In the U.S. we have recorded deferred tax assets for which we provide a full valuation allowance, which includes net
operating loss carryforwards and tax credits. We expect to maintain this full valuation allowance for the foreseeable future as
it is more likely than not that some or all of those deferred tax assets may not be realized based on our history of losses.
During fiscal 2019, we determined that due to the weight of objectively verifiable negative evidence, our deferred tax assets
in United Kingdom ("U.K.") are no longer more likely than not to be realized in future and a full valuation allowance was
recorded during the period.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented in dollars and as a percentage of our

revenue:
Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Revenue $ 302,836 $ 190,174 $ 125,717
Cost of revenue"?® 59,669 37,875 27,472

Gross profit 243,167 152,299 98,245
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing(l)(z) 169,913 116,409 79,236

Research and development® 61,969 39,379 33,561

General and administrative'” 46,598 31,135 20,521
Total operating expenses 278,480 186,923 133,318
Loss from operations (35,313) (34,624) (35,073)

Interest income, net 7,730 2,236 597

Other income (expense), net (329) 79 (107)
Loss before income taxes (27,912) (32,309) (34,583)

Provision for income taxes 743 1,337 877
Net loss $ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460)

M Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 2,926 $ 757 $ 348
Sales and marketing 23,118 5,044 2,794
Research and development 15,090 3,045 5,574
General and administrative 5,289 2,378 1,203
Total $ 46,423 $ 11,224 $ 9,919
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@ Includes amortization expense of acquired intangible assets as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue 512§ — —
Sales and marketing 386 — —
Research and development 10 — —
Total 908 § — —
@ Includes certain litigation-related expenses as follows:
Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Litigation-related expenses 13,079 $ 8,039 § 5,827
Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
Revenue 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenue 20 20 22
Gross margin 80 80 78
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 56 61 63
Research and development 21 21 27
General and administrative 15 16 16
Total operating expenses 92 98 106
Operating margin (12) (18) (28)
Interest income, net 3 1 —
Other income (expense), net — — —
Loss before income taxes 9) (17) (28)
Provision for income taxes — 1 —
Net loss (9% (18)% (28)%
Comparison of Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018
Revenue
Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 302,836 $ 190,174 $ 112,662 59 %

Revenue increased by $112.7 million, or 59%, in fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The increase was driven by an

increase in users and sales of additional subscriptions to existing customers as reflected by our dollar-based net retention rate

of 118% for the trailing 12 months ended July 31, 2019. The remainder of the increase in revenue was attributable to the
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addition of new customers, which contributed $24.4 million in revenue, as we increased our customer base by 18% from July
31, 2018 to July 31, 2019.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 59,669 $ 37,875 $ 21,794 58 %
Gross margin 80 % 80 %

Cost of revenue increased by $21.8 million, or 58%, in fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The overall increase in cost
of revenue was driven primarily by the expanded use of our cloud platform by existing and new customers, which led to an
increase of $11.0 million for data center and equipment related costs for hosting and operating our cloud platform for our
expanded customer base. Additionally, our employee-related expenses increased by $8.7 million, inclusive of an increase of
$2.2 million in stock-based compensation expense, driven primarily by a 52% increase in headcount in our customer support
and cloud operations organizations from July 31, 2018 to July 31, 2019 and by the shift from granting stock options to
restricted stock units subsequent to our IPO. The remainder of the increase was primarily attributable to increased expenses
of $1.1 million in facility and IT expenses.

Gross margin remained flat for fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 as our cost of providing our services were
proportionately offset by growth in our revenue.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %

(in thousands)

Sales and marketing $ 169913 $ 116,409 $ 53,504 46 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $53.5 million, or 46%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The increase
was primarily driven by an increase of $35.2 million in employee-related expenses, inclusive of an increase of $18.1 million
in stock-based compensation expense, and an increase of $6.7 million in sales commissions expense, driven by a 38%
increase in headcount in our sales and marketing organization from July 31, 2018 to July 31, 2019. The increase in stock-
based compensation was also attributable to the shift from granting stock options to restricted stock units subsequent to our
IPO. The remainder of the increase was primarily attributable to increased expenses of $5.9 million in marketing and
advertising expenses, $2.8 million in travel expenses and $2.1 million in facility and IT expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ Y%

(in thousands)
Research and development $ 61,969 $ 39379 $ 22,590 57 %

Research and development expenses increased by $22.6 million, or 57%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018 as we
continued to develop and enhance the functionality of our cloud platform. The increase was primarily driven by an increase
of $21.3 million in employee-related expenses, inclusive of an increase of $12.0 million in stock-based compensation
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expense, driven by a 36% increase in headcount from July 31, 2018 to July 31, 2019 and by our shift from granting stock
options to granting restricted stock units subsequent to our [PO. The remainder of the increase was primarily attributable to
increased expenses of $1.2 million for facility and IT expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %

(in thousands)
General and administrative $ 46,598 $ 31,135 $ 15,463 50 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $15.5 million, or 50%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The
overall increase was primarily due to an increase of $6.3 million in employee-related expenses, inclusive of a net increase of
$2.9 million in stock-based compensation expense, driven by a 37% increase in headcount from July 31, 2018 to July 31,
2019, and also by our shift from granting stock options to granting restricted stock units subsequent to our IPO. Additionally,
we recognized an increase of $6.1 million in legal expenses, which is primarily attributable to $4.1 million expense
recognized as a result of a legal settlement reached with Finjan in April 2019. For further information on this settlement refer
to Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The remainder of increase was primarily attributable to $1.7 million in professional services as we
transitioned to being a public company and $0.4 million in facility and IT expenses.

Interest Income, net

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %

(in thousands)
Interest income, net $ 7,730 $ 2,236 $ 5,494 246 %

Interest income, net increased by $5.5 million, or 246%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The increase was
primarily driven by increased interest income earned from our investments in cash equivalents and short-term investments, as
a result of additional cash received from our IPO and cash generated from our operations.

Other Income (expense), net

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ Y%

(in thousands)
Other income (expense), net $ 329) $ 79 $ (408) (516)%

Other income (expense), net decreased by $0.4 million, or 516%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The decrease
was primarily driven by fluctuations in foreign currency transaction gains and losses for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended July 31, Change
2019 2018 $ %

(in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ 743§ 1,337 § (594) (44)%

Our provision for income taxes decreased by $0.6 million, or 44%, for fiscal 2019, compared to fiscal 2018. The

decrease in the provision for income taxes was primarily due to a non-recurring tax benefit associated with the acquisition of
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intangible assets from Appsulate, Inc., which reduced our deferred tax asset and the related valuation allowance. Refer to
Note 11, Income Taxes, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our effective tax rate of (2.7)% and (4.1)% in fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively, differs from the applicable U.S.
statutory federal income tax rate due to our valuation allowance against our U.S. federal, state, and U.K. deferred tax assets as
well as the our foreign income being taxed at different rates than the U.S. statutory rate. The overall income tax expense
recorded for the current fiscal year is driven by income taxes for the foreign countries in which we operate, offset by the tax
benefit from the release of a portion of our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as a result of deferred taxes recorded in
purchase accounting as part of the acquisition of Appsulate, Inc.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act, was enacted. The Tax Act contains several
key tax provisions that affect us, including, but not limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate, imposing a one-
time mandatory transition tax on previously untaxed foreign earnings and changing rules related to the use of net operating
loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. During fiscal 2019, we completed our assessment
of the impacts of the Tax Act including the remeasurement of our deferred taxes, the one-time mandatory transition tax, and
the policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes associated with Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income
("GILTI") within the measurement period provided by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting
Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("SAB 118"). Because of the full valuation allowance recorded against our U.S.
federal deferred tax assets, there was no incremental tax expense (or benefit) recognized related to finalizing the accounting
for the Tax Act. We have elected to account for the tax effects of GILTI as a period cost.

While we believe our current valuation allowance is sufficient, we assess the need for an adjustment to the valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis. The assessment is based on our estimates of future sources of taxable income for the
jurisdictions in which we operate and the periods over which our deferred tax assets will be realizable. In the event we
determine that we will be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, the valuation allowance will be
reversed in the period in which we make such determination. The release of a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets
may cause greater volatility in the effective tax rate in the periods in which it is reversed.

Comparison of Fiscal 2018 and Fiscal 2017

Revenue
Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ %
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 190,174 $ 125,717 $ 64,457 51 %

Revenue increased by $64.5 million, or 51%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The increase in revenue was
partially due to the addition of new customers, which contributed $20.2 million, as we increased our customer base by 16%
from July 31, 2017 to July 31, 2018. The remainder of the increase in revenue was attributable to an increase in users and
sales of additional subscriptions to existing customers as reflected by our dollar-based net retention rate of 117% for the
trailing 12 months ended July 31, 2018.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ %o
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 37,875 $ 27472 $ 10,403 38 %
Gross margin 80 % 78 %
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Cost of revenue increased by $10.4 million, or 38%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The overall increase in cost
of revenue was driven by expanded use of our cloud platform by existing and new customers. The increase in cost of revenue
was primarily due to an increase of $4.9 million for data center and equipment related costs for hosting and operating our
cloud platform for our expanded customer base and an increase in employee-related costs of $3.0 million, inclusive of an
increase of $0.4 million in stock-based compensation expense, driven by a 38% increase in headcount in our customer
support and cloud operations organizations from July 31, 2017 to July 31, 2018. The remainder of the increase was primarily
attributable to increased expenses of $1.0 million for facility and IT costs, $0.7 million in depreciation and amortization
expense and $0.4 million related to third-party consulting services.

Gross margin increased from 78% during fiscal 2017 to 80% during fiscal 2018. The increase in gross margin was driven
by an increase in revenue and was also due in part to the increased efficiency of our technology, infrastructure and data
centers enabled by technological improvements, even as our customers expanded their use of our cloud platform.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ %

(in thousands)

Sales and marketing $ 116,409 $ 79,236 $ 37,173 47 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $37.2 million, or 47%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The increase
was primarily driven by $24.1 million in increased employee-related costs, inclusive of an increase of $2.2 million in stock-
based compensation expense, driven by a 16% increase in headcount in our sales and marketing organization from July 31,
2017 to July 31, 2018, and by an increase of $5.4 million in sales commissions expense. The remainder of the increase was
primarily attributable to increased expenses of $4.5 million in marketing and advertising expenses and increased expenses of
$2.4 million for facility and IT expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ Y%

(in thousands)
Research and development $ 39,379 $ 33,561 $ 5,818 17 %

Research and development expenses increased by $5.8 million, or 17%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017 as we
continued to develop and enhance the functionality of our cloud platform. In fiscal 2017, research and development expenses
included $4.4 million in stock-based compensation expense, recognized during our fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2017,
associated with a one-time secondary stock purchase transaction executed between certain of our employees and certain of
our affiliated stockholders, including entities controlled by Jay Chaudhry, our president, chief executive officer and chairman
of the board of directors, and Lane Bess, a former member of our board of directors. Refer to Note 15, Related Party
Transactions, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Excluding
this transaction, the increase in research and development expenses was primarily driven by $9.6 million in increased
employee-related costs, inclusive of an increase of $1.9 million in stock-based compensation expense, driven by a 22%
increase in headcount from July 31, 2017 to July 31, 2018, and by an increase of $0.7 million in professional services. These
expense increases were partially offset by decreased expenses of $1.3 million as a result of higher capitalized internal-use
software development costs.
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General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ Y%

(in thousands)
General and administrative $ 31,135 $ 20,521 $ 10,614 52 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $10.6 million, or 52%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The
increase was primarily driven by $6.1 million in employee-related costs, inclusive of an increase of $1.2 million in stock-
based compensation expense, driven by a 45% increase in headcount from July 31, 2017 to July 31, 2018, as we transitioned
to being a public company. The remainder of the increase was primarily driven by $3.4 million in increased legal expenses
related to ongoing legal matters and related accruals and $0.6 million for third-party accounting and consulting services.

Interest Income, net

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ %

(in thousands)
Interest income, net $ 2,236 $ 597 $ 1,639 275 %

Interest income, net increased by $1.6 million, or 275%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The increase was
primarily driven by increased interest income earned from our investments in cash equivalents and short-term investments, as
a result of additional cash received from our IPO.

Other Income (Expense), net

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ Y%

(in thousands)
Other income (expense), net $ 79 $ 107) $ 186 174 %

Other income (expense), net increased by $0.2 million, or 174%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017. The increase
was primarily driven by fluctuations in foreign currency transaction gains and losses for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended July 31, Change
2018 2017 $ %

(in thousands)

Provision for income taxes $ 1,337 $ 877 $ 460 52 %

Our provision for income taxes increased by $0.5 million, or 52%, for fiscal 2018, compared to fiscal 2017, primarily
related to income taxes in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. Our effective tax rate of (4.1%) and (2.5%) in fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively, differs from the applicable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate due to an increase in the
valuation allowance against our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, as well as the benefit of our foreign income being
taxed at different rates than the U.S. statutory rate.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act, was enacted. The Tax Act contains several
key tax provisions that affect us, including, but not limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate, imposing a one-
time mandatory transition tax on previously untaxed foreign earnings and changing rules related to the use of net operating
loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. During fiscal 2019, we completed our assessment

67



of the impacts of the Tax Act including the remeasurement of our deferred taxes, the one-time mandatory transition tax, and
the policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes associated with GILTI within the measurement period
provided by SAB 118. Because of the full valuation allowance recorded against our U.S. federal deferred tax assets, there
was no incremental tax expense (or benefit) recognized related to finalizing the accounting for the Tax Act. We have elected

to account for the tax effects of GILTI as a period cost.
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Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data

The following sets forth selected unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight
quarters in the period ended July 31, 2019. The unaudited quarterly statements of operations data set forth below have been
prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, that are necessary for the fair statement of such data. The
following quarterly financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected in the future, and the results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for a full year or any other period.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three Months Ended
Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31 Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31
2017 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 39,861 $ 44976 $ 49,163 S 56,174 $ 63298 § 74302 $ 79,128 $ 86,108
Cost of revenue 8,271 8,679 9,424 11,501 12,099 15271 14,960 17,339
Gross profit 31,590 36,297 39,739 44,673 51,199 59,031 64,168 68,769
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing"® 26,928 27,110 29,892 32,479 36,545 38,756 45,295 49,317
Research and development"® 8,809 9,183 9,907 11,480 13,186 15,071 16,499 17,213
General and administrative' "’ 7,130 6,403 8,964 8,638 10,131 10,386 15,911 10,170
Total operating expenses 42,867 42,696 48,763 52,597 59,862 64,213 77,705 76,700
Loss from operations (11,277) (6,399) (9,024) (7,924) (8,663) (5,182)  (13,537) (7,931)
Interest income, net 195 213 596 1,232 1,590 1,924 2,081 2,135
Other income (expense), net @7 28 14 64 (188) 250 (144) (247)
Loss before income taxes (11,109) (6,158) (8,414) (6,628) (7,261) (3,008)  (11,600) (6,043)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes” 289 357 357 334 327 547 636 (767)
Net loss $ (11,398) $ (6,515 8 (8771) $  (6962) $ (7.588) 8 (3.555) $ (12,236) $  (5.276)
Accretion of Series C and D redeemable
convertible preferred stock (2,530) (2,579) (1,223) — — — — —
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ (13.928) $  (9,094) § (9.994) $ (6962) $ (7.588) 8 (3.555) $ (12,236) $  (5,276)
Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted $ 045 $ 0.29) § 0.14) $ 0.06) $ (0.06) $ 0.03) § 0.10) 8§ 0.04)

D Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Three Months Ended

Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31 Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31
2017 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 109 $ 126 $ 199 §$ 323§ 503 $ 619 §$ 68 $ 1,118
Sales and marketing 785 985 1,493 1,781 2,801 5,517 6,459 8,341
Research and development 398 494 960 1,193 2,795 4,398 4,194 3,703
General and administrative 441 459 657 821 1,487 2,693 1,936 (827)

Total § 1,733 § 2064 § 3309 § 4118 § 7586 § 13227 § 13275 § 12,335

© Additional information for the three months ended July 31, 2019 is described under "Performance Stock Units" included in
Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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@ Includes amortization expense of acquired intangible assets as follows:

Three Months Ended
Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31 Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31
2017 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ — 5 — 5 — 5 — — 144§ 163 § 205
Sales and marketing — — — — — — 3 7
Research and development — — — — 95 — 291
Total $ — S — S — S — S 95 § 144§ 166 $ 503
@ Includes litigation-related expenses as follows:
Three Months Ended
Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31 Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31
2017 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
(in thousands)
Litigation-related expenses $ 2,146 $ 1,630 $ 2836 $ 1427 $ 2,174 § 1,768 $ 6,164 $§ 2973

“ In the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2019, we recorded a non-recurring tax benefit of $1.4 million associated with an
intangible asset recognized as a result of our acquisition of Appsulate, Inc. For further information, refer to Note 5, Business
Combinations, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statements of Operations as a Percentage of Revenue

Three Months Ended
Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31 Oct. 31 Jan. 31 Apr. 30 Jul. 31
2017 2018 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2019
Revenue 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %
Cost of revenue 21 19 19 20 19 21 19 20
Gross profit 79 81 81 80 81 79 81 80
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 67 60 61 58 58 52 57 57
Research and development 22 21 20 21 21 20 21 20
General and administrative 18 14 18 15 16 14 20 12
Total operating expenses 107 95 99 94 95 86 98 89
Loss from operations (28) (14) (18) (14) (14) 7 (17) )
Interest income, net — — 1 2 3 3 2 2
Other income (expense), net — — — — — — — —
Loss before income taxes (28) (14) 17) (12) (11) 4) (15) 7
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1 — 1 — 1 1 (1)

Net loss 29% (14)% (18)% (12)% (12)% )% (15)% (6)%

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of July 31, 2019, our principal sources of liquidity were cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling
$364.6 million, which were held for working capital and general corporate purposes. Our cash equivalents and investments
consist of highly liquid investments in money market funds, U.S. treasury securities, U.S. government agency securities and
corporate debt securities.
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In March 2018, upon completion of our IPO, we received net proceeds of $205.3 million, net of underwriters' discounts
and commissions of $15.5 million. In connection with the IPO, we incurred offering costs of $6.2 million which were
recorded into stockholders' equity as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO. Previously, we have financed our
operations principally through private placements of our equity securities, as well as payments received from customers using
our cloud platform and services.

We have generated significant operating losses from our operations, as reflected in our accumulated deficit of $224.5
million as of July 31, 2019. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and generate negative cash flows from operations
in future periods due to expected investments to grow our business.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to fund our operating
and capital needs for at least the next 12 months from the issuance of our financial statements. Our assessment of the period
of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and
involves risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could vary as a result of, and our future capital requirements, both near-
term and long-term, will depend on, many factors, including our growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support our
research and development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing and international operating activities, the timing of
new introductions of solutions or features, and the continuing market acceptance of our services. We have and may in the
future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies, including
intellectual property rights. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our
available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing.
In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us
or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, or if we cannot expand our operations or otherwise
capitalize on our business opportunities because we lack sufficient capital, our business, operating results and financial
condition would be adversely affected.

We typically invoice our customers annually in advance, and to a lesser extent quarterly in advance, monthly in advance
or multi-year in advance. Therefore, a substantial source of our cash is from such prepayments, which are included on our
consolidated balance sheets as a contract liability. Deferred revenue consists of the unearned portion of billed fees for our
subscriptions, which is subsequently recognized as revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. As of July 31,
2019, we had deferred revenue of $251.2 million, of which $221.4 million was recorded as a current liability and is expected
to be recorded as revenue in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Subscriptions
that are invoiced annually in advance or multi-year in advance contribute significantly to our short-term and long-term
deferred revenue in comparison to our invoices issued quarterly in advance or monthly in advance. Accordingly, we cannot
predict the mix of invoicing schedules in any given period.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 58,027 $ 17,307 $ (6,019)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (162,074) $  (178,103) $ (8,174)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 46,384 $ 208,397 $ 9,497
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities during fiscal 2019 was $58.0 million, which resulted from a net loss of $28.7
million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $73.1 million and net cash inflows of $13.6 million from changes in operating
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assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $46.4 million for stock-based compensation expense, $18.7
million for amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs, $10.4 million for depreciation and amortization expense and
$0.9 million for amortization expense of acquired intangible assets, partially offset by accretion of purchased discounts, net of
amortization of investment premiums of $2.2 million and deferred income taxes of $1.4 million.

Net cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities were primarily the result of an increase of $87.2 million
in deferred revenue from advance invoicing in accordance with our subscription contracts and an increase of $0.5 million in
accounts payable. Net cash inflows were partially offset by cash outflows resulting from an increase of $32.5 million in
deferred contract acquisition costs, as our sales commission payments increased due to the addition of new customers and
expansion of our existing customer subscriptions, an increase of $31.7 million in accounts receivable primarily due to
customer growth, an increase of $7.6 million in prepaid expenses, other current and noncurrent assets, a decrease of $1.8
million in accrued compensation, primarily due to a decrease in accrued ESPP contributions as a result of a longer
withholding period related to our first purchase period ended in December 2018, and a decrease of $0.3 million in accrued
expenses, other current and noncurrent liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities during fiscal 2018 was $17.3 million, which resulted from a net loss of $33.6
million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $32.5 million and net cash inflows of $18.4 million from changes in operating
assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $8.0 million for depreciation and amortization expense, $13.2
million for amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs and $11.2 million for stock-based compensation expense. The
net cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily the result of a $67.4 million increase in
deferred revenue from advance invoicing in accordance with our subscription contracts and an aggregate $13.9 million
increase in accrued compensation and accrued expenses and other liabilities. These cash inflows were partially offset by cash
outflows resulting from a $34.4 million increase in deferred contract acquisition costs, as our sales commission payments
increased due to the addition of new customers and expansion of our existing customer subscriptions, a $22.6 million increase
in accounts receivable due to timing of collections, a $5.1 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, as we
support our business growth, and a $0.8 million decrease in accounts payable.

Net cash used in operating activities during fiscal 2017 was $6.0 million, which resulted from a net loss of $35.5 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $25.1 million, and net cash inflow of $4.3 million from changes in operating assets and
liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $6.8 million for depreciation and amortization expense, $8.5 million for
amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs and $9.9 million for stock-based compensation expense. The net cash
inflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily the result of a $30.7 million increase in deferred revenue
from advance invoicing in accordance with our subscription contracts and an aggregate $12.9 million increase in accounts
payable, accrued compensation and accrued expenses and other liabilities. The cash inflows were partially offset by cash
outflows resulting from a $22.0 million increase in deferred contract acquisition costs, as our sales commission payments
increased due to addition of new customers and expansion of our existing customer subscriptions, and a $14.6 million
increase in accounts receivable due to increased billings from our growing customer base which resulted in an overall
increased accounts receivable balance and a $2.7 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2019 of $162.1 million was primarily attributable to the purchases of
short-term investments of $335.2 million, capital expenditures to support our cloud platform and increased headcount,
including increased office space needs, of $28.7 million, payments for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired, of $11.4
million and payments for acquired intangible assets of $1.5 million. These transactions were partially offset by proceeds from
the maturities of short-term investments of $199.7 million and sales of short-term investments of $15.0 million.

Net cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2018 of $178.1 million was primarily attributable to the purchases of
short-term investments of $163.4 million and investments in capital expenditures of $15.2 million to support our cloud
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platform, additional office space and headcount. These activities were partially offset by proceeds from the maturities of
short-term investments of $0.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2017 of $8.2 million resulted primarily from investments in capital
expenditures to support our cloud platform, additional office space and headcount.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities of $46.4 million during fiscal 2019 was primarily attributable to $29.9 million
in proceeds from the exercise of stock options, driven mainly by the end of our initial public offering lock-up period in
September 2018, $16.4 million in proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan and $1.9
million in proceeds from repayments of notes receivable for early exercised stock options. Proceeds were partially offset by
$1.8 million in payments of offering costs related to our IPO.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $208.4 million during fiscal 2018 was primarily attributable to $205.3
million in proceeds from the completion of our IPO (net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions of $15.5 million), $5.3
million in proceeds from repayments of notes receivable for the exercise of stock options, $5.0 million in proceeds from the
exercise of stock options and $0.9 million in proceeds from early exercised stock options. These proceeds were partially
offset by $3.8 million in payments for repurchases of common stock related to early exercised stock options and $4.3 million
in payments for offering costs related to our IPO.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $9.5 million during fiscal 2017 was primarily due to $4.7 million in proceeds
from the early exercise of stock options, $3.0 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $1.9 million in
proceeds from repayments of notes receivable for early exercised stock options.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as July 31, 2019:

Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1 1to3 3to5s More Than
Total Year Years Years 5 Years

(in thousands)

Operating leases" $ 43,960 $ 4,624 $ 10,707 $ 12,652 $ 15,977
Data center contracts 27,295 11,766 15,423 106 —
Non-cancelable purchase obligations 9,508 8,200 1,308 — —
Other long-term liabilities” 2,525 — 2,525 — —
Total $ 83,288 $ 24,590 $ 29,963 $ 12,758 § 15,977

) Effective April 2019, we entered into a sublease agreement, or lease agreement, for approximately 172,000 square
feet of corporate office space in San Jose, California, which will serve as our new corporate headquarters. The initial term of
the lease expires in September 2026 and the total rent over the initial lease term is approximately $37.3 million, net of free
rental periods. Future non-cancelable minimum rental payments related to this lease agreement are included in the table
above. For further information, refer to Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information. Our ability to generate sublease income, as
well as our ability to terminate existing lease obligations and recognize the anticipated related savings is highly dependent
upon the economic conditions, particularly commercial real estate market conditions, at the time we negotiate the lease
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termination and sublease arrangements with third parties as well as the performances by such third parties of their respective
obligations.

@ Includes holdback amounts associated with business combinations, which are payable upon the lapse of the
contractual indemnification period. For further information, refer to Note 5, Business Combinations, of our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The contractual commitment amounts in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and legally
binding. Obligations under contracts, including purchase orders, that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not
included in the table above.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of July 31, 2019, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such
as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

As of July 31, 2019, we had outstanding irrevocable standby unsecured letters of credits for an aggregate value of $3.1
million with a bank, which serve as security under certain operating leases included in Note 7, Commitments and
Contingencies, of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, as
well as related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on
historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual
results could differ from these estimates.

The critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments that we believe have the most significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements are described below.

Revenue Recognition

We have adopted Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 606, Revenue From Contracts With Customers
("ASC 606"), effective as of August 1, 2017, using the full retrospective transition method. Under this method, we are
presenting the consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2017, as if ASC 606 had been effective for that period as well.

In accordance with ASC 606, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised services. The amount
of revenue recognized reflects the consideration that we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for these services. To
achieve the core principle of this standard, we apply the following five steps:

1) Identify the contract with a customer

We consider the terms and conditions of the contracts and our customary business practices in identifying our contracts
under ASC 606. We determine we have a contract with a customer when the contract is approved, we can identify each
party’s rights regarding the services to be transferred, we can identify the payment terms for the services, we have determined
the customer to have the ability and intent to pay, and the contract has commercial substance. We apply judgment in
determining the customer’s ability and intent to pay, which is based on a variety of factors, including the customer’s
historical payment experience or, in the case of a new customer, credit and financial information pertaining to the customer.
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2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the services that will be transferred to the
customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or
together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us, and are distinct in the context of the
contract, whereby the transfer of the services is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Our performance
obligations consist of (i) our subscription and support services and (ii) professional and other services.

3) Determine the transaction price

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
transferring services to the customer. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price if, in our judgment, it is
probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur. None of our contracts

contain a significant financing component.

4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract

If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance
obligation. Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each
performance obligation based on a relative standalone selling price, or SSP.

5) Recognize revenue when or as we satisfy a performance obligation

Revenue is recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the promised service to a
customer. Revenue is recognized when control of the services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those services. We generate all our revenue from contracts with
customers and apply judgment in identifying and evaluating any terms and conditions in contracts which may impact revenue
recognition.

Subscription and Support Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from sales of subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with related support
services to our customers. Arrangements with customers do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of our
software operating our cloud platform at any time. Instead, customers are granted continuous access to our cloud platform
over the contractual period. A time-elapsed output method is used to measure progress because we transfer control evenly
over the contractual period. Accordingly, the fixed consideration related to subscription and support revenue is generally
recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term beginning on the date that our service is made available to the

customer.

The typical subscription and support term is one to three years. Most of our contracts are non-cancelable over the
contractual term. Customers typically have the right to terminate their contracts for cause if we fail to perform in accordance
with the contractual terms. Some of our customers have the option to purchase additional subscription and support services at
a stated price. These options generally do not provide a material right as they are priced at our SSP.

Professional and Other Services Revenue

Professional and other services revenue consists of fees associated with providing deployment advisory services that
educate and assist our customers on the best use of our solutions, as well as advise customers on best practices as they deploy
our solution. These services are distinct from subscription and support services. Professional services do not result in
significant customization of the subscription service. Revenue from professional services provided on a time and materials
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basis is recognized as the services are performed. Total professional and other services revenue has historically been
insignificant.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of our contracts with customers contain multiple promised services consisting of (i) our subscription and support
services and (ii) professional and other services that are distinct and accounted for separately. The transaction price is
allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine SSP based on our overall pricing
objectives, taking into consideration the type of subscription and support services and professional and other services, the
geographical region of the customer and the number of users.

Variable Consideration

Revenue from sales is recorded at the net sales price, which is the transaction price, and includes estimates of variable
consideration. The amount of variable consideration that is included in the transaction price is constrained, and is included in
the net sales price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue will
not occur when the uncertainty is resolved.

If our services do not meet certain service level commitments, our customers are entitled to receive service credits, and in
certain cases, refunds, each representing a form of variable consideration. We have not historically experienced any
significant incidents affecting the defined levels of reliability and performance as required by our subscription contracts.
Accordingly, any estimated refunds related to these agreements in the consolidated financial statements were not material
during the periods presented.

We provide rebates and other credits within our contracts with certain customers which are estimated based on the most
likely amounts expected to be earned or claimed on the related sales transaction. Overall, the transaction price is reduced to
reflect our estimate of the amount of consideration to which we are entitled based on the terms of the contract. Estimated
rebates and other credits were not material during the periods presented.

Contract Balances

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include payments received in advance of performance under the
contract. Such amounts are recognized as revenue over the contractual period.

We receive payments from customers based upon contractual billing schedules; accounts receivable are recorded when
the right to consideration becomes unconditional. Payment terms on invoiced amounts are typically 30 days. Contract assets
include amounts related to our contractual right to consideration for both completed and partially completed performance
obligations that may not have been invoiced and such amounts have been insignificant to date.

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract

We capitalize sales commissions and associated payroll taxes paid to internal sales personnel that are incremental to the
acquisition of channel partner and direct customer contracts. These costs are recorded as deferred contract acquisition costs
on the consolidated balance sheets. We determine whether costs should be deferred based on our sales compensation plans, if
the commissions are in fact incremental and would not have occurred absent the customer contract.

Sales commissions for renewal of a contract are not considered commensurate with the commissions paid for the
acquisition of the initial contract given the substantive difference in commission rates in proportion to their respective
contract values. Commissions paid upon the initial acquisition of a contract are amortized over an estimated period of benefit
of five years while commissions paid for renewal contracts are amortized over the contractual term of the renewals.
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Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis commensurate with the pattern of revenue recognition. We determine the
period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial contract by taking into consideration the expected
subscription term and expected renewals of our customer contracts, the duration of our relationships with customers,
customer retention data, our technology development life cycle and other factors. Management exercises judgment to
determine the period of benefit to amortize contract acquisition costs by considering factors such as expected renewals of
customer contracts, duration of customer relationships and our technology development life cycle. Although we believe that
the historical assumptions and estimates we have made are reasonable and appropriate, different assumptions and estimates
could materially impact our reported financial results. Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs is included in sales
and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of operations. We periodically review these deferred costs to determine
whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could impact the period of benefit of these deferred contract
acquisition costs.

Business Combinations

We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other
things, allocation of the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the
values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, we make estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Our estimates of fair
value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a
result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of
acquisition, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill
if new information is obtained related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. After the
measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition
costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for common stock options granted to employees and non-employees is recognized
based on the fair value of the awards granted, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and a single option
award approach. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized as expense over the requisite service period, generally four
years. Unvested options issued to non-employees are remeasured at fair market value at the end of each reporting period.

Stock-based compensation expense related to purchase rights issued under the 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
("ESPP") is based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model fair value of the estimated number of awards as of the
beginning of the offering period. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized following the straight-line attribution
method over the offering period.

We grant both stock awards with service condition only and with service and performance conditions. We recognize
stock-based compensation expense for stock awards with a service condition only using the straight-line method over the
requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. We use the accelerated attribution method of
recognizing stock-based compensation expense related to stock awards that contain both service and performance conditions.

Prior to the IPO, the fair value of our common stock for financial reporting purposes was determined considering
numerous objective and subjective factors and required judgment to determine the fair value of common stock as of each
grant date. Subsequent to the IPO, we determine the fair value using the market closing price of our common stock on the
date of grant.
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Prior to fiscal 2018, we recognized stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures. We used historical
data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and recorded stock-based compensation expense only for those grants that were
expected to vest. On August 1, 2017, we adopted Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") No. 2016-09, Compensation—Stock
Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting ("ASU 2016-09"), which simplifies several
aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions. In accordance with ASU 2016-09, we have elected
to account for forfeitures as they occur instead of estimating the number of awards expected to be forfeited and adjusting the
estimate when it is no longer probable that the employee will fulfill the service condition. We adopted this provision in our
first quarter of fiscal 2018 which resulted in a cumulative-effect adjustment to accumulated deficit of $0.4 million, net of tax,
as of the date of adoption. Additionally, upon adoption of ASU 2016-09, on a modified retrospective basis, the previously
unrecognized excess tax benefits of $0.9 million as of July 31, 2018 were recorded as an increase to our U.S. federal and state
deferred tax assets, which was fully offset by our valuation allowance. Prospectively, all excess tax benefits and deficiencies
have been recognized in the income statement as a component of our income tax expense or benefit. Further, we have
presented excess tax benefits as an operating activity in the consolidated statements of cash flows on a prospective basis. The
net excess tax benefits related to equity awards was not material for fiscal 2018.

We also assess the impact of recording stock-based compensation expense when certain of our affiliated stockholders
purchase shares from our employees in excess of fair value of such shares. We recognize any such excess value as stock-
based compensation expense in our consolidated statements of operations. During fiscal 2017, we recorded $4.4 million in
stock-based compensation expense from a one-time secondary stock purchase transaction that was executed among certain of
our employees and certain of our affiliated stockholders, including entities controlled by Jay Chaudhry, our president, chief
executive officer and chairman of the board of directors, and Lane Bess, a former member of our board of directors. Stock-
based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options was immaterial to our consolidated statements of
operations for the periods presented.

Our use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the option awards represent management’s best
estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment.

These assumptions and estimates are as follows:

e Fair Value of Common Stock. Prior to our IPO, the fair value of the common stock underlying our stock options was
determined by our board of directors, after considering contemporaneous third-party valuations and input from
management. Our board of directors considered this independent valuations and other factors, including, but not
limited to, expected operating and financial performance, our stage of development, current business conditions and
projections, history and the timing of the introduction of new services, our financial condition and market
performance of comparable publicly traded companies to establish the fair value of our common stock at the time of
grant of the option. The valuations of our common stock were determined in accordance with the guidelines outlined
in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity
Securities Issued as Compensation. After the IPO, we used the publicly quoted price as reported on The Nasdaq
Global Select Market as the fair value of our common stock.

*  Expected Term. The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding.
The expected term assumptions were determined based on the vesting terms, exercise terms and contractual lives of
the options. The expected term was estimated using the simplified method allowed under SEC guidance.

e Volatility. Since we do not have sufficient trading history of our common stock, the expected volatility may be
determined based on a mix between the historical volatility of our common stock and the historical stock volatilities
of our comparable publicly-traded companies for the period we do not have trading history of our common stock.
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Comparable companies consist of public companies in our industry, which are similar in size, stage of life cycle and
financial leverage.

*  Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the
implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to that of the options
for each expected term.

*  Dividend Yield. The expected dividend assumption is based on our current expectations about our anticipated
dividend policy. As we have no history of paying any dividends, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

We estimated the fair value of employee stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions:
Year Ended July 31,
2018 2017
Expected term (in years) 4.6-5.1 4.6
Expected stock price volatility 40.3% -42.3% 41.4% -43.3%
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% - 2.8% 1.1% - 2.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

From the date of our IPO through July 31, 2019, we did not grant additional stock options.

We implemented our ESPP in fiscal 2018, the fair value of the purchase rights granted under the ESPP was estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018
Expected term (in years) 0.5-2.0 0.5-23
Expected stock price volatility 44.0%-61.9%  30.7% - 53.2%
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% -2.7% 2.0% - 2.6%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Income Taxes

We are subject to federal, state and local taxes in the United States as well as in other tax jurisdictions or countries in
which we conduct business. Earnings generated by our non-U.S. activities are related to applicable transfer pricing
requirements under local country income tax laws. We account for uncertain tax positions based on those positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. We determine if the amount of available support indicates that it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. We then
measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement.

We have a full valuation allowance for our net deferred tax assets generated from our U.S. and U.K. operations. We will
continue to assess the need for such valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets by evaluating both positive and negative
evidence that may exist. Any adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance would be recorded in the periods in
which the adjustment is determined to be required.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act, was enacted. The Tax Act contains several
key tax provisions that affect us, including, but not limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate, imposing a one-
time mandatory transition tax on previously untaxed foreign earnings and changing rules related to the use of net operating
loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. During fiscal 2019, we completed our assessment
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of the impacts of the Tax Act including the remeasurement of our deferred taxes, the one-time mandatory transition tax, and
the policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes associated with GILTI within the measurement period
provided by SAB 118. Because of the full valuation allowance recorded against our U.S. federal deferred tax assets, there
was no incremental tax expense (or benefit) recognized related to finalizing the accounting for the Tax Act. We have elected
to account for the tax effects of GILTI as a period cost.

JOBS Act Extended Transition Period

As a result of the market value of our common stock held by our non-affiliates as of January 31, 2019, we ceased to be
an “emerging growth company” ("EGC"), as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act"),
with our transition to a large accelerated filer status as of July 31, 2019. As an EGC, we elected not to avail ourselves of the
extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. Accordingly, the transition to a large accelerated filer did not have an
impact to our consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding recently issued accounting

pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We have operations in the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of

our business.

Interest Rate Risk

As of July 31, 2019, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $364.6 million, which were held
for working capital purposes. Our cash equivalents and investments consist of highly liquid investments in money market
funds, U.S. treasury securities, U.S. government agency securities and corporate debt securities. The primary objectives of
our investment activities are the preservation of capital, the fulfillment of liquidity needs and the fiduciary control of cash and
investments. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. The carrying amount of our cash
equivalents reasonably approximates fair value, due to the short maturities of these instruments. Our investments are exposed
to market risk due to a fluctuation in interest rates, which may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our
investments. As of July 31, 2019, the effect of a hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates would have changed the
fair value of our investments in available-for-sale securities by $2.1 million. Fluctuations in the fair value of our investments
in available-for-sale securities caused by a change in interest rates (gains or losses on the carrying amount) are recorded in
other comprehensive income (loss), and are realized only if we sell the underlying securities prior to maturity.

Foreign Currency Risk

The vast majority of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, with a small number of contracts denominated
in foreign currencies. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States, denominated in foreign
currencies and subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the British
Pound, Indian Rupee and Euro. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize
transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations. The effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign
currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have a material impact on our historical consolidated financial
statements for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. As the impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been
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material to our historical operating results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, but we may do so in
the future if our exposure to foreign currency becomes more significant.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2019 and 2018

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended July 31,2019, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended July 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for
the years ended July 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for years ended July 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The supplementary financial information required by this Item 8, is included in Part II, Item 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, under the caption "Quarterly
Results of Operations and Other Data," which is incorporated herein by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Zscaler, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Zscaler, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of
July 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of redeemable
convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended July 31, 2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also
have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of July 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended July 31, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of July 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility
is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
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of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective,
or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue recognition — Identifying and evaluating terms and conditions in contracts

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, management applies the following steps in their
determination of revenue to be recognized: 1) identification of the contract with a customer; 2) identification of the
performance obligations in the contract; 3) determination of the transaction price; 4) allocation of the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract; and 5) recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance
obligation. Management applies judgment in identifying and evaluating any terms and conditions in contracts which may
impact revenue recognition. For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2019, the Company’s revenue was $303 million.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition, specifically
the identification and evaluation of terms and conditions in contracts, is a critical audit matter are that there was a significant
amount of effort and judgment required by management in identifying and evaluating terms and conditions in contracts that
impact revenue recognition. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment and significant audit effort in performing
our audit procedures to evaluate whether terms and conditions in contracts were appropriately identified and evaluated by
management.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to
the revenue recognition process, including controls related to the identification and evaluation of terms and conditions in
contracts that impact revenue recognition. These procedures also included, among others, testing the completeness and

accuracy of management’s identification and evaluation of the terms and conditions in contracts by examining revenue
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arrangements on a test basis and testing management’s process of identifying and evaluating the terms and conditions in
contracts, including management’s determination of the impact of those terms and conditions on revenue recognition.

/s/  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
September 18, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.
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ZSCALER, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

July 31,
2019 2018
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 78,484 $ 135,579
Short-term investments 286,162 162,960
Accounts receivable, net 93,341 61,611
Deferred contract acquisition costs 21,219 16,136
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,880 10,878
Total current assets 496,086 387,164
Property and equipment, net 41,046 19,765
Deferred contract acquisition costs, noncurrent 48,566 39,774
Acquired intangible assets, net 8,708 —
Goodwill 7,479 —
Other noncurrent assets 2,277 1,078
Total assets $ 604,162 $ 447,781
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 6,208 $ 4,895
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 12,810 13,874
Accrued compensation 21,544 23,393
Deferred revenue 221,387 140,670
Total current liabilities 261,949 182,832
Deferred revenue, noncurrent 29,815 23,353
Other noncurrent liabilities 3,840 1,360
Total liabilities 295,604 207,545
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 200,000 shares authorized as of July 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively; no shares issued and outstanding as of July 31, 2019 and 2018 — —
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized as of July 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively; 127,253 and 119,764 shares issued and outstanding as of July 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively 127 119
Additional paid-in capital 532,618 438,392
Notes receivable from stockholders — (2,051)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 268 (124)
Accumulated deficit (224,455) (196,100)
Total stockholders’ equity 308,558 240,236
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 604,162 $ 447,781

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZSCALER, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income, net
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Accretion of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

Year Ended July 31,

2019 2018 2017
$ 302,836 $ 190,174 $ 125,717
59,669 37,875 27,472
243,167 152,299 98,245
169,913 116,409 79,236
61,969 39,379 33,561
46,598 31,135 20,521
278,480 186,923 133,318
(35,313) (34,624) (35,073)
7,730 2,236 597
(329) 79 (107)
(27,912) (32,309) (34,583)
743 1,337 877
$ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460)
— (6,332) (9,570)
$ (28,655) $ (39,978) $ (45,030)
$ (0.23) § (0.63) $ (1.54)
123,566 63,881 29,221

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZSCALER, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
Net loss $ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized net gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 392 (124) —
Other comprehensive income (loss) 392 (124) —
Comprehensive loss $ (28,263) $ (33,770) $ (35,460)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance as of July 31, 2016

Accretion of Series C and D redeemable
convertible preferred stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options

Issuance of common stock related to early
exercised stock options

Repurchases of unvested common stock

Repayments of notes receivable from
stockholders

Additions to notes receivable related to
early exercised stock options

Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation

Net loss

Balance as of July 31, 2017

Cumulative effect of accounting change

Accretion of Series C and D redeemable
convertible preferred stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options

Issuance of common stock related to early
exercised stock options

Repurchases of unvested common stock

Repayments of notes receivable from
stockholders

Accrued interest on notes receivable from
stockholders, net of repayments

Vesting of early exercised stock options

Issuance of common stock upon initial
public offering, net of underwriting
discounts of $15,456 and issuance costs of
$6,164

Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to common stock upon
initial public offering

Stock-based compensation

Unrealized net losses on available-for-sale-
securities

Net loss

Balance as of July 31, 2018

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options

Issuance of common stock under the
employee stock purchase plan

Vesting of restricted stock units
Repurchases of unvested common stock

Repayments of principal amount on notes
receivable from stockholders

Accrued interest on notes receivable from
stockholders, net of repayments

Adjustment to initial public offering costs
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation

Unrealized net gains on available-for-sale-
securities, net of tax

Net loss
Balance as of July 31,2019

ZSCALER, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(in thousandls)

Redeemable
Convertible Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Receivable Other Stockholders’
Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
72,501 $ 191,407 30,331 § 16 8 11,714 9.914) § — (126,556) $ (124,740)
— 9,570 — — (9,570) — — — (9,570)
— — 1,347 1 2,970 — — — 2,971
— — 781 — — — — — —
— — (100) — — 263 — — 263
— — — — — 1,856 — — 1,856
— — — — — (83) — — (83)
— — — 1 3,701 — — — 3,702
— — — — 9,919 — — — 9,919
— — — — — — — (35,460) (35,460)
72,501 200,977 32,359 18 18,734 (7,878) — (162,016) (151,142)
— — — — 438 — — (438) —
— 6,332 — — (6,332) — — — (6,332)
— — 1,712 2 4,983 — — — 4,985
— — 180 = = = = = =
— — (788) — — 214 — — 214
— — — — — 5,346 — — 5,346
— — — — — 267 — — 267
— — — 12 3,243 — — — 3,255
— — 13,800 14 198,866 — — — 198,880
(72,501)  (207,309) 72,501 73 207,236 — — — 207,309
— — — — 11,224 — — — 11,224
— — — — — — (124) — (124)
— — — — — — — (33,646) (33,646)
— — 119,764 119 438,392 (2,051) (124) (196,100) 240,236
— — — — (300) — — 300 —
— — 6,277 7 29,855 — — — 29,862
— — 1,131 1 16,435 — — — 16,436
_ _ 89 _ — _ — _ —
— — 8) — — — — — —
— — — — — 1,905 — — 1,905
— — — — — 146 — — 146
— — — — 300 — — — 300
— — — — 983 — — — 983
— — — — 46,953 — — — 46,953
— — — — — — 392 — 392
— — — — — — — (28,655) (28,655)
— $ — 127,253 § 127 $ 532,618 — $ 268 $ (224.455) $ 308,558

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZSCALER, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousandls)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization expense of acquired intangible assets
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Accretion of purchased discounts, net of amortization of investment premiums
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of business acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Deferred contract acquisition costs
Prepaid expenses, other current and noncurrent assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses, other current and noncurrent liabilities
Accrued compensation
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, equipment and other
Capitalized internal-use software
Acquired intangible assets
Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions
Payments of offering costs related to initial public offering
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to early exercised stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan
Repurchases of unvested common stock
Repayments of notes receivable from stockholders
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for income taxes, net of tax refunds
Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Net change in purchased equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accretion of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred stock
Repurchases of unvested common stock by cancellation of indebtedness
Vesting of early exercised common stock options
Net change in deferred offering costs accrued
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash within the consolidated balance sheets
to the amounts shown in the statements of cash flows above:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash, current
Restricted cash, non-current

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

The accompanying notes are an integral pa9r£t) of these consolla’afed Tinancial statements.

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017

$ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460)
10,398 7,988 6,840

908 — —

18,651 13,181 8,474

46,423 11,224 9,919

(1,392) — —

(2,181) — —
284 130 (89)
(31,730) (22,559) (14,563)
(32,526) (34,429) (21,999)
(7,642) (5,068) (2,718)

495 (779) 2,249

(336) 2,076 5,376

(1,849) 11,785 5,246

87,179 67,404 30,706
58,027 17,307 (6,019)
(25,520) (13,397) (7,783)
(3,162) (1,773) (391)

(1,480) — —

(11,432) — —

(335,186) (163,366) —

199,716 433 —

14,990 — —
(162,074) (178,103) (8,174)

— 205,344 —
(1,797) (4,336) 31

29,862 4,985 2,971

— 869 4,701

16,436 — —

(22) (3,811) —

1,905 5,346 1,856

46,384 208,397 9,497
(57,663) 47,601 (4,696)

136,147 88,546 93,242

$ 78,484 8 136,147 § 88,546
$ 1,770 $ 870 § 385
$ 2911 § (537) 8 746
$ — 3 6332 § 9,570
$ — 3 214§ 263
$ 983 § 3255 § 3,702
$ (2,097) 8 940 § 1,157
$ — S8 207,309 $ —
$ 78,484 § 135579 $ 87,978
— 236 —

— 332 568

78484 8§ 136,147 § 88,546



ZSCALER, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business

nn

Zscaler, Inc. ("Zscaler," the "Company," "we," "us," or "our") is a cloud security company that developed a platform
incorporating core security functionalities needed to enable users to safely utilize authorized applications and services based
on an organization’s policies. Our solution is a purpose-built, multi-tenant, distributed cloud security platform that secures
access for users and devices to applications and services, regardless of location. We deliver our solutions using a software-as-
a-service ("SaaS") business model and sell subscriptions to customers to access our cloud platform, together with related
support services. We were incorporated in Delaware in September 2007 and conduct business worldwide, with presence in

North America, Europe and Asia. Our headquarters are located in San Jose, California.
Reverse Stock Split

In March 2018, our board of directors approved an amendment to the Company’s amended and restated certificate of
incorporation effecting a 2-for-3 reverse stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock and
convertible preferred stock. The reverse stock split was effected on March 1, 2018. The par value of the common stock and
the convertible preferred stock was not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding share and per
share amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock
split for all periods presented.

Initial Public Offering

In March 2018, we completed our initial public offering ("IPO") of common stock, in which we sold 13,800,000 shares.
The shares were sold at an IPO price of $16.00 per share for net proceeds of $205.3 million, after deducting underwriters'
discounts and commissions of $15.5 million. In connection with the IPO, we incurred offering costs of $6.2 million which
were recorded within stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO. Immediately
prior to the closing of the IPO, all our outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were automatically converted
into 72,500,750 shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on July 31. References to fiscal 2019, for example, refer to our fiscal year ended July 31, 2019.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries and have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S.
GAAP"). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Such estimates include, but are not limited to, the determination of revenue recognition, deferred
revenue, deferred contract acquisition costs, the period of benefit generated from our deferred contract acquisition costs,
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allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of stock-based awards, useful lives of property and equipment and acquired
intangible assets, fair value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, legal contingencies and valuation of deferred tax
assets. Management determines these estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable. Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates, and such differences may be
material to our consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities of our
foreign subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the reporting date, non-monetary
assets and liabilities are re-measured at historical rates, revenue and expenses are re-measured at average exchange rates in
effect during each reporting period. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other income (expense), net
in the consolidated statements of operations. We recognized re-measurement losses of $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $0.1
million for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

JOBS Act Extended Transition Period

As a result of the market value of our common stock held by our non-affiliates as of January 31, 2019, we ceased to be
an “emerging growth company” ("EGC"), as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act"),
with our transition to a large accelerated filer status as of July 31, 2019. As an EGC, we elected not to avail ourselves of the
extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. Accordingly, the transition to a large accelerated filer did not have an
impact to our consolidated financial statements.

Concentration of Risks

We generate revenue primarily from sale of subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with related support
services. Our sales team, along with our channel partner network of global telecommunications service providers, system
integrators and value-added resellers (collectively "channel partners"), sells our services worldwide to organizations of all
sizes. Due to the nature of our services and the terms and conditions of our contracts with our channel partners, our business
could be affected unfavorably if we are not able to continue our relationships with them.

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investments and accounts receivable. Although we deposit our cash with multiple financial institutions, the
deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. Cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of highly liquid
investments in money market funds, U.S. treasury, U.S. agency securities and corporate debt securities, which are invested
through financial institutions in the United States.

We grant credit to our customers in the normal course of business. We monitor the financial condition of our customers
to reduce credit risk.
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The following table summarizes the concentration of 10% or more of the total balance of accounts receivable, net:

July 31,
2019 2018
Channel partner A 12 % *
Channel partner B 11 % 13 %
Channel partner C 10 % 13 %

* Represents less than 10%.

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of revenue in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017.

Segment Information

We operate as one reportable and operating segment. Our chief operating decision maker is our chief executive officer,
who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, assessing
financial performance and allocating resources.

Revenue Recognition

We have adopted Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 606, Revenue From Contracts With Customers
("ASC 606"), effective as of August 1, 2017, using the full retrospective transition method. Under this method, we are
presenting the consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2017, as if ASC 606 had been effective for that period as well.

In accordance with ASC 606, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised services. The amount
of revenue recognized reflects the consideration that we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for these services. To
achieve the core principle of this standard, we apply the following five steps:

1) Identify the contract with a customer

We consider the terms and conditions of the contracts and our customary business practices in identifying our contracts
under ASC 606. We determine we have a contract with a customer when the contract is approved, we can identify each
party’s rights regarding the services to be transferred, we can identify the payment terms for the services, we have determined
the customer has the ability and intent to pay and the contract has commercial substance. We apply judgment in determining
the customer’s ability and intent to pay, which is based on a variety of factors, including the customer’s historical payment
experience or, in the case of a new customer, credit and financial information pertaining to the customer.

2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the services that will be transferred to the
customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or
together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us, and are distinct in the context of the
contract, whereby the transfer of the services is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Our performance
obligations consist of (i) our subscription and support services and (ii) professional and other services.
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3) Determine the transaction price

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
transferring services to the customer. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price if, in our judgment, it is
probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur. None of our contracts
contain a significant financing component.

4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract

If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance
obligation. Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each
performance obligation based on a relative standalone selling price ("SSP").

5) Recognize revenue when or as we satisfy a performance obligation

Revenue is recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the promised service to a
customer. Revenue is recognized when control of the services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those services. We generate all our revenue from contracts with
customers and apply judgment in identifying and evaluating any terms and conditions in contracts which may impact revenue
recognition.

Subscription and Support Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from sales of subscriptions to access our cloud platform, together with related support
services to our customers. Arrangements with customers do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of our
software operating our cloud platform at any time. Instead, customers are granted continuous access to our cloud platform
over the contractual period. A time-elapsed output method is used to measure progress because we transfer control evenly
over the contractual period. Accordingly, the fixed consideration related to subscription and support revenue is generally
recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term beginning on the date that our service is made available to the

customer.

The typical subscription and support term is one to three years. Most of our contracts are non-cancelable over the
contractual term. Customers typically have the right to terminate their contracts for cause if we fail to perform in accordance
with the contractual terms. Some of our customers have the option to purchase additional subscription and support services at
a stated price. These options generally do not provide a material right as they are priced at our SSP.

Professional and Other Services Revenue

Professional and other services revenue consists of fees associated with providing deployment advisory services that
educate and assist our customers on the best use of our solutions, as well as advise customers on best practices as they deploy
our solution. These services are distinct from subscription and support services. Professional services do not result in
significant customization of the subscription service. Revenue from professional services provided on a time and materials
basis is recognized as the services are performed. Total professional and other services revenue has historically not been
material.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of our contracts with customers contain multiple promised services consisting of: (i) our subscription and support
services and (ii) professional and other services that are distinct and accounted for separately. The transaction price is
allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine SSP based on our overall pricing
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objectives, taking into consideration the type of subscription and support services and professional and other services, the
geographical region of the customer and the number of users.

Variable Consideration

Revenue from sales is recorded at the net sales price, which is the transaction price, and includes estimates of variable
consideration. The amount of variable consideration that is included in the transaction price is constrained and is included in
the net sales price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue will
not occur when the uncertainty is resolved.

If our services do not meet certain service level commitments, our customers are entitled to receive service credits, and in
certain cases, refunds, each representing a form of variable consideration. We have historically not experienced any
significant incidents affecting the defined levels of reliability and performance as required by our subscription contracts.
Accordingly, estimated refunds related to these agreements were not material to the periods presented.

We provide rebates and other credits within our contracts with certain customers, which are estimated based on the value
expected to be earned or claimed on the related sales transaction. Overall, the transaction price is reduced to reflect our
estimate of the amount of consideration to which we are entitled based on the terms of the contract. Estimated rebates and
other credits were not material during the periods presented.

Disaggregation of Revenue

Subscription and support revenue is recognized over time and accounted for approximately 99% of our revenue in fiscal
2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017.

The following table summarizes the revenue by region based on the shipping address of customers who have contracted
to use our cloud platform:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017

Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue

(in thousands, except for percentage data)

United States $ 148,807 49 % $ 86,123 45 % $ 57,990 46 %

Europe, Middle East

and Africa ) 124,437 41 84,828 45 56,857 45

Asia Pacific 23,838 8 14,465 8 9,853

Other 5.754 2 4,758 2 1,017 1
Total S 302836 100 % _$ 190,174 100% $ 125717 100%

) Revenue from the United Kingdom represented 10%, 11% and 13% of the total revenue for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018
and fiscal 2017, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the revenue from contracts by type of customer:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue

(in thousands, except for percentage data)

Channel partners $ 289,579 9 % $ 175,798 922 % $ 110,900 88 %
Direct customers 13,257 4 14,376 8 14,817 12
Total $ 302.836 100 % _$ 190.174 100 % _$ 125,717 100 %
Contract Balances

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include payments received in advance of performance under the
contract. Such amounts are recognized as revenue over the contractual period. In fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 we
recognized revenue of $143.9 million, $85.3 million and $58.5 million, respectively, that was included in the corresponding
contract liability balance at the beginning of the related fiscal year.

We receive payments from customers based upon contractual billing schedules and accounts receivable are recorded
when the right to consideration becomes unconditional. Payment terms on invoiced amounts are typically 30 days but may be
up to 90 days for some of our channel partners. Contract assets include amounts related to our contractual right to
consideration for both completed and partially completed performance obligations that may not have been invoiced and such
amounts have historically not been material.

Remaining Performance Obligations

The typical subscription and support term is one to three years. Most of our subscription and support contracts are non-
cancelable over the contractual term. However, customers typically have the right to terminate their contracts for cause, if we
fail to perform. As of July 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance
obligations was $554.2 million. We expect to recognize 55% of the transaction price over the next 12 months and 98% of the
transaction price over the next three years, with the remainder recognized thereafter.

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract

We capitalize sales commission and associated payroll taxes paid to internal sales personnel that are incremental to the
acquisition of channel partner and direct customer contracts. These costs are recorded as deferred contract acquisition costs in
the consolidated balance sheets. We determine whether costs should be deferred based on our sales compensation plans, if the
commissions are in fact incremental and would not have occurred absent the customer contract.

Sales commissions for renewal of a contract are not considered commensurate with the commissions paid for the
acquisition of the initial contract given the substantive difference in commission rates in proportion to their respective
contract values. Commissions paid upon the initial acquisition of a contract are amortized over an estimated period of benefit
of five years while commissions paid for renewal contracts are amortized over the contractual term of the renewals.
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs is recognized on a straight-line basis commensurate with the pattern of
revenue recognition and included in sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of operations. We determine
the period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial contract by taking into consideration the expected
subscription term and expected renewals of our customer contracts, the duration of our relationships with our customers,
customer retention data, our technology development lifecycle and other factors. We periodically review the carrying amount
of deferred contract acquisition costs to determine whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could
impact the period of benefit of these deferred costs. We did not recognize any impairment losses of deferred contract
acquisition costs during the periods presented.
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The following table summarizes the activity of the deferred contract acquisition costs:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Beginning balance $ 55910 $ 34,662 $ 21,137
Capitalization of contract acquisition costs 32,526 34,429 21,999
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs (18,651) (13,181) (8,474)
Ending balance $ 69,785 $ 55,910 $ 34,662
Deferred contract acquisition costs $ 21,219 $ 16,136 $ 10,469
Deferred contract acquisition costs, noncurrent 48,566 39,774 24,193

Total deferred contract acquisition costs $ 69,785 $ 55910 $ 34,662

Sales commissions accrued but not paid at July 31, 2019 and 2018, totaled $9.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively,
which are included within accrued compensation in the consolidated balance sheets.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest bearing. Accounts receivable are stated at
their net realizable value, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. We have a well-established collections history from our
customers. Credit is extended to customers based on an evaluation of their financial condition and other factors. In
determining the necessary allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers the current aging and financial condition
of our customers, the amount of receivables in dispute and current payment patterns. The allowance for doubtful accounts has
historically not been material. There were no material write-offs recognized in the periods presented. Accordingly, the
movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts were not material for any of the periods presented. We do not have any
off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to our customers.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

We classify all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less from the date of purchase
as cash equivalents and all highly liquid investments with original maturities beyond 90 days at the time of purchase as short-
term investments. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of highly liquid investments in money market
funds, U.S. treasury securities, U.S. government agency securities and corporate debt securities.

We classify our investments as available-for-sale investments and present them within current assets since these
investments represent funds available for current operations and we have the ability and intent, if necessary, to liquidate any
of these investments in order to meet our liquidity needs within the next 12 months. Our investments are carried at fair value,
with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’
equity.

Our investments are reviewed periodically to determine whether a decline in a security’s fair value below the amortized
cost basis is other-than-temporary. If the cost of an individual investment exceeds its fair value, we consider available
quantitative and qualitative factors such as the length of time and extent to which the market value has been less than the cost,
the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer and our intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not we
will be required to sell the investment before recovery of the investment’s amortized cost basis. If we believe that a decline in
fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary, we write down these investments to fair value. There were no
impairments recognized on our investments during the periods presented.
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Interest income, amortization of premiums and discounts, realized gains and losses and declines in fair value judged to
be other-than-temporary on our available-for-sale securities are included in interest income, net in the consolidated statements
of operations. We use the specific identification method to determine the cost in calculating realized gains and losses upon
the sale of these investments.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. Cash equivalents and short-term investments are recorded at fair value. Accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short-time to the
expected receipt or payment date. Assets recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated balance sheets,
consisting of cash equivalents and short-term investments, are categorized in accordance with the fair value hierarchy based
upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair values.

Restricted Cash

We maintained restricted cash of $0.6 million as of July 31, 2018 through letters of credit related to certain lease
agreements. In fiscal 2019, the letters of credit were converted to unsecured letters of credit and the underlying funds were
released. As of July 31, 2019, we did not have restricted cash.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net are stated at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment,
excluding leasehold improvements, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets, generally ranging from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the respective assets or the lease term. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are expensed as incurred and significant improvements and betterments that substantially enhance the life of an
asset are capitalized.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Development Costs

We capitalize certain costs incurred during the application development stage in connection with software development
for our cloud security platform. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post-implementation activities are expensed
as incurred. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets. Maintenance
and training costs are expensed as incurred. Capitalized internal-use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life, which is generally three years, and is recorded as cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations. We capitalized costs associated with the development of software for internal-use of $3.7 million, $1.8 million
and $0.4 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. We recognized amortization expense of capitalized
internal-use software of $1.0 million, $0.9 million and $1.2 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Business Combinations

We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other
things, allocation of the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the
values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, we make estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Our estimates of fair
value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a
result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of
acquisition, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill
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if new information is obtained related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. After the
measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition
costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets, including Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of purchase consideration in a business combination over the fair value
of net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least
annually or more often if circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. No indications of
impairment of goodwill were noted during the periods presented.

Acquired intangible assets consist of identifiable intangible assets, including developed technology and customer
relationships, resulting from business combinations. Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense of developed technology
and customer relationships is recorded primarily within cost of revenues and sales and marketing expenses, respectively, in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and acquired intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. We measure the
recoverability of these assets by comparing the carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows that these assets are
expected to generate. If the total of the future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of an asset, we
record an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value. Impairment
losses on long-lived assets were not material during the periods presented.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs consisted of fees and expenses incurred in connection with the sale of our common stock in an
IPO, including legal, accounting, printing and other IPO-related costs. Total deferred offering costs of $6.2 million were
reclassified into stockholders' equity as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO in the year ended July 31, 2018.

Leases

We lease our facilities under operating lease agreements and recognize related rent expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Some of our lease agreements contain rent holidays, scheduled rent increases, lease incentives and
renewal options. Rent holidays and scheduled rent increases are included in the determination of rent expense to be recorded
over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognized as a reduction of rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Renewals are not assumed in the determination of the lease term unless they are deemed to be reasonably assured at the
inception of the lease. We begin recognizing rent expense on the date that we obtain the legal right to use and control of the
leased space.

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation expense related to stock-based awards granted to employees and non-employees is calculated based on the
fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation for common stock options is recognized based on the fair value of the awards granted,
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and a single option award approach. Stock-based compensation
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, generally four years. Stock-based
compensation for purchase rights granted under the employee stock purchase plan is based on the Black-Scholes option
pricing model fair value of the number of awards estimated as of the beginning of the offering period. Stock-based
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compensation expense is recognized following the straight-line attribution method over the offering period. Stock-based
compensation for restricted stock units is measured based on the market closing price of our common stock on the grant date.
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, generally four
years.

Prior to our IPO, the fair value of our common stock for financial reporting purposes was determined considering
numerous objective and subjective factors and required judgment to determine the fair value of common stock as of each
grant date. Subsequent to the IPO, we determine the fair value using the market closing price of our common stock on the
date of grant.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses support our efforts to add new features to our existing offerings and to ensure
the reliability, availability and scalability of our solutions. Our cloud platform is software-driven, and our research and
development teams employ software engineers in the design and the related development, testing, certification and support of
our solutions. Accordingly, the majority of our research and development expenses result from employee-related costs,
including salaries, bonuses and benefits and costs associated with technology tools used by our engineers.

Adbvertising Expenses

Advertising expenses are charged to sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of operations as
incurred. We recognized advertising expense of $8.6 million, $3.4 million and $1.8 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and
fiscal 2017, respectively.

Warranties and Indemnification

Our cloud platform is generally warranted to be free of defects under normal use and to perform substantially in
accordance with the subscription agreement. Additionally, our contracts generally include provisions for indemnifying
customers and channel partners against liabilities if our services infringe or misappropriate a third party’s intellectual
property rights. Costs and liabilities incurred as a result of warranties and indemnification obligations were not material
during the periods presented.

Legal Contingencies

We may be subject to legal proceedings and litigation arising from time to time. We record a liability when we believe
that it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. We periodically evaluate
developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that we accrue, if any, and adjust, as appropriate.
Until the final resolution of any such matter for which we may be required to record a liability, there may be a loss exposure
in excess of the liability recorded and such amount could be significant. We expense legal fees as incurred.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized by applying the
enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date. The measurement of
deferred tax assets is reduced, if necessary, by a valuation allowance to amounts that are more likely than not to be realized.

100



We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only if we believe that it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act, was enacted. The Tax Act contains several
key tax provisions that affect us, including, but not limited to, those reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate, imposing a
one-time mandatory transition tax on previously untaxed foreign earnings and changing rules related to the use of net
operating loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. During fiscal 2019, we completed our
assessment of the impacts of the Tax Act including the remeasurement of our deferred taxes, the one-time mandatory
transition tax, and the policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes associated with GILTI within the
measurement period provided by SAB 118. Because of the full valuation allowance recorded against our U.S. federal
deferred tax assets, there was no incremental tax expense (or benefit) recognized related to finalizing the accounting for the
Tax Act. We have elected to account for the tax effects of GILTI as a period cost.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two components, net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive
income (loss) refers to unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments, net of tax, that are recorded as an element
of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and are excluded from net loss.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Prior to the IPO, basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with
the two-class method required for participating securities. We consider all series of our convertible preferred stock to be
participating securities. Under the two-class method, the net loss attributable to common stockholders is not allocated to the
convertible preferred stock as the holders of our convertible preferred stock do not have a contractual obligation to share in
our losses. Under the two-class method, net income is attributed to common stockholders and participating securities based
on their participation rights.

Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the
net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during
the period. Net loss attributable to common stockholders is calculated by adjusting the net loss for the accretion of
redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts basic earnings per share for all potentially
dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive securities consist of convertible
preferred stock, stock options, shares subject to repurchase from early exercised stock options and estimated shares to be
issued under the employee stock purchase plan. Since we have reported net losses for all periods presented, we have excluded
all potentially dilutive securities from the calculation of the diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders as
their effect is antidilutive and accordingly, basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the
same for all periods presented.

Upon closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock then outstanding were automatically converted into an
equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis and their carrying amount reclassified into stockholders’
equity (deficit). As of July 31, 2019 and 2018, we did not have shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standard Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") No.
2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business. The amendment was issued to clarify
the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions
should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or businesses. This standard provides a screen test to determine when a set
(inputs and processes that produce an output) is not a business. The screen requires that when substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, the set
is not a business. We adopted this standard as of August 1, 2018, and it did not have a material impact to our consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), which simplifies the
accounting for goodwill impairments by eliminating step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead, if the carrying amount
of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess, limited to
the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. For public business entities, this standard is effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. We early adopted this standard on February 1, 2019,
and it did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting, which provides clarity in applying the guidance in Topic 718 around modifications of share-based
payment awards. We adopted this standard as of August 1, 2018, and it did not have a material impact to our consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain
Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The new standard eliminates the diversity in practice related to the classification of
certain cash receipts and payments for debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, the maturing of a zero-coupon bond, the
settlement of contingent liabilities arising from a business combination, proceeds from insurance settlements, distributions
from certain equity method investees and beneficial interests obtained in a financial asset securitization. We adopted this
standard as of August 1, 2018 using the retrospective transition method, and it did not have a material impact to our
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, which
requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents be included with cash and cash
equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows.
We adopted this standard as of August 1, 2018 using the retrospective transition method and we have adjusted our prior
period consolidated statement of cash flows to conform to the current presentation.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting, which simplifies the accounting for equity awards granted to
nonemployees. For public business entities, it is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim
periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. We early adopted this standard as of August 1, 2018 using the prospective
transition method, which resulted in a cumulative-effect adjustment of $0.3 million recognized within stockholders' equity, as
a reduction of additional paid-in capital against accumulated deficit, on the adoption date.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service
Contract,” which aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a
service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software. The new standard requires capitalized costs to be amortized on a straight-line basis generally over the term of the
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arrangement, and the financial statement presentation for these capitalized costs would be the same as that of the fees related
to the hosting arrangements. For public business entities, this standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. We early adopted this standard as of
August 1, 2018 using the prospective transition method, and it did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial

statements.

In August 2018, the SEC adopted the final rule under SEC Release No. 33-10532, "Disclosure Update and
Simplification," amending certain disclosure requirements that have become redundant, duplicative, overlapping, outdated or
superseded. In addition, the amendments expanded the disclosure requirements on the analysis of stockholders' equity for
interim financial statements. Under the amendments, an analysis of changes in each caption of stockholders' equity presented
in the balance sheet must be provided in a note or separate statement. The analysis should present a reconciliation of the
beginning balance to the ending balance of each period for which a statement of comprehensive income is required to be
filed. The final rule was effective November 5, 2018. We early adopted this requirement as of August 1, 2018, presenting the
activity of the stockholder's equity accounts in the accompanying statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders' equity (deficit) for the periods presented.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02") as amended, which requires
recognition of lease assets and liabilities for most leases with terms of more than 12 months. These standards are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We will adopt this standard effective August
1, 2019 on a modified retrospective basis and will not restate comparative periods. We plan to elect the package of practical
expedients permitted under the transition guidance, which allows us to carryforward our historical lease classification, our
assessment on whether a contract is or contains a lease, and our initial direct costs for any leases that exist prior to adoption of
the new standard. We will also plan to elect to combine lease and non-lease components. In addition, we also plan to elect not
to record leases that, at the lease commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less on the balance sheet. The
standard will have a material impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheets, but it will not have a material impact on
its consolidated statement of operations or consolidated statement of cash flows. Leases currently designated as operating
leases and data centers in Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of these consolidated financial statements will be
reported on the consolidated balance sheet upon adoption at their net present value, which will increase total assets and
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized
cost basis and available-for-sale debt securities to require that credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities be presented
as an allowance rather than as a write-down. The measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets and
subsequent changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded in the statements of operations. For public business
entities, it is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements.
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Note 2. Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds

Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities
U.S. government agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Total

Total cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following as of July 31, 2018:

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
U.S. treasury securities
U.S. government agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Total

Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities
U.S. government agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Total

Total cash equivalents and short-term investments

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)

$ 55,036 $ — $ — 3 55,036
$ 125,042 $ 248  § ) 3 125,281
64,689 7 (50) 64,646

96,047 207 (19) 96,235

$ 285,778 $ 462 $ (78) $ 286,162
$ 340814 $ 462 S (78) $ 341,198

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)

$ 74,408 $ — 3 — 3 74,408
17,488 — — 17,488

1,999 — — 1,999

11,010 — (1) 11,009

$ 104,905 $ — 8 (1) $ 104,904
$ 55,768 $ — S 17) $ 55,751
17,953 — (19) 17,934

89,362 1 (88) 89,275

$ 163,083 $ 1 $ (124) $ 162,960
$ 267,988 $ 1 $ (125) $ 267,864

The amortized cost and fair value of our short-term investments based on their stated maturities consisted of the

following as of July 31, 2019:

Due within one year
Due between one and two years
Total

Amortized

Fair Value

(in thousands)

$ 196,046 $ 196,194
89,732 89,968
$ 285,778 $ 286,162




Short-term investments that were in an unrealized loss position consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Less than 12 Months Greater than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

U.S. treasury securities $ 5719 $ 9 $ — 3 — $ 5719 $ )
U.S. government agency securities 36,550 37 9,992 (13) 46,542 (50)
Corporate debt securities 14,279 (16) 8,364 3) 22,643 (19)

Total $ 56,548 § (62) § 18356 § (16) § 74904 § (78)

The unrealized losses for the above securities as of July 31, 2019 were primarily attributable to changes in interest rates.

Short-term investments that were in an unrealized loss position consisted of the following as of July 31, 2018:

Less than 12 Months Greater than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

U.S. treasury securities $ 55750 $ a7 $ — 3 $ 55750 $ (17)
U.S. government agency securities 17,934 (19) — — 17,934 (19)
Corporate debt securities 83,332 (88) — — 83,332 (88)

Total $ 157,016 & (124) § — 8 — $157,016 $ (124)

We review the individual securities that have unrealized losses in our short-term investment portfolio on a regular basis
to evaluate whether or not any security has experienced an other-than-temporary decline in fair value. We evaluate, among
others, whether we have the intention to sell any of these investments and whether it is not more likely than not that we will
be required to sell any of them before recovery of the amortized cost basis. Based on this evaluation, we determined that there
were no other-than-temporary impairments associated with our short-term investments as of July 31, 2019.

Note 3. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received from sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on
the measurement date. We measure our financial assets and liabilities at fair value at each reporting period using a fair value
hierarchy which requires us to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s classification within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value:

* Level I - Observable inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level IT - Observable inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly through market
corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments; and

e Level III - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities. These inputs are based on our own assumptions used to measure assets and
liabilities at fair value and require significant management judgment or estimation.

Our money market funds are classified within Level I due to the highly liquid nature of these assets and have quoted
prices in active markets.
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Certain of our investments in available-for-sale securities (i.e., U.S. treasury securities, U.S. government agency

securities and corporate securities) are classified within Level II. The fair value of these securities is priced by using inputs

based on non-binding market consensus prices that are primarily corroborated by observable market data or quoted market

prices for similar instruments.

Assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Level I Level 11 Level I1T
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Total Assets Inputs Inputs
(in thousands)
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 55,036 $ 55,036 $ — 3 —
Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities $ 125281 §$ — 3 125281 §$ —
U.S. government agency securities 64,646 — 64,646 —
Corporate debt securities 96,235 — 96,235 —
Total $ 286,162 $ — 286,162 $ g—
Total cash equivalents and short-term investments ~ § 341,198 $ 55,036 $ 286,162 $ —
Assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following as of July 31, 2018:
Level I Level 11 Level ITIT
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Total Assets Inputs Inputs
(in thousands)
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 74,408 $ 74,408 $ — 3 —
U.S. treasury securities 17,488 — 17,488 —
U.S. government agency securities 1,999 — 1,999 —
Corporate debt securities 11,009 — 11,009 —
Total $ 104,904 $ 74,408 $ 30,496 $ G
Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities $ 55,751  $ — 3 55,751  $ —
U.S. government agency securities 17,934 — 17,934 —
Corporate debt securities 89,275 — 89,275 —
Total $ 162,960 $ — S 162,960 $ —
Total cash equivalents and short-term investments ~ $ 267,864 $ 74,408 $ 193,456 $ —

We did not have transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy of assets measured at fair value during the periods

presented.

106



Note 4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

July 31,
Estimated Useful Life 2019 2018
(in thousands)

Hosting equipment 3 years $ 56,910 $ 30,743
Computers and equipment 3-5 years 2,837 2,335
Purchased software 3 years 1,311 1,324
Capitalized internal-use software 3 years 9,904 6,163
Furniture and fixtures 5 years 1,566 1,478
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or lease term 2,255 2,123

Property and equipment, gross 74,783 44,166
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (33,737) (24,401)

Total property and equipment, net $ 41,046 $ 19,765

We recognized depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment of $10.4 million, $8.0 million and $6.8
million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Note 5. Business Combinations

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we completed the acquisition of an early stage software company, Appsulate, Inc.
Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement, the aggregate purchase price was approximately $12.9 million, of which
$10.3 million was paid in cash on the acquisition date and $2.3 million is to be paid upon the lapse of an indemnification
period within 18 months of the acquisition date. As of July 31, 2019, this holdback amount is reflected within other
noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with this acquisition, we retained the services of a third-party firm to complete a valuation of the acquired
identifiable intangible assets as of the closing date in order to allocate the purchase price consideration. The purchase price
allocation resulted in the recognition of $5.9 million of goodwill, exclusive of goodwill recognized as a result of deferred tax
liability generated by the acquired developed technology, and $7.0 million of developed technology. The developed
technology was valued using a replacement cost approach, which is based on the cost of a market participant to reconstruct a
substitute asset of comparable utility. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net
assets acquired and is primarily attributable to the acquired workforce and expected operating synergies. Goodwill is not
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. We incurred approximately $0.3 million of acquisition related costs,
which were recorded as general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2019.

The acquisition was a stock transaction for tax purposes. As a result, we recognized a deferred tax liability for
approximately $1.4 million, which increased goodwill. As we have a full valuation allowance as of July 31, 2019, we
recorded an income tax benefit for this deferred tax liability in the consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2019. Refer
to Note 11, Income Taxes, of these consolidated financial statements for further information.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired as of the closing date, including goodwill, consisted of the following:

Estimated
Amount Useful Life
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13
Amortizable intangible assets:
Developed technology 7,000 4 years
Goodwill 7,281
Total assets acquired 14,294
Deferred tax liability (1,422)
Total $ 12,872

The initial allocation of the purchase price was based on a preliminary valuation and assumptions and is subject to
change within the measurement period. We expect to finalize the allocation of the purchase price as soon as practicable but
no later than one year from the acquisition date.

In fiscal 2019, we also completed an additional business combination with a purchase price of $1.1 million of which
$0.8 million was paid in cash on the acquisition date and $0.3 million is to be paid upon the lapse of an indemnification
period within 18 months of the acquisition date. As of July 31, 2019, this holdback amount is reflected within other
noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Intangible assets acquired and goodwill recorded for this acquisition
were not material to our consolidated financial statements.

The pro forma financial information assuming these acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of the fiscal year prior
to the fiscal year of the acquisitions, as well as the revenue and earnings generated during the current fiscal year, were not
material for disclosure purposes, individually and in the aggregate.

Note 6. Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consisted of the following:

Amount

(in thousands)

Balance as of July 31, 2018 $ —
Goodwill acquired 7,479
Balance as of July 31, 2019 $ 7,479

Acquired intangible assets consist of developed technology and customer relationships acquired through asset and
business acquisitions. Acquired intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their useful lives. The
changes in acquired intangible assets consisted of the following:

Gross Accumulated Amortization Net

‘Weighted

July 31, July 31, July 31, Amortization July 31, July 31, July 31, Average

2018 Additions 2019 2018 Expense 2019 2018 2019 Useful life

(in thousands) (years)
Developed technology $ — $ 9456 $ 9456 $ — 3 ®97) $ ®97) $ — $ 8559 3.5
Customer relationships — 160 160 — (11) (11) — 149 4.7
Total $ — $ 9616 $§ 9616 § — 3 (908) $ (908) — $ 8,708 3.5
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Amortization expense of developed technology and customer relationships is recorded primarily within cost of revenues,
sales and marketing expenses and research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Future amortization expense of acquired intangible assets consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Amortization
Expense
(in thousands)
Year ending July 31,
2020 $ 2,602
2021 2,601
2022 1,994
2023 1,490
2024 21
Total $ 8,708

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

We lease our office space under various operating lease agreements expiring at various dates through September 2026.
Certain of these lease agreements have escalating rent payments. We recognize rent expense under such agreements on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the rent paid and the straight-line rent expense is recorded as
deferred rent, which current portion is included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities and noncurrent portion is
included within other noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Effective April 2019, we entered into a sublease agreement, or lease agreement, for approximately 172,000 square feet of
corporate office space in San Jose, California (the "leased premises"), which will serve as our new corporate headquarters.
The lease agreement has a commencement date of October 1, 2019, and its initial lease term expires in September 2026. We
will initially occupy approximately 69,000 square feet with the remainder of the leased premises to be occupied in phases
over the initial term of the lease, with full occupancy occurring by October 2025. The total rent through the end of the initial
lease term is approximately $37.3 million, net of free rental periods. In addition to the base rent, we will also be responsible
for our pro rata portion of operating and other related expenses. The lease contains escalating rent payments and lease
incentives. In connection with this lease agreement, we were required to issue an unsecured letter of credit for $2.8 million to
the sublessor to secure our payment obligations. Future non-cancelable minimum lease payments under this lease agreement
are reflected in the below table. As of July 31, 2019, we had not taken possession of the initial phase and accordingly, we
have not recognized any rent expense associated with this lease agreement in fiscal 2019.
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Future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Operating
Leases

(in thousands)

Year ending July 31,
2020 $ 4,624
2021 5,836
2022 4,871
2023 6,143
2024 6,509
Thereafter 15,977
Total $ 43,960

Rent expense was $3.0 million, $2.5 million and $1.7 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Data Center Contract Commitments

We enter into long-term non-cancelable agreements with providers in various countries to purchase data center capacity,
such as bandwidth and colocation space, for our cloud platform.

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable data center contracts consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Data Center
Contracts

(in thousands)

Year ending July 31,

2020 $ 11,766

2021 9,890

2022 5,533

2023 106
Total $ 27,295

Bandwidth and colocation costs are recognized as cost of revenue and were $13.8 million, $9.4 million and $6.9 million
for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

Non-cancelable Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of business, we enter into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various parties to purchase
products and services such as technology equipment, subscription-based cloud service arrangements, corporate events and
consulting services. As of July 31, 2019 and 2018, we had outstanding non-cancelable purchase obligations with a term of 12
months or longer of $2.5 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Legal Matters
Symantec Litigation

We are currently involved in legal proceedings with Symantec Corporation ("Symantec"). On December 12, 2016,
Symantec filed a complaint, which we refer to as "Symantec Case 1," in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware
alleging that "Zscaler’s cloud security platform" infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 6,279,113, 7,203,959 ("°959 patent"), 7,246,227
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(""227 patent"), 7,392,543, 7,735,116, 8,181,036 and 8,661,498. The complaint seeks compensatory damages, an injunction,
enhanced damages and attorney fees. On August 2, 2017, the court granted our motion to transfer Symantec Case 1 from the
District of Delaware to the Northern District of California. On March 23, 2018, the Northern District of California court
granted our motion to dismiss the asserted claims of the 959 and 227 patents as invalid based on unpatentable subject

matter.

On April 18, 2017, Symantec filed a second complaint, which we refer to as "Symantec Case 2," in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware alleging that "Zscaler’s cloud security platform" infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 6,285,658
(" 658 patent"), 7,360,249 (249 patent"), 7,587,488 ("’488 patent"), 8,316,429 ("°429 patent"), 8,316,446 ("’446 patent"),
8,402,540 and 9,525,696 ("’696 patent"). The complaint seeks compensatory damages, an injunction, enhanced damages and
attorney fees.

On June 22, 2017, Symantec filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of its complaint in Symantec Case 2 along with a new
complaint alleging infringement of the same patents and adding Symantec Limited as a plaintiff and alleging willful
infringement of the *429 and ’446 patents. On July 31, 2017, the court granted our motion to transfer Symantec Case 2 from
the District of Delaware to the Northern District of California. On May 21, 2018, Symantec filed an amended complaint
adding allegations of willful infringement of all of the asserted patents in Symantec Case 2. On December 12, 2018,
Symantec filed a notice of voluntary dismissal with prejudice of the *658, *249, and *696 Patents asserted in Symantec Case
2. On March 4, 2019, the court granted our motion to dismiss the asserted claims of the *488 patent as invalid based on
unpatentable subject matter.

We have also received letters from Symantec alleging that our "cloud security platform" infringes U.S. Patent Nos.
7,031,327, 7,496,661, 7,543,036 and 7,624,110.

We believe that our technology does not infringe Symantec’s asserted patents and that these patents are invalid.

Should Symantec prevail with its infringement allegations, we could be (i) required to pay substantial damages for past
and future sales and/or licensing of our services, (ii) enjoined from making, using, selling or otherwise disposing of our
services if a license or other right to continue selling our services is not made available to us, and (iii) required to pay
substantial ongoing royalties and comply with unfavorable terms if such a license is made available to us. Any of these
outcomes could result in a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we were to prevail, this litigation has been and
could continue to be costly and time-consuming, could divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our
business operations, could deter distributors from selling or licensing our services, and could dissuade potential customers
from purchasing our services, which would also materially harm our business. The expense of litigation and the timing of this
expense from period to period are difficult to estimate, subject to change and could adversely affect our results of operations.
In addition, any public announcements of the results of any proceedings in Symantec Case 1 or Symantec Case 2 could be
negatively perceived by industry or financial analysts and investors, and could cause our stock price to experience volatility
or decline.

We have not recorded a liability with respect to Symantec Case 1 or Symantec Case 2 based on our determination that a
loss in either case is not probable under the applicable accounting standards.

We are vigorously defending Symantec Case 1 and Symantec Case 2. We are unable to predict the likelihood of success
of Symantec’s infringement claims.

Finjan Litigation

On December 5, 2017, Finjan, Inc. filed a complaint, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California,
alleging that certain of our products infringed four U.S. patents held by Finjan, Inc. and seeking compensatory damages, an
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injunction, enhanced damages and attorney fees. On April 30, 2019, we entered into patent license and settlement agreements
with Finjan, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively "Finjan"), resolving all claims in the lawsuit, and made a payment of
$7.3 million to Finjan, Inc. Pursuant to the agreements, Finjan provided us with a worldwide fully paid license to the broader
Finjan patent portfolio, releases for past damages, and covenants not to sue. On May 1, 2019, the court dismissed Finjan,
Inc.’s complaint with prejudice. We determined that there is no material future economic benefit from the acquired Finjan
license and accordingly, we recorded an incremental expense of $4.1 million within general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of operations in fiscal 2019. In prior periods, we previously had recorded accruals related to this
litigation for $0.7 million in fiscal 2018 and $2.5 million in fiscal 2017.

Other Litigation and Claims

In addition, from time to time we are a party to various litigation matters and subject to claims that arise in the ordinary
course of business, including patent, commercial, product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower and other
litigation and claims, as well as governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. In addition, third parties
may from time to time assert claims against us in the form of letters and other communications. Except as otherwise
described above, there is no pending or threatened legal proceeding to which we are a party that, in our opinion, is likely to
have a material adverse effect on our future financial results or operations; however, the results of litigation and claims are
inherently unpredictable. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. The expense of litigation and the timing of this
expense from period to period are difficult to estimate, subject to change and could adversely affect our results of operations.

Note 8. Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon completion of our IPO, as further described in Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,
of these consolidated financial statements all shares of convertible preferred stock then outstanding, totaling 72,500,750
shares, were automatically converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis and their
carrying value, totaling $207.3 million, inclusive of accretion of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred stock of
$24.7 million, was reclassified to stockholders' equity.

Prior to the IPO, we recognized accretion to the redemption price of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred
stock. Accretion was recognized as a reduction of additional paid-in capital with a corresponding increase to the carrying
value of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred stock. Upon completion of the IPO, the accretion rights of Series C
and D redeemable convertible preferred stock were terminated. We recognized accretion of Series C and D redeemable
convertible preferred stock of $6.3 million and $9.6 million in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
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Note 9. Common Stock

Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held and are not entitled to

receive dividends unless declared by our board of directors.
Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
The following table summarizes our shares of common stock reserved for future issuance:
July 31, 2019

(in thousands)
Equity awards outstanding:

Stock options 8,861
Unvested restricted stock units 4,152
Unvested performance stock units 764
Share purchase rights committed under the employee stock purchase plan 913
Equity awards available for future grants:

Equity incentive plans 15,708
Employee stock purchase plan 1.353

Total 31,751

Note 10. Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

We adopted the Fiscal Year 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2018 Plan") in fiscal 2018 and the 2007 Stock Plan (the
"2007 Plan") in fiscal 2008, collectively referred to as the "Plans." Equity incentive awards which may be granted to eligible
participants under the Plans include restricted stock units, restricted stock, stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares. In March 2018, in connection with our IPO, the 2007 Plan
was terminated along with its remaining balance of shares of common stock available for grant. With the establishment of the
2018 Plan, we no longer grant stock-based awards under the 2007 Plan and any shares underlying stock options that expire or
terminate or are forfeited or repurchased by us under the 2007 Plan are automatically transferred to the 2018 Plan.

Stock Options

Under the Plans, the exercise price of a stock option grant must be not less than 100% of the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant. Generally, stock options vest over four years with 25% of the option shares vesting one
year from the date of grant and monthly thereafter over the remaining vesting term. Stock options granted under the 2018
Plan and 2007 Plan are exercisable over a maximum term of ten years and seven years, respectively, from the date of grant.
Stock options that are forfeited or canceled shall become available for future grant or sale under the 2018 Plan.

As of July 31, 2019, we have reserved a total of approximately 18,688,000 shares of common stock for the issuance of
equity awards under the 2018 Plan, of which approximately 15,708,000 shares were available for grant. The number of shares
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of common stock available for issuance under the 2018 Plan also includes an annual increase on the first day of each fiscal
year pursuant to its automatic annual increase provision.

The stock option activity consisted of the following:

Weighted-
. Average
Weighted- Remaining
Outstanding Average Contractual Aggregate
Stock Exercise Term Intrinsic
Options Price (in vears) Value

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Balance as of July 31, 2018 16,175 $6.20 5.1 $ 470,860
Stock options exercised (6,277) $4.76 $ 300,859
Stock options canceled, forfeited or expired (1,037) $6.77

Balance as of July 31, 2019 8,861 $7.16 4.6 $ 683,294
Exercisable and expected to vest as of July 31, 2018 5,499 $3.97 4.0 $ 172,317
Exercisable and expected to vest as of July 31, 2019 3311 $5.60 4.0 $ 260479

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised represents the difference between the estimated fair value of our
common stock on the date of exercise and their exercise price. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $300.9
million, $16.7 million and $4.5 million for fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. From the date of our IPO
through July 31, 2019, we did not grant additional stock options. The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of
awards granted was $3.77 and $2.10 for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.

We estimated the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following

assumptions:
Year Ended July 31,
2018 2017
Expected term (in years) 4.6-5.1 4.6
Expected stock price volatility 40.3% -42.3%  41.4% -43.3%
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% - 2.8% 1.1% - 2.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
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Restricted Stock Units

The 2018 Plan allows for the grant of restricted stock units ("RSUs"). Generally, RSUs are subject to a four-year vesting
period, with 25% of the shares vesting approximately one year from the vesting commencing date and quarterly thereafter

over the remaining vesting term. We began granting RSUs in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018.

The RSU activity consisted of the following:

Weighted-
Average Grant
Date Fair
RSUs Value per Aggregate
Outstanding Share Intrinsic Value

(in thousands, except per share data)

Balance as of July 31, 2018 209 $26.26 $ 7,394
Granted 4,176 $49.13
Vested (89) $33.52 6,608
Canceled or forfeited (144) $43.52
Balance as of July 31, 2019 4,152 $48.51 $ 349,872

Performance Stock Units

The 2018 Plan allows for the grant of performance stock units ("PSUs"). In October 2018, the compensation committee
of our board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to certain members of our executive team corresponding to the
performance periods of fiscal 2019, fiscal 2020, fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2022. Additionally, the compensation committee
determined and approved the corporate performance metrics for fiscal 2019. The corporate performance conditions of
performance periods beyond fiscal 2019 will be established and approved at the beginning of each related fiscal year. The
right to receive such awards is subject to achievement of the defined corporate performance metrics for each fiscal year and
continuous service by the employee. Any earned awards are subject to additional time-based vesting in accordance with the
respective award agreement. PSUs related to the fiscal 2019 performance period, totaling approximately 464,000 shares with
a weighted-average grant date fair value per share of $36.90, were forfeited effective at the end of fiscal 2019, resulting in a
reversal of $3.8 million of accrued stock-based compensation expense recognized in the nine months ended April 30, 2019.
Accordingly, no stock-based compensation expense was recognized for these awards for fiscal 2019.

The number of unvested PSUs outstanding consisted of the following as of July 31, 2019:

Underlying
Shares
Performance periods (in thousands)
Fiscal 2020 464
Fiscal 2021 150
Fiscal 2022 150

Total 764

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We adopted the Fiscal Year 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") in the third quarter of fiscal 2018. As of July
31, 2019, a total of approximately 3,398,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The ESPP
provides eligible employees with an opportunity to purchase shares of our common stock through payroll deductions of up to
15% of their eligible compensation. A participant may purchase a maximum of 3,000 shares of common stock during a
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purchase period. Amounts deducted and accumulated by the participant are used to purchase shares of our common stock at
the end of each six-month purchase period. The purchase price of the shares is 85% of the lower of the fair market value of
our common stock on (i) the first trading day of the applicable offering period and (ii) the last trading day of each purchase
period in the related offering period. The ESPP provides for consecutive offering periods that will typically have a duration of
approximately 24 months in length and is comprised of four purchase periods of approximately six months in length. The
offering periods are scheduled to start on the first trading day on or after June 15 and December 15 of each year. Employee
payroll contributions ultimately used to purchase shares will be reclassified to stockholders' equity on the purchase date. The
number of shares of common stock available for issuance under ESPP also includes an annual increase on the first day of

each fiscal year pursuant to its automatic annual increase provision.

Our first ESPP offering period commenced on March 16, 2018 and its first purchase period ended on December 17,
2018. During fiscal 2019, employees purchased approximately 1,131,000 shares of common stock under the ESPP at an
average purchase price of $14.53 per share, resulting in total cash proceeds of $16.4 million. ESPP employee payroll
contributions accrued at July 31, 2019 and 2018, totaled $2.1 million and $4.6 million, respectively, and are included within
accrued compensation in the consolidated balance sheets.

The fair value of the purchase rights granted under the ESPP was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018
Expected term (in years) 0.5-2.0 05-23
Expected stock price volatility 44.0% -61.9%  30.7% - 53.2%
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% - 2.7% 2.0% - 2.6%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Early Exercised Stock Options

The 2007 Plan allowed for the early exercise of stock options for certain individuals as determined by our board of
directors. The consideration received for an early exercised stock option is considered to be a deposit of the exercise price
and the related proceed is initially recorded as a liability in the consolidated balance and reclassified to additional paid-in
capital as the awards vest. Upon an employee’s termination, we have the option to repurchase unvested shares at a price per
share equal to the lesser of the fair market value of the shares at the time of the repurchase or the original purchase price. We
reclassified to additional paid-in capital $1.0 million, $3.2 million and $3.7 million related to awards vested during fiscal
2019, fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. As of July 31, 2019 and 2018, the number of shares of common stock subject
to repurchase was approximately 122,000 shares and 423,000 shares with an aggregate exercise price of $0.6 million and $1.6
million, respectively. The liability for early exercised stock options is included within accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Notes Receivable from Stockholders

Prior to fiscal 2017, we entered into notes receivable agreements with certain of our current and former executives and
employees in connection with the exercise of their stock options. The outstanding principal amount and related accrued
interest on the notes are presented as contra-equity in the consolidated balance sheets until the notes are fully settled. As of
July 31, 2018, the carrying amount of the outstanding notes receivable was $2.1 million, inclusive of accrued interest of $0.1
million. During fiscal 2019, the principal amount and accrued interest of the outstanding notes were fully repaid, resulting in
cash proceeds of $2.1 million.
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Stock-based Compensation Expense

The components of stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations consisted
of the following:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 2,926 $ 757 $ 348
Sales and marketing 23,118 5,044 2,794
Research and development 15,090 3,045 5,574
General and administrative 5,289 2,378 1,203
Total $ 46,423 $ 11224 § 9,919

As of July 31, 2019, the unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding equity-based awards was
$194.6 million, which we expect to be amortized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.

In fiscal 2019, we capitalized stock-based compensation associated with the development of software for internal-use of
$0.5 million. Stock-based compensation related to projects capitalized in prior periods was immaterial.
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Note 11. Income Taxes

The following table sets forth the geographical breakdown of the income (loss) before the provision for income taxes:

Domestic
International
Loss before income taxes

The following table sets forth the components of the provision for income taxes:

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total current tax expense

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total deferred tax expense

Total provision for income taxes

The following table presents the reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to our effective tax rate:

Tax at federal statutory rate
State taxes
Impact of foreign rate differential
Meals and entertainment
Stock-based compensation
Impact of U.S. tax reform
Provision to return adjustments
U.S. tax credits
Change in valuation allowance
Withholding Tax
Other

Effective tax rate

Year ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
$ (34,145) $ (36,455) $ (36,874)
6.233 4.146 2.291
$ (27,912) $ (32,309) $ (34,583)
Year ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
$ — 3 — 3 —
64 2) 31
2,325 1,480 874
2,389 1,478 905
(1,431) —
(107) — —
(108) (141) (28)
(1,646) (141) (28)
$ 743 $ 1,337 § 877

Year ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
21.0 % 21.0 % 34.0 %
0.1 — 1.5
(0.9) 0.3 (1.7)
(1.9) (1.3) 0.5)
147.2 (3.8) (2.8)
— (58.6) —
1.2 2.8 0.3)
10.0 3.7 —
(176.9) 33.5 (32.4)
2.4) (1.1) —
(0.1) (0.6) (0.3)
2.71Y% (4.1)% (2.5)%
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Our estimated effective tax rate for the periods presented differs from the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to the benefit
of a portion of our earnings being taxed at rates lower than the U.S. statutory rate and the benefit of stock compensation
deductions, offset by the impact of the valuation allowance we maintain against our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets.
The impact of the Tax Act includes the effect of remeasuring our deferred tax assets and liabilities at 21% plus the effects of
the one-time mandatory transition tax. During the current fiscal year, we recognized an income tax benefit of $1.4 million as
a result of a release in our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as a result of deferred taxes recorded in purchase
accounting as part of the Appsulate, Inc. acquisition.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 or the Tax Act was enacted. The Tax Act contains several
key tax provisions that affect us, including, but not limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 34% to 21%
imposing a one-time mandatory transition tax on previously untaxed foreign earnings, and changing rules related to the use of
net operating loss carryforwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. In December 2017, the SEC staff
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“SAB 118”),
which allows us to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year past the
enactment date.

We currently maintain a full valuation allowance recorded against our U.S. federal deferred tax assets. As such, the
provisional estimate associated with the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and the one-time mandatory transition tax
was offset by a change in our valuation allowance which resulted in no income tax expense or benefit. During fiscal 2019, we
completed our accounting for the Tax Act in accordance with SAB 118. Because of the full valuation allowance recorded
against our U.S. federal deferred tax assets, there was no incremental tax expense (or benefit) recognized related to finalizing
the accounting for the Tax Act. We have elected to account for the tax effects of Global Intangible Low Taxed Income
("GILTI") as a period cost.

119



The following table presents the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of our deferred
tax assets and liabilities:

July 31,
2019 2018

(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating losses carryovers $ 87,413 § 41,794
Accruals and reserves 1,763 2,863
Deferred revenue 14,752 6,071
Tax credits carryovers 10,330 6,118
Stock-based compensation 6,112 784
Property and equipment 560 303
Other 232 347
Gross deferred tax assets 121,162 58,280
Less: Valuation allowance (103,732) (45,578)
Total deferred tax assets 17,430 12,702

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible Assets (1,178) —

Deferred contract acquisition costs (15,906) (12,561)

Other (89) .
Total deferred tax liabilities (17,173) (12,561)
Net deferred tax assets $ 257 $ 141

A deferred tax liability has not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of
investments in foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. Income taxes are generally incurred upon
a repatriation of assets, a sale, or a liquidation of the subsidiary. The excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax
basis in the investments in foreign subsidiaries, as well as the unrecognized deferred tax liability, are not material for the

periods presented.

The following table presents the change in the valuation allowance:

Year ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017

(in thousands)

Balance as of the beginning of the period $ 45,578 $ 51,493 $ 40,299
Change during the period 58,154 (5,915) 11,194
Balance as of the end of the period $ 103,732 $ 45578 $ 51,493

The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of sufficient taxable income of the appropriate
character in future periods. We regularly assess the ability to realize our deferred tax assets and establish a valuation
allowance if it is more-likely-than-not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We weigh all available
positive and negative evidence, including our earnings history and results of recent operations, scheduled reversals of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. Due to the weight of objectively
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verifiable negative evidence, including our history of losses, we believe that it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal
and, state deferred tax assets will not be realized as of July 31, 2019 and 2018, and as such, we have maintained a full
valuation allowance against such deferred tax assets. During fiscal 2019, we determined that due to the weight of objectively
verifiable negative evidence, our U.K. deferred tax assets are no longer more likely than not to be realized in the future and a
full valuation allowance was recorded.

The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable
income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative
losses is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth. In
the event we determine that we will be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, the valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets will be reversed in the period in which we make such determination. The release of a
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets may cause greater volatility in the effective tax rate in the periods in which the
valuation allowance is released. The valuation allowance against our U.S. federal, state and U.K. deferred tax assets increased
by $58.2 million, decreased by $5.9 million and increased by $11.2 million in fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018, and fiscal 2017,
respectively. The decrease in the valuation allowance in fiscal 2018 was primarily related to the change in the federal
statutory rate, while the increase in the valuation allowance in fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2017 was related to tax losses for which
insufficient positive evidence exists to support their realizability.

As of July 31, 2019 and 2018, we have net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of $360.0
million and $173.6 million, respectively, which are available to offset future federal taxable income. Beginning in 2027,
$144.4 million of the federal net operating losses will begin to expire. The remaining $215.6 million of the federal net
operating losses will carry forward indefinitely. As of July 31, 2019 and 2018, we have net operating loss carryforwards for
state income tax purposes of $109.5 million and $62.4 million, respectively. Beginning in 2024, $102.6 million of state net
operating losses will begin to expire at different periods. The remaining $6.9 million of state net operating losses will carry
forward indefinitely. As of July 31, 2019, we had foreign net operating loss carryforward of $17.7 million. As of July 31,
2018, we did not have foreign net operating loss carry forward. All of the foreign net operating losses is from U.K. and it will
carry forward indefinitely.

As of July 31, 2019, we had federal and California research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$8.4 million and $6.3 million, respectively. If not utilized, the federal credit carryforwards will begin expiring at different
periods beginning in 2033. The California credit will carryforward indefinitely.

Federal and state tax laws impose restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards in the event of a change in ownership of the Company as defined by the Internal Revenue Code, Sections 382
and 383. Under Section 382 and 383 of the Code, substantial changes in our ownership and the ownership of acquired
companies may limit the amount of net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards that are available to
offset taxable income. The annual limitation would not automatically result in the loss of net operating loss or research and
development credit carryforwards but may limit the amount available in any given future period.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. As of July 31, 2019, all years are open for
examination and may become subject to examination in the future. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax
positions and determining our for income tax expense for the fiscal year. During the ordinary course of business, there are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our estimate of the potential outcome of
any tax position is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumstances existing at that time. These
unrecognized tax benefits are established when we believe that certain positions might be challenged despite of belief that our
tax return positions are fully supportable. We recognize interest and penalties associated with our unrecognized tax benefits
as a component of our income tax expense. For the periods presented, we did not have material interest or penalties
associated with the unrecognized tax benefits in the consolidated financial statements.
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We had $4.4 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of July 31, 2019, none of which would affect our effective tax
rate if recognized due to our U.S. valuation allowance. The gross unrecognized tax benefits relate to income tax positions
which, if recognized, would be in the form of carryforward deferred tax asset that would be offset by a valuation allowance.
As of July 31, 2019, we do not believe that our estimates, as otherwise provided for, on such tax positions will significantly
increase or decrease within the next twelve months.

The changes in our gross unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal 2019 consisted of the following:

Amount

(in thousands)

Balance as of July 31, 2017 $ —
Gross increase for tax positions of prior fiscal years 1,746
Gross increase for tax positions in fiscal 2018 876
Balance as of July 31, 2018 2,622
Gross decrease for tax positions of prior years (288)
Gross increase for tax positions of current year 2,093
Balance as of July 31, 2019 $ 4,427

Note 12. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with the two-class
method required for participating securities. We consider all series of our convertible preferred stock to be participating
securities. Under the two-class method, the net loss attributable to common stockholders is not allocated to the convertible
preferred stock as the holders of our convertible preferred stock do not have a contractual obligation to share in our losses. In
March 2018, upon completion of our IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock then outstanding, were automatically
converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis. As of July 31, 2019, we did not have
shares of convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. The diluted net
loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period. For purposes of this calculation, our convertible preferred stock, stock options, early
exercised stock options, RSUs and purchase rights granted under the ESPP are considered to be potential common stock
equivalents.

Since we have reported net losses for all periods presented, we have excluded all potentially dilutive securities from the
calculation of the diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders as their effect is antidilutive and accordingly,
basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same for all periods presented.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:

Year Ended July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net loss $ (28,655) $ (33,646) $ (35,460)
Accretion of Series C and D redeemable convertible preferred stock — (6,332) (9,570)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (28,655) $ (39,978) $ (45,030)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share

attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 123,566 63,881 29,221
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.23) $ (0.63) $ (1.54)

The following table summarizes the outstanding potentially dilutive securities that were excluded from the computation
of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because the impact of including them would have been
antidilutive:

July 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)
Convertible preferred stock — — 72,501
Outstanding stock options 8,861 16,175 15,058
Shares subject to repurchase from early exercised stock options 122 423 1,888
Share purchase rights under the ESPP 913 2,044 —
Unvested RSUs 4,152 209 —
Total 14,048 18,851 89,447

Note 13. Segment and Geographic Information

Our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") is our chief executive officer. We derive our revenue primarily from sales
of subscription services to our cloud platform and related support services. Our CODM reviews financial information

presented on a consolidated basis for the purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. Accordingly,
we determined that we operate as one operating segment.

Our long-lived assets consist of property and equipment, which are summarized by geographic area as follows:

July 31,
2019 2018
(in thousands)
United States $ 28,847 $ 14,742
Rest of the world 12,199 5,023
Total $ 41,046 $ 19,765

Refer to Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of these consolidated financial statements
for information on revenue by geography.
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Note 14. 401(k) Plan

We have a defined-contribution plan intended to qualify under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "401(k)
Plan"). We contracted with a third-party provider to act as a custodian and trustee, and to process and maintain the records of
participant data. Substantially all the expenses incurred for administrating the 401(k) Plan are paid by us, which have not
been material to the periods presented. We have not made any matching contributions during the periods presented.

Note 15. Related Party Transactions

In November 2016, we recorded $4.4 million of stock-based compensation expense within research and development
expense in the consolidated statements of operations associated with a one-time secondary stock purchase transaction which
was executed among certain of our employees and certain of our affiliated stockholders, including entities controlled by Jay
Chaudhry, our president, chief executive officer and chairman of our board of directors, and Lane Bess, a former member of
our board of directors. We assessed the impact of this transaction as holders of economic interest in our Company acquired
shares from our employees at a price in excess of fair value of such shares. Accordingly, we recognized such excess value as
stock-based compensation expense.

We previously entered into notes receivable agreements with certain of our current and former executives and employees
in connection with the exercise of their stock options. Outstanding notes receivable were fully repaid during fiscal 2019.
Refer to Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, of these consolidated financial statements for further information.

124



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a—15(¢e) and Rule 15d—15(e) under the Exchange
Act that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of July 31, 2019. Based on such evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate “internal control over financial reporting,” as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2019 based on the criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on the results of its evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of July 31, 2019. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2019 has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report which is
included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required
by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2019 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that
our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud,
if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design
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of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures
may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost—effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud

may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item (other than the information set forth in the next paragraph) will be included in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2019 annual meeting of stockholders (the "2019 Proxy Statement"), which will be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended July 31, 2019, and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics (the "Code of Conduct") that applies to all of our employees,
executive officers and directors. The full text of the Code of Conduct is available on our website at ir.zscaler.com. The
nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Code of Conduct
and must approve any waivers of the Code of Conduct for employees, executive officers and directors. We expect that any
amendments to the Code of Conduct, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on our website, as required by
applicable law or the listing standards of The Nasdaq Global Market.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2019 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2019 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2019 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2019 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a)(1) Financial Statements

See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omitted as the information is not required under the related instructions or is
not applicable or because the information required is already included in the financial statements or the notes to those

financial statements.

(2)(3) Exhibits

We have filed the exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Zscaler, Inc.

September 18, 2019 /s/  Remo Canessa
Remo Canessa
Chief Financial Officer
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Number

3.1
32
4.1

4.2
43
10.1

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+
10.5+

10.6+
10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10+

10.11+

10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16

10.17

10.18
21.1
23.1

24.1

31.1

31.2

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement among the
Registrant and certain holders of its capital stock, dated as of July

24,2015.

Form of common stock certificate of the Registrant.

Description of Capital Stock

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and

each of its directors and executive officers.

Fiscal Year 2018 Equity Incentive Plan and related form

agreements.

10-Q
10-Q
S-1

S-1

S-1

Fiscal Year 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related form  S-1/A

agreements.

2007 Stock Plan and related form agreements.

Employee Incentive Compensation Plan.

Change of Control and Severance Policy.

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Jagtar S.
Chaudhry, dated as of August 23, 2017.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Manoj Apte, dated as of

June 19, 2008.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Remo Canessa, dated as

of January 8, 2017.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Robert Schlossman, dated

as of December 22, 2015.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Amit Sinha, dated as of

October 18, 2010.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Karen Blasing, dated as of

December 23, 2016.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Andrew Brown, dated as

of October 14, 2015.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Scott Darling, dated as of

November 16, 2016.

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Charles Giancarlo, dated

as of November 22, 2016.

Office Lease Agreement, by and between the Registrant and SRI
Eleven Row LLC, dated as of June 30, 2015.

First Amendment to Office Lease Agreement, by and between the
Registrant and SRI Eleven Row LLC, dated as of October 30,

2015.

Sublease, by and between Registrant and Micron Technology, Inc.

Significant subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page

to this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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32.1% Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF ~ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

* The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the
extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes
and appoints Jagtar S. Chaudhry and Remo Canessa, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent
with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact, proxy, and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact, proxy and agent, or his substitute,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Jagtar S. Chaudhry President, Chief Executive Officer and September 18, 2019
Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal
Jagtar S. Chaudhry Executive Officer)
/s/ Remo Canessa Chief Financial Officer September 18, 2019

Remo Canessa (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

/s/ Karen Blasing Director September 18, 2019
Karen Blasing

/s/ Andrew Brown Director September 18, 2019
Andrew Brown

/s/ Scott Darling Director September 18, 2019
Scott Darling
/s/ Charles Giancarlo Director September 18, 2019

Charles Giancarlo

/s/ Nehal Raj Director September 18, 2019
Nehal Raj

/s/ Amit Sinha Director September 18, 2019
Amit Sinha
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Jay Chaudhry
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Remo Canessa
Chief Financial Officer

Amit Sinha

President of Research and
Development, Operations and
Customer Service, Chief Technology
Officer

Dali Rajic
President Go-To-Market and Chief

Revenue Officer

Manoj Apte
Chief Strategy Officer

Robert Schlossman
Chief Legal Officer

Jay Chaudhry
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Karen Blasing
Former Chief Financial Officer,
Guidewire Software

Andrew Brown
Chief Executive Officer and
Co-Founder, Sand Hill East

Scott Darling
President, Dell Technologies Capital

Charles Giancarlo
Chief Executive Officer, Pure Storage

Nehal Raj
Partner, TPG

Amit Sinha

President of Research and
Development, Operations and
Customer Service, Chief Technology
Officer

Corporate Address

Zscaler Inc

110 Rose Orchard Way

San Jose, California 95134, USA
T: +1.408.533.0288

F: +1 408.868.4089
www.zscaler.com

Common Stock Listing
Nasdaqg
Ticker Symbol: ZS

Annual Meeting
Friday, January 10, 2020, at 2 p.m. PST
Virtual Meeting

Registrar and Transfer Agent

For questions regarding your account,
changes of address or consolidation of
accounts, please contact the Company’s
transfer agent:

America Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, LLC

6201 15™ Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219
T: (800) 937.5449 or +1 708.921.8124

Legal Counsel

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Professional Corporation

Palo Alto, California

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
San Jose, California

Investor Relations
Zscaler, Inc.

Investor Relations

110 Rose Orchard Way
San Jose, California 95134
ir@zscaler.com
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